
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

February 3, 2021 
2:00 p.m. 

Dial:  301-715-8592 
Meeting ID: 883 9287 4123 

Password: 867837 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

I. Call to Order Taylor Jones 

A. Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Our Mission and Vision Marty Kelsey 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Action)  Taylor Jones 

III. Minutes (For Action) Taylor Jones 

IV. Community Communication  Taylor Jones 

V. Old Business Taylor Jones 

A. COVID-19 Preparation and Recovery 

1. Incident Command Team Update Kim White, Director of Emergency Services 

B. Employee Policy (from the Human Resources Committee)  Ed Tardoni 

1. Termination and Appeals 

2. Introductory Period 

C. Rules of Practice Governing Hearings Richard Mathey 

D. Medical Staff Rules and Regulations          Dr. Jacques Denker, Medical Staff President 

E. Medical Staff Bylaws 

VII. New Business (Review and Questions/Comments) Taylor Jones  

A. Proposed Changes to Existing Bylaws               Dr. Jacques Denker  
Kerry Downs, Director of Medical Staff Services 

B. Proposed Changes to New Bylaws 

C. Employee Policies (from the Human Resources Committee)  Ed Tardoni 

1. Political Activity 

2. Communication Systems 

3. Equal Employment Opportunity 

VIII. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

IX.    Committee Reports 

A. Quality Committee Marty Kelsey 

B. Human Resources Committee  Ed Tardoni 

C. Finance & Audit Committee Richard Mathey  

1. Bad Debt (For Action) 

January Committee Meeting Information 

1/196



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

February 3, 2021 
2:00 p.m. 

Dial:  301-715-8592 
Meeting ID: 883 9287 4123 

Password: 867837 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

D. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey 

E. Foundation Board Taylor Jones 

F. Compliance Committee Ed Tardoni 

G. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

H. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Taylor Jones 

I. Joint Conference Committee Richard Mathey 

X. Contract Review Suzan Campbell, In-House Counsel 

A. Contracts Approved by CEO since Last Board Meeting (For Your Information) 

1. iProtean 

XI. Medical Staff Report Dr. Jacques Denker  

XII. Good of the Order Taylor Jones 

XIII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix)) Taylor Jones 

XIV. Action Following Executive Session Taylor Jones  

A. Notice of Claim 

XV. Adjourn Taylor Jones 

2/196



OUR MISSIONOUR MISSION  

Compassionate care for 

every life we touch. 

OUR VISIONOUR VISION  

To be our community’s trusted 

healthcare leader. 

OUR VALUESOUR VALUES  

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 

 

OUR STRATEGIESOUR STRATEGIES  

Patient Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Workplace Experience 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

3/196



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

January 6, 2021 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met via Zoom in regular 

session on January 6, 2021, at 2:00 PM with Mr. Taylor Jones, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Mr. Jones called the meeting to order and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees 

were present online: Mr. Taylor Jones, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Mr. Richard Mathey, Dr. Barbara 

Sowada, and Mr. Ed Tardoni. 

 

Officially present: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Dr. Jacques Denker, Medical 

Staff President; Mr. Geoff Phillips, Legal Counsel; and Mr. Jeff Smith, Sweetwater County Board 

of County Commissioners Liaison. 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Mr. Jones led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Mr. Mathey recited the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson reported “Fight Song” is now played overhead in the Hospital when a patient 

diagnosed with Covid-19 is discharged from the Hospital. The Incident Command Team sent out 

this note: The ICU nurses have asked that when a patient with Covid-19 is discharged home, that 

this song be played as they are leaving. So when staff hear this song, we have helped someone 

overcome this terrible virus. To all of the staff directly taking care of these patients, when this song 

plays, please know that you are appreciated for all of the work that you have done to help these 

patients “fight” their illness. We are thankful and proud of you! 

 

Ms. Ann Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer, said Ms. Patty O’Lexey, Care Transition 

Nurse/Education, shared a sweet story with her about staff leading a game of Bingo on the 

Med/Surg floor for patients who could not have visitors.  

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 

Mr. Jones asked if there were any changes to the agenda. Following discussion, the motion to leave 

the agenda as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried.   

 

  

4/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 6, 2021 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the December 2, 2020, regular meeting as presented was 

made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Tardoni. Mr. Mathey abstained, and the motion carried.   

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

There were no comments. 

 

LEGAL 

 

Ms. Richardson reported she received Mr. Jim Phillips, Legal Counsel’s, resignation. She 

recommends moving forward with Mr. Geoff Phillips from Evanston, Wyoming, and requested 

the Board take action to approve the recommendation. Mr. Phillips said his role is to provide advice 

to the Board on any legal matters. If there is conflict on any issue, his role is to hopefully resolve 

the conflict. In the end of the day, the Board will make all decisions. The Board discussed the 

process. Mr. Mathey said his preference would be for an RPF to go out and the Board to have more 

input. He thinks it should be established how this will be handled in the future. He said these are 

trying and unusual times. Keeping continuity in the Board attorney is desirable but we should not 

defer to the CEO to determine the Board attorney. Mr. Jones said Mr. Phillips has been so involved 

that this will help provide a smooth transition. The motion to approve appointment of Mr. Geoff 

Phillips as Legal Counsel was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

COVID-19 Preparation and Recovery - Incident Command Team Update 

 

Ms. Kim White, Incident Commander, reported we continue to be busy with testing and patients. 

We had 10 patients with Covid-19 on Christmas Eve. We have followed our plans and it is going 

well. 18,002 tests have been completed as of January 5. We are administering vaccines to our staff 

and healthcare workers in the community. The next level will be Tier 1b for over age 70, 

ambulatory, and at higher risk. Public Health determined each provider would select 20 patients at 

higher risk. The vaccine is up to 94% effective after the second dose. Mr. Jones thanked Ms. White 

and asked her to please thank the staff. 

 

Termination and Appeals Policy 

 

A motion to approve the policy for purpose of discussion was made by Mr. Tardoni. The motion 

died due to a lack of a second.  

 

Rules of Practice Governing Hearings 

 

Mr. Mathey said these are procedural rules. He does not have any strong feelings about them 

separate of the termination and appeals policy. He said this could be viewed as part of or not. He 

said these are procedures related to Wyoming Statutes to be followed when there is a contested 

case.  

 

5/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 6, 2021 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

Guidelines for Negotiating Non-Physician Provider Agreements 

 

Dr. Sowada said both of the policies give the CEO the opportunity to negotiate agreements and 

contracts. She said this meets the CEO needs and physician recruitment needs. The motion to 

approve the non-physician provider agreement negotiating guidelines with the change in section 2 

Benefits “F” to read “up to the max limit” was made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Mathey. 

Motion carried. 

 

Guidelines for Negotiating Physician Contracts 

 

The motion to approve the physician contracts negotiating guidelines with the change in section 2 

Benefits “F” to read “up to the max limit” was made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Mathey. 

Motion carried.  

 

Patient Safety Plan 

 

The motion to approve the plan presented by Ms. Kara Jackson, Director of Quality, Accreditation, 

and Patient Safety, was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Dr. Sowada. Mr. Tardoni abstained, and 

the motion carried.  

 

NEW BUSINESS 

Mr. Jones said at any time anyone can bring up anything at any time so the agenda language is a 

reminder anyone can always speak up.  

 

Joint Meeting with the Foundation Board 

 

Mr. Jones said it has been a long time since the two Boards have met and suggested Thursday, 

February 25. We will proceed with plans to conduct a joint meeting on that date. 

 

Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, Bylaws 

 

Dr. Denker reported a lot of hard work was done over the past few years to update and improve 

the documents. They were approved by the General Medical Staff on December 1. Dr. Sowada 

asked if she could ask questions at the February meeting and said she needs more time to review. 

Mr. Kelsey thanked everyone for their efforts. He asked for more information on corrective action 

in article 17 regarding hearings and terminations. Ms. Richardson said we will check and report 

back next month. Mr. Kelsey requested our new Board attorney take a good look at the documents 

and give his opinion before the Board approves them to make sure we are on solid ground. Mr. 

Jones thanked Dr. Denker.  

 

Introductory Period 

 

Mr. Tardoni said the regular process is to review at this time and vote next month. He said there is 

additional information in his HR Committee Chair Report. 

 

 

6/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 6, 2021 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson said new directors Ms. Carrie Canestorp-Health Information Management, Mr. 

Abram Jewell-Information Technology Director, and Mr. Jonathan Beattie-Pharmacy Director are 

doing really great work and we are excited they have joined the team. She thanked Dr. Lawrence 

Lauridsen for his service as President of the Medical Staff and welcomed Dr. Denker. Ms. 

Richardson said we are conducting a search for a new Emergency Department Director. Ms. 

Melissa Anderson is the Director of Med/Surg and ICU. We are excited to work with Public Health 

to administer the vaccines. We are reverting to the June guidance for CARES Act funding. Ms. 

Richardson said this is beneficial to the Hospital to use money in the way it was originally intended. 

We continue to move forward with person-centered care initiatives with workshops and preparing 

for communicating with empathy sessions. We continue to prepare for The Joint Commission to 

visit and strive to always be survey ready. Ms. Richardson thanked the staff, leaders, and 

physicians for their hard work through Covid. She said we work with amazing people and we are 

very grateful. She said she wants to let our community know they are in good hands at MHSC. 

Ms. Richardson commended the staff for the great work they are doing. Mr. Tardoni noted Dr. 

Kristy Nielson retired and stepped up to help. Mr. Mathey congratulated Dr. Denker to his election 

as President of the Medical Staff.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

Quality Committee 
 

Mr. Kelsey referenced his Chair Report and the minutes in the packet. Mr. Mathey said quality 

remains a daunting proposition. He thinks the Committee is working fine and Ms. Jackson is doing 

a good job. He said it just requires a lot of attention.  

 

Human Resources Committee 

 

Mr. Tardoni said the information is in the packet. He reported the Wyoming Hospital Association 

has helped us with finding and funding some pandemic-related positions.  

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Mr. Mathey said the Hospital staff did a great job with submitting invoices for all of the SLIB 

grant money.  

 

Capital Expenditure Requests:  The motion to approve capital expenditure request FY21-45 for 

GE Healthcare as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. 

The motion to approve capital expenditure request FY21-53 for the renovation of office space as 

presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. The motion to 

approve the amendment to the office lease as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. 

Kelsey. Motion carried. Mr. Kelsey asked if the lease had expired and Ms. Richardson said, yes, 

we are on a month-to-month now and will need to bring a new one to the Board. The motion to 

approve capital expenditure request FY21-50 to replace the food service line in the cafeteria as 

presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried.  

7/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 6, 2021 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

 

SLIB Capital Expenditure Requests:  The motion to ratify FY21-32 as presented was made by 

Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. The motion to ratify FY21-36 as presented 

was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. The motion to ratify FY21-37 

as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. The motion to 

ratify FY21-40 as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion carried. 

The motion to ratify FY21-42 as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. 

Motion carried. 

 

Bad Debt:  The motion to approve the net potential bad debt of $1,274,182.74 as presented by Ms. 

Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer, was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Mathey. Motion 

carried. Mr. Mathey said the number is problematic, increasing, and concerning. He said we need 

to continue to keep an eye on it. Over $600,000 is for the Emergency Room.   

 

Building & Grounds Committee 

 

Mr. Kelsey said the Chair Report and minutes are in the packet.  

 

Compliance Committee 

 

Mr. Tardoni reported the Committee did not meet.  

 

Governance Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada reported the Committee did not meet.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 

 

Mr. Jones said the Board would handle in executive session.  

 

Joint Conference Committee 

 

Mr. Mathey said his responsibility with them is up. He said he doesn’t believe they have met.  

 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

 

The motion to authorize the CEO to execute the Vitalant contract as presented was made by Mr. 

Mathey; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried.   

 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Dr. Denker said the General Medical Staff overall morale is very high. He said everybody is still 

focusing on their specialties as well as Covid. The National Guard was here and we really 

appreciated working with them. We have been working on committee assignments and setting up 

some general physician education. Dr. Denker said the vaccine showing up was a big deal for us. 

The next General Medical Staff meeting is January 20. We are working on improving some 

committee balancing. Mr. Jones thanked Dr. Denker.  

8/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 6, 2021 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 
 

Mr. Jones extended a special thanks to everybody at the Hospital for living this life day in and day 

out. He said it is heartfelt by all of the Board.  

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

Mr. Jones said there would be an executive session. He said the Board would take a ten-minute 

break and reconvene in executive session at 3:52 PM. He said the Board would utilize a different 

Zoom link and then return to the original one. He said the executive session would last at least 1.5 

hours. The motion to go into executive session was made by Mr. Kelsey; second by Dr. Sowada. 

Motion carried.   

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

At 6:08 PM, the Board came out of executive session and the motion to go back into regular session 

was made by Dr. Sowada; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Approval of Privileges 

 

The motion to grant hospital privileges to the healthcare professionals discussed in executive 

session was made by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried. 

 

Credentials Committee Recommendations from December 8, 2020  

 

1. Initial Appointment to Active Staff (2 year) 

 Dr. Jonathan Schwartz, Hospitalist 

2. Initial Appointment to Consulting Staff (1 years) 

 Dr. Joanna Grudziak, Tele ICU (U of U) 

3. Initial Appointment to Locum Tenens Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Lars Conway, Pathology 

4. Reappointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Augusto Jamias, General Surgery 

 Dr. Kurt Hunter, Family Medicine 

5. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Lucy Dana DeWitt, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Muhammad Chauhan, Tele Stroke (U of U) 

 Dr. Nathan Blue, Maternal/Fetal Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. John Bodenhamer, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

 Dr. Jonathon Lee, Tele Radiology (VRC) 

6. Reappointment to Locum Tenens Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Wagner Veronese, OB/GYN 

7. Additional Privileges 

 Dr. Mansour Khaddr, Cardiovascular Disease (Casper Cardiology) 

9/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 6, 2021 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 7 

 

The motion to authorize the CEO to sign physician contracts discussed in executive session was 

made by Mr. Mathey; second by Dr. Sowada. Motion carried.  

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Mr. Jones thanked everyone. There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 

6:09 PM.   

 

 

       

 

        ___________________________________ 

        Mr. Taylor Jones, President 
 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Mr. Marty Kelsey, Secretary 

10/196



11/196



12/196



13/196



14/196



15/196



16/196



17/196



 

 

 

 

  

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF 

SWEETWATER COUNTY 

MEDICAL STAFF BYLAWS 
      

Recommended by MEC:  

Approval by Organized Medical Staff:   

Approval by Board of Trustees:  

18/196



1 

 

Contents 

 DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

 PREAMBLE ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

 NAME ............................................................................................................................................... 8 

 PURPOSE AND RESPONSIBILITIES ..................................................................................................... 9 

SECTION 1. PURPOSES. .....................................................................................................................................................9 
SECTION 2. RESPONSIBILITIES. ............................................................................................................................................9 
SECTION 3.  QUALITY IMPROVEMENT AND PEER REVIEW........................................................................................................10 
SECTION 4. STRUCTURE OF THE MEDICAL STAFF. .................................................................................................................11 

 CATEGORIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF ............................................................................................. 11 

SECTION 1. THE ACTIVE PHYSICIAN STAFF. .........................................................................................................................11 
SECTION 2. THE ASSOCIATE PHYSICIAN STAFF. ....................................................................................................................12 
SECTION 3. THE CONSULTING PHYSICIAN STAFF. .................................................................................................................12 
SECTION 4.  COURTESY STAFF. ..........................................................................................................................................13 
SECTION 5.  LOCUM TENENS STAFF. ...................................................................................................................................13 
SECTION 6. THE NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER STAFF. .............................................................................................................13 

 MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP & PRIVILEGES ................................................................................. 17 

SECTION 1. NATURE OF MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP. ........................................................................................................17 
SECTION 2. PHYSICIAN QUALIFICATIONS OF MEMBERSHIP AND CLINICAL PRIVILEGES. .................................................................17 

 NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER QUALIFICATIONS ................................................................................ 19 

SECTION 1. QUALIFICATIONS............................................................................................................................................19 
SECTION 2. NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER RESPONSIBILITIES. ....................................................................................................20 
SECTION 3. ESTABLISHING NEW CATEGORIES OF NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDERS. ...........................................................................21 

 CONDITIONS OF MEMBERSHIP ....................................................................................................... 22 

SECTION 1. PRINCIPLES OF MEDICAL ETHICS. ......................................................................................................................22 
SECTION 2. NONDISCRIMINATION. ....................................................................................................................................22 
SECTION 3. CONDITION AND DURATION OF APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENT. ..........................................................................23 
SECTION 4. MODIFICATION OF MEMBERSHIP STATUS OR PRIVILEGES. ......................................................................................23 
SECTION 5. VOLUNTARY RESIGNATION OR LIMITATION OF MEDICAL STAFF/NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER CLINICAL PRIVILEGES. ...........24 
SECTION 6. LEAVE OF ABSENCE. .......................................................................................................................................24 
SECTION 7. TERMINATION OF LEAVE. ................................................................................................................................24 
SECTION 8. EXCLUSIVE CONTRACTING................................................................................................................................25 
SECTION 9. NO HEARING OR APPEAL. ................................................................................................................................26 

 PRECEPTEES .................................................................................................................................... 26 

SECTION 1. PRECEPTEES. .................................................................................................................................................26 

 RESIDENTS ...................................................................................................................................... 26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19/196



2 

 

 PHYSICIAN APPOINTMENT ............................................................................................................. 27 

SECTION 1.  GENERAL. ....................................................................................................................................................27 
SECTION 2.  APPOINTMENTS. ............................................................................................................................................27 
SECTION 3. APPLICATION FOR APPOINTMENT. .....................................................................................................................27 
SECTION 4. RESPONSIBILITY OF THE APPLICANT. ..................................................................................................................29 
SECTION 5. DISCRIMINATION. ..........................................................................................................................................30 
SECTION 6. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF SERVICES OFFICE. ..................................................................................30 
SECTION 7.  RESPONSIBILITIES OF DEPARTMENT CHAIR. .........................................................................................................31 
SECTION 8.  RESPONSIBILITIES OF CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE. .................................................................................................31 

 PHYSICIAN REAPPOINTMENT ......................................................................................................... 32 

SECTION 1. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE. ...............................................................................................32 
SECTION 2. REAPPOINTMENT PROCESS. .............................................................................................................................33 

 NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER APPOINTMENT ................................................................................... 33 

SECTION 1.  NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER APPOINTMENT. ........................................................................................................33 
SECTION 2. RESPONSIBILITIES OF NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER. ................................................................................................35 
SECTION 3. DISCRIMINATION. ..........................................................................................................................................36 
SECTION 4. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE. ...............................................................................................36 
SECTION 5. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DEPARTMENTAL CHAIR. ......................................................................................................37 
SECTION 6. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE. ............................................................................................37 
SECTION 7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (MEC) ..............................................................................37 
SECTION 8.  NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER ADVERSE PRIVILEGING DECISIONS. ...............................................................................38 
SECTION 9. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE GOVERNING BOARD. ....................................................................................................38 

 NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER REAPPOINTMENT ............................................................................... 38 

SECTION 1. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF OFFICE. ...............................................................................................38 
SECTION 2. REAPPOINTMENT PROCESS. .............................................................................................................................39 

 REQUESTS FOR CLINICAL PRIVILEGES .............................................................................................. 39 

SECTION 1. THRESHOLD CRITERIA. ....................................................................................................................................39 
SECTION 2. REQUESTING CLINICAL PRIVILEGES. ...................................................................................................................40 
SECTION 3. FOCUSED PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE EVALUATION (FPPE). .....................................................................................43 
SECTION 4. ONGOING PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE EVALUATION (OPPE). ...................................................................................43 
SECTION 5. CALL COVERAGE. ...........................................................................................................................................44 
SECTION 6. TEMPORARY PRIVILEGES. ................................................................................................................................44 
SECTION 7. EMERGENCY PRIVILEGES FOR CARE OF A SPECIFIC PATIENT. ...................................................................................45 
SECTION 8. DISASTER PRIVILEGES DURING A DECLARED DISASTER. ..........................................................................................45 
SECTION 9. TELEMEDICINE PRIVILEGES. ..............................................................................................................................46 

 SUSPENSIONS & RESTRICTIONS ...................................................................................................... 48 

SECTION 1. IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION OR RESTRICTION TO PROTECT A PATIENT. .........................................................................48 
SECTION 2. AUTOMATIC SUSPENSION. ...............................................................................................................................49 

 CORRECTIVE ACTION ...................................................................................................................... 51 

SECTION 1. CORRECTIVE ACTION. .....................................................................................................................................51 
SECTION 2. INVESTIGATION. ............................................................................................................................................52 
SECTION 3. MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE ACTION..........................................................................................................52 
SECTION 4. PROCEDURAL RIGHTS. ....................................................................................................................................53 
SECTION 5. BOARD ACTIONS............................................................................................................................................53 

 

 

20/196



3 

 

 FAIR HEARING PROCESS ................................................................................................................. 53 

SECTION 1. INITIATION OF HEARING. .................................................................................................................................53 
SECTION 3. HEARINGS. ...................................................................................................................................................55 
SECTION 4. HEARING AND APPEAL PROCESS. ......................................................................................................................56 
SECTION 5. CONDUCT OF HEARING. ..................................................................................................................................59 
SECTION 6. APPEALS TO THE BOARD..................................................................................................................................60 
SECTION 7. NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER GRIEVANCE PROCESS. ...............................................................................................62 

 OFFICERS ........................................................................................................................................ 62 

SECTION 1. OFFICERS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF. ....................................................................................................................62 
SECTION 2. QUALIFICATIONS OF OFFICERS. .........................................................................................................................62 
SECTION 3. ELECTION OF OFFICERS. ..................................................................................................................................62 
SECTION 4. TERM OF OFFICE. ..........................................................................................................................................63 
SECTION 5. RECALL AND REMOVAL. ..................................................................................................................................63 
SECTION 6. VACANCIES OF OFFICE. ...................................................................................................................................63 
SECTION 7. DUTIES OF OFFICERS. .....................................................................................................................................64 

 CLINICAL DEPARTMENTS ................................................................................................................ 65 

SECTION 1. ORGANIZATION OF CLINICAL DEPARTMENTS. ......................................................................................................65 
SECTION 2. QUALIFICATIONS, SELECTION AND TENURE OF DEPARTMENT CHAIR. .......................................................................65 
SECTION 3. FUNCTIONS. .................................................................................................................................................65 
SECTION 4. RESPONSIBILITIES OF CLINICAL DEPARTMENTS. ....................................................................................................67 
SECTION 5. ASSIGNMENT TO DEPARTMENTS. ......................................................................................................................67 

 COMMITTEES.................................................................................................................................. 67 

SECTION 1. COMPOSITION...............................................................................................................................................67 
SECTION 2. APPOINTMENT AND TERM. ..............................................................................................................................68 
SECTION 3. CHAIRS. .......................................................................................................................................................68 
SECTION 4. REMOVALS AND VACANCIES. ............................................................................................................................68 
SECTION 5. MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE. ....................................................................................................................68 
SECTION 6. CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE ...............................................................................................................................70 
SECTION 7. ETHICS COMMITTEE. ......................................................................................................................................71 
SECTION 8. JOINT CONFERENCE COMMITTEE. .....................................................................................................................72 
SECTION 9. PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE EVALUATION COMMITTEE. ............................................................................................72 
SECTION 10. RADIATION SAFETY COMMITTEE. ......................................................................................................................72 
SECTION 11. UTILIZATION MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE. .........................................................................................................73 
SECTION 12. SPECIAL COMMITTEES. ...................................................................................................................................73 
SECTION 13. REMOVAL. ...................................................................................................................................................73 

 MEDICAL STAFF MEETINGS ............................................................................................................. 74 

SECTION 1. REGULAR MEDICAL STAFF MEETINGS. ...............................................................................................................74 
SECTION 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF. .......................................................................................................74 
SECTION 3. QUORUM. ....................................................................................................................................................74 
SECTION 4. MEANS OF PARTICIPATION. .............................................................................................................................74 
SECTION 5. MINUTES. ....................................................................................................................................................75 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21/196



4 

 

 COMMITTEE AND DEPARTMENT MEETINGS ................................................................................... 75 

SECTION 1. REGULAR MEETING. .......................................................................................................................................75 
SECTION 2. SPECIAL MEETINGS. .......................................................................................................................................75 
SECTION 3. QUORUM. ....................................................................................................................................................75 
SECTION 4. MANNER OF ACTION. .....................................................................................................................................76 
SECTION 5. MINUTES. ....................................................................................................................................................76 
SECTION 6. ATTENDANCE REQUIREMENTS. .........................................................................................................................76 
SECTION 7. PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE. .........................................................................................................................76 

 IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY ............................................................................................................ 77 

SECTION 1. FOR ACTION TAKEN. ......................................................................................................................................77 
SECTION 2. FOR PROVIDING INFORMATION. .......................................................................................................................77 
SECTION 3. WAIVER OF CLAIMS. ......................................................................................................................................77 
SECTION 4. SCOPE OF RELEASE AND WAIVER. .....................................................................................................................77 
SECTION 5. CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION. .................................................................................................................78 

 CONFLICT MANAGEMENT ............................................................................................................... 79 

SECTION 1. MANAGEMENT OF CONFLICT BETWEEN THE MEDICAL STAFF AND THE MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE. ......................79 
SECTION 2. CONFLICT MANAGEMENT PROCESS. ..................................................................................................................79 

 HISTORY AND PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS ....................................................................................... 80 

SECTION 1 GENERAL. ....................................................................................................................................................80 

 BYLAWS .......................................................................................................................................... 80 

SECTION 1. ADOPTION OF BYLAWS. ..................................................................................................................................80 
SECTION 2. AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS. .............................................................................................................................81 
SECTION 3. OVERRIDING RULE OF CONSTRUCTION. ..............................................................................................................81 

 RULES, REGULATIONS, AND POLICIES ............................................................................................. 82 

SECTION 1. ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT TO RULES, REGULATIONS. .......................................................................................82 
SECTION 2. ADOPTION AND AMENDMENT TO POLICIES. ........................................................................................................82 

 AMENDMENTS ............................................................................................................................... 82 

SECTION 1. DIRECT ADOPTION AND/OR AMENDMENTS BY THE MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE. ................................................82 
SECTION 2. URGENT AMENDMENT OF RULES AND REGULATIONS AND POLICIES (EXCLUDES BYLAWS). ...........................................82 
SECTION 3. CONFLICT MANAGEMENT PROCESS INITIATED. ....................................................................................................83 

 APPENDIX - MEDICAL STAFF CODE OF CONDUCT ............................................................................ 83 

SECTION 1.  PURPOSE. ....................................................................................................................................................83 
SECTION 2.  STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND PROFESSIONALISM. ..............................................................................................84 
SECTION 3.  VIOLATIONS OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT. ............................................................................................................86 
SECTION 4.  AGREEMENT. ................................................................................................................................................87 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22/196



5 

 

 DEFINITIONS 

 

 

1. ADVERSE ACTION means any of a number of measures – e.g., reprimands, sanctions, 

censure, or other negative action taken against a doctor or medical professional. 

 

2. APPLICANT means any Practitioner applying for appointment to the Medical Staff or 

requesting any privileges to perform medical services at the Hospital, including, without 

limitation, any existing Appointee to the Medical Staff requesting additional privileges or 

appointment to any department or committee. 

 

3. APPOINTEE means a Practitioner duly appointed to and serving as a member of the Medical 

Staff. 

 

4. BYLAWS mean these Bylaws and each of its exhibits, attachments, or other items 

incorporated herein by reference, as each may be amended, from time to time. 

 

5. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER means the individual appointed by the Governing Board 

to act on its behalf in the overall administrative management of the Hospital.   

 

6. CHIEF OF STAFF means the Chief of the Medical Staff, who shall also serve as the Chair 

of the Medical Executive Committee. 

 

7. CLINICAL PRIVILEGES or PRIVILEGES means the permission granted to Practitioners 

to provide patient care and includes access to those available Hospital resources (including 

equipment, facilities, and Hospital personnel) which are necessary to effectively exercise 

those privileges. 

 

8. EX-OFFICIO means serves as a member of a body by virtue of an office or position held 

and, unless otherwise expressly provided, without voting rights.   

 

9. GOVERNING BODY or GOVERNING BOARD means the Board of Trustees of 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County. 

 

10. HOSPITAL means the Hospital’s main acute care hospital building, and does not include 

stand-alone clinics that are included under the Hospital’s acute-care hospital license but are 

billed (or could be billed as) provider-based outpatient hospital departments. 

 

11. HOSPITAL OWNED CLINIC means a clinic owned by the Hospital and included under 

the Hospital’s acute-care hospital license, and that is or may be billed as a provider-based 

outpatient department, but which is outside the Hospital’s main hospital building.  

 

12. INVESTIGATION COMMITTEE means a committee appointed to investigate a request 

for corrective action regarding a Practitioner pursuant to Article XVII hereunder. 

 

23/196



6 

 

13. MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE or EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE or MEC 

means the Executive Committee of the Medical Staff, as constituted pursuant to these Bylaws. 

 

14. MEDICAL STAFF or STAFF means the formal organization of all Licensed Practitioners 

who attend patients in the Hospital. Members include Physicians and Non-Physician 

Providers.  

 

15. NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER or NPP means a health care professional, other than a 

licensed Physician, who provides a medical level of care and is qualified by education, 

training, licensure, and facility privileging to perform a professional service within his/her 

scope of practice. Such NPP’s may include, Chiropractors, Clinical Psychologists, Dentists, 

Genetic Counselors, Mental Health Professionals, Nurse Practitioners, Certified Nurse-

Midwives, Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists, Optometrists, Physician Assistants, 

Podiatrists, Surgical Assistants, and such other individual practitioners as shall be designated 

by the Medical Executive Committee with approval of the Board of Trustees.  Members of 

this staff category are not eligible participants in the governance of the Medical Staff, and 

are unable to vote. Refer to table on page 16. 

16. PHYSICIAN means an individual with an M.D. or D.O. degree who is fully licensed and 

authorized to practice medicine in the State of Wyoming. 

 

17. POLICIES mean those policies and procedures for the operation and management of the 

Hospital enacted by the Medical Staff, the Medical Executive Committee, or the Governing 

Board pursuant to these Bylaws. 

 

18. PRACTITIONER refers to all categories of the Physician Medical Staff, as well as Non-

Physician Providers. 

19. PRECEPTEES are PA students, APRN students, medical students, and/or interns, training 

in medicine or a health-related field, who are attending clinical rotations at the Hospital.  

Preceptees are not Members of the Medical Staff and are not granted clinical privileges. 

 

20. PROFESSIONAL REVIEW ACTIVITY means any activity of the Hospital with respect to 

a Practitioner (i) to determine whether an Applicant or Appointee may have clinical privileges 

at the Hospital or membership on the Medical Staff; (ii) to determine the scope of conditions 

of such privileges or membership; or (iii) to change or modify such privileges or membership. 

 

21. RULES AND REGULATIONS mean those Rules and Regulations regarding Medical Staff 

Appointees, committees, and other operational matters at the Hospital enacted by the Medical 

Staff, the Medical Executive Committee, or the Governing Board pursuant to these Bylaws. 

 

22. TELEMEDICINE means the provision of clinical services to patients by Practitioners from 

a distance, via electronic communication. 

 

23. VACANCY means that period when an appointed or elected position is unoccupied, the time 

of which is recognized by the Chief of Staff. 

24/196



7 

 

 PREAMBLE 

 

WHEREAS, Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is a county memorial hospital 

organized under the laws of the State of Wyoming; and 

 

WHEREAS, its purpose is to serve as a Wyoming-licensed, acute care hospital, participating 

in Medicare and Medicaid, and to provide high-quality patient care and 

education; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is recognized that one of the goals of the Medical Staff is to achieve high-

quality patient care in the Hospital, that the Medical Staff accepts and 

discharges this responsibility subject to the ultimate authority of the Hospital 

Board of Trustees and that the cooperative efforts of the Medical Staff, the 

Chief Executive Officer, and the Board of Trustees are necessary to fulfill the 

Hospital's obligation to its patients; and 

 

WHEREAS, only the Medical Staff shall amend these Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations through the process outlined in these Medical Staff Bylaws, and 

these Medical Staff Bylaws will only become effective upon the adoption of 

the Board of Trustees.  

 

THEREFORE, the M.D./D.O. Physicians practicing in this Hospital hereby organize 

themselves into a Medical Staff in conformity with these Bylaws. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25/196



8 

 

 NAME 

 

The name of this organization shall be the “Medical Staff of the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 

County,” and it shall be referred to throughout these Medical Staff Bylaws as the “Medical Staff”. 

 

26/196



9 

 

 PURPOSE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

Section 1. Purposes. 

The purpose of the Medical Staff is: 

 

A. To ensure that all patients admitted to or treated in any of the facilities, departments 

or services of this Hospital shall receive the best possible care. 

 

B. To be the formal organizational structure through which:  

1.  The benefits of Medical Staff membership may be obtained by individual 

Practitioners; and  

 2.  The obligations of Medical Staff membership may be fulfilled. 

 

C. To serve as the primary means for communication and recommendations to the Board 

of Trustees for evaluation of the professional performance and ethical conduct of its 

members granted clinical privileges (each a “Practitioner”), and to strive toward the 

continual improvement of the quality and efficiency of patient care delivered in this 

Hospital consistent with the state of the healing arts and resources locally available. 

 

D. To provide a means through which the Medical Staff may participate in the Hospital’s 

policy-making and planning process. 

 

E. To provide a means whereby affiliation with higher educational programs in 

undergraduate and graduate affiliated health and continuing medical education 

programs may be of mutual advantage to the Medical Staff and patient care. 

 

Section 2. Responsibilities.   

The Medical Staff’s responsibilities include: 

 

A. Supervising the quality and efficiency of patient care provided by all individuals 

granted clinical privileges, and others providing patient care, in the Hospital; 

 

B. Reviewing and evaluating the quality of patient care through a valid and reliable audit 

procedure as outlined in Quality and peer review processes. 

 

C. On-going monitoring of patient care practices through defined mechanisms and 

Medical Staff organizational components. 

 

D. Credentials evaluation, including mechanisms for appointment and reappointment and 

the matching of clinical privileges to be exercised or of specific services to be 

performed with the verified credentials and currently demonstrated competence of the 

applicant. 

 

27/196



10 

 

E. Coordination of continuing education programs, fashioned at least in part on the needs 

demonstrated through the quality review, evaluation, and monitoring programs. 

 

F. Utilization review to allocate inpatient medical health services based upon specific 

determinations of individual patient medical needs. 

 

G. Recommending to the Board of Trustees action with respect to appointment, 

reappointments, Medical Staff category, and Department or service assignments, 

clinical privileges and specified services for Medical Staff members, to the extent 

applicable to each. 

 

H. Recommending to the Board of Trustees programs for the establishment, maintenance, 

continuous improvement, and enforcement of professional standards in the delivery of 

health care within the Hospital. 

 

I. Being accountable to the Board of Trustees for the quality and efficiency of patient 

care through regular reports and recommendations concerning the implementation, 

operation, and results of the quality review, evaluation, and monitoring activities. 

 

J. Initiating and pursuing corrective action as outlined in Article XVII, with respect to 

any Medical Staff members when warranted. 

 

K. Developing, administering, and recommending amendments to and seeking 

compliance with these Medical Staff Bylaws (the “Bylaws), Rules and Regulations 

(the “Rules”) and policies. 

 

L. Assisting in identifying community health needs and in setting appropriate 

institutional goals and implementing programs to meet these goals. 

 

M. Exercising the authority granted by these Bylaws as necessary to adequately fulfill the 

foregoing responsibilities. 

 

N. Providing leadership in the Hospital for activities related to patient safety. 

 

O. Providing oversight and assistance to the Hospital’s Board of Trustees in the process 

of analyzing and improving patient satisfaction in the Hospital. 

 

Section 3.  Quality Improvement and Peer Review. 

All members of the Medical Staff will participate in appropriate quality improvement activities, 

including but not limited to the peer review process, as appropriate to the care of patients they are 

attending at the Hospital.  

 

 

 

28/196



11 

 

 

Section 4. Structure of the Medical Staff. 

 

A. The Medical Staff is a self-governing entity accountable to the Governing Body that 

operates under a set of Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and policies developed and 

adopted by the voting members of the organized Medical Staff and approved by the 

Governing Body. The organized medical staff is comprised of doctors of medicine and 

osteopathy, and, in accordance with the Medical Staff Bylaws, may include other 

Practitioners. Members are assigned to Departments depending on each member’s 

medical specialty.  The Medical Staff is led by its officers and its Medical Executive 

Committee. 

 

B. No individual shall be considered a member of the Medical Staff or entitled to exercise 

the duties, privileges, and rights of a Medical Staff member, unless and until such 

individual has been appointed to the Medical Staff by the Hospital’s Board of Trustees, 

pursuant to the process described in these Bylaws.  No individual shall be appointed 

to the Medical Staff unless he or she meets the requirements of a category of the 

Medical Staff described in these Bylaws.  Likewise, no individual shall exercise any 

clinical privileges at the Hospital until he or she has been granted clinical privileges 

by the Hospital’s Board of Trustees, except as may otherwise be described with respect 

to disaster or temporary privileges.   

 

 CATEGORIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF  

 

The Physician Staff shall be divided into Active, Associate, Consulting, Courtesy, and Locum Tenens 

Staff categories, as further defined below and in the Rules, Regulations, and Policies.  

 

Section 1. The Active Physician Staff.  

 
A. The Active Physician Staff shall consist of Physicians who have been granted clinical 

privileges by the Governing Board, and who regularly admit, admit via a hospitalist, or 

care for patients at the Hospital, as defined in the Rules, Regulations and/or the Policies, 

so as to provide continuous care to their patients, and who assume all the functions and 

responsibilities of membership on the Active Physician Staff, including, where 

appropriate, providing emergency service care and consultation assignments.  

 

B. Members of the Active Physician staff shall be appointed to a specific department, shall 

be eligible to vote, to hold office, to serve on Medical Staff committees and it is 

recommended that they attend meetings of the Medical Staff, such as Physician’s 

departmental meeting and any committee meetings on which Physician serves. 

 

 

29/196



12 

 

Section 2. The Associate Physician Staff. 

 
A. The Associate Physician Staff shall consist of Physicians who, following their initial 

appointment, are being considered for advancement to the Active Physician Staff. The 

duration of Associate Medical Staff status shall be for one (1) year from such Applicant’s 

initial appointment to the Medical Staff. During this time, the Associate Medical Staff 

member’s performance will be monitored to determine the eligibility of such Associate 

Medical Staff member for appointment to the Active Physician Staff. Monitoring of the 

Associate Staff member shall be accomplished through Focused Professional Practice 

Evaluation (FPPE), as provided for in these Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, 

and Policies.  

 

B. If the Associate Staff Member does not complete FPPE within the required time period, 

he/she shall not be eligible to apply for renewal of clinical privileges, and his/her grant of 

clinical privileges shall expire at the end of the initial grant period.  This expiration of 

clinical privileges will not entitle the Associate Staff member to a fair hearing, as their 

failure to complete FPPE will be interpreted as not meeting threshold criteria. 

 

C. Appointments to the Associate Medical Staff may not exceed one (1) full year (with an 

additional extension for up to 12 months, for good reason, as recommended by Credentials 

Committee and approved by the Medical Executive Committee, at which time failure to 

remove such provisional status shall be deemed a termination of his/her Medical Staff 

appointment.) An Associate Medical Staff member whose membership is terminated after 

this one (1) year extension shall have all the same rights accorded to an Active Physician 

Staff Member who has failed to be reappointed as outlined in the Bylaws.  

 

D. Members of the Associate Staff shall be appointed to a specific department, shall be 

eligible to vote and serve on all Medical Staff committees, and it is recommended that 

they attend all meetings of the Medical Staff, such Physician’s department meetings, and 

any committee on which such Physician serves. The Associate Staff members shall be 

ineligible to hold office in this Medical Staff organization. They shall assume all other 

duties and responsibilities of a Medical Staff member. 

 

Section 3. The Consulting Physician Staff.  

 
A. The Consulting Physician Staff shall consist of Physicians of recognized professional 

ability, experience, and maturity who occasionally come to the Hospital on a pre-defined 

schedule. These Physicians act as consultants upon request of any credentialed Active or 

Associate Physician member of the Medical Staff.  

 

B. The Consulting Physician Staff must possess expertise or training materially valuable to 

the Hospital, as is determined by the MEC, and approved by the Governing Board, not 

available from Active or Associate Staff members. Consulting Physician staff members 

may admit patients under special circumstances, not to exceed 12 admits per year. Non-

admitting Physicians (radiologists, pathologists, emergency physicians, etc.) working at 

the Hospital as a Consultant, may not engage in more than 50 hours of work, per year.  

 

30/196



13 

 

C. Consulting Physician Staff members shall not be permitted to vote or hold office. 

Consulting Staff members may attend meetings of the Medical Staff and Departments of 

which he/she is a member and any staff or Hospital educational programs.  

 

D. Consultation shall not be limited to members of this Medical Staff category.  

 

E. Each member of the Consulting Physician Staff expressly authorizes the Hospital to 

monitor and evaluate such member’s professional performance in such manners as 

authorized pursuant to the Rules and Regulations and the Policies, regardless of whether 

such member comes to or sees patients at the Hospital’s facilities.  

 

F. Consulting physicians will provide documentation for the hospital’s EMR. This 

documentation will be entered directly, scanned in, or dictated. 

 

Section 4.  Courtesy Staff. 

Members of the courtesy staff do not hold clinical privileges.  However, they may perform 

consultations and provide advice to the member of the attending staff who has responsibility for the 

care of such patients.  Members of the Courtesy staff may not admit patients, perform procedures, or 

write orders on inpatients, but they may document in the medical record.  They shall not be eligible 

to vote or to hold office. They may attend staff and departmental meetings and any staff or Hospital 

education meetings. 

 

Section 5.  Locum Tenens Staff.  

This category is for Physicians who provide temporary service to the Hospital. Locum Tenens Privileges 

may be granted only for a specific period, not to exceed twelve (12) months per appointment, and shall 

automatically expire at the end of the specified period, without recourse by the Practitioner under the 

Medical Staff Bylaws. Locum Tenens Appointees shall not be eligible to vote or to hold office in the 

Medical Staff organization. They may, however, attend staff and departmental meetings and any staff or 

Hospital educational meetings  

 

Section 6. The Non-Physician Provider Staff. 

Non-Physician Providers (NPP’s) are Practitioners, other than Physicians, who desire to provide 

professional services in the Hospital.  NPP’s must be licensed or certified by their respective licensing 

or certifying agencies, in the State of Wyoming, and must be approved by the Governing Board. 

 

Members of the Non-Physician Provider Staff may not vote or hold office but are welcome to attend 

Medical Staff meetings or Hospital education programs.  NPP’s may serve on Medical Staff committees.  

 

A. Dependent Practitioners. Certain Non-Physician Provider Staff members are considered 

dependent upon the supervision or mentorship of an Active Medical Staff Physician.  

These shall include certified registered nurse anesthetists, licensed nurse practitioners, 

certified nurse midwives, registered nurse first assists (RNFA’s), and physician 

assistants.  A dependent practitioner must ensure that he/she has a supervisory 

relationship acceptable to the Medical Executive Committee and the Board in place at all 

times.  If at any time, the Non-Physician Provider no longer has an Active Physician 

31/196



14 

 

Medical Staff member supervisor or mentor, the Dependent NPP’s grant of clinical 

privileges shall automatically terminate.  The NPP may reapply for clinical privileges, if 

otherwise eligible, upon establishing a new supervisor/mentor relationship. 

1. If the Dependent Non-Physician Provider is exercising his/her clinical 

privileges in the Hospital, the supervising Active Physician or the Physician 

covering for the supervising Medical Staff member must: 

a. Be physically present, on Hospital premises or readily physically 

available when the Non-Physician Provider is providing services to his 

or her patient; 

b. With respect to inpatient, observation status patients, or ambulatory 

surgical patients in the Hospital, assess the patient daily and review and 

co-sign all orders entered by the supervised Non-Physician Provider 

within 24 hours; 

c. With respect to inpatient, observation status patients, or ambulatory 

surgical patients in the Hospital, give the order to discharge the patient 

and write or dictate the discharge summary or review and co-sign the 

supervised Non-Physician Provider’s discharge summary; and  

d. Participate in quality assurance responsibilities.  

2. A Nurse Practitioner exercising his/her clinical privileges in a Hospital-owned 

clinic shall do so under the “mentorship” of an Active Physician. “Mentorship” 

shall mean that the Nurse Practitioner exercises his/her clinical privileges in 

close collaboration with the Active Physician Medical Staff member, but the 

Active Physician Medical Staff member need not be on-site while the Nurse 

Practitioner is providing services.  Nurse Practitioners being mentored by 

Active Physician Medical Staff members shall regularly and frequently check 

in with the Active Medical Staff member regarding his/her treatment of 

patients, and outcomes.   

 

B. Independent Practitioners. The Department Chair or his /her designee shall supervise 

non-Physician Providers who are not considered dependent practitioners. Dentists, 

podiatrists, and optometrists may provide care to patients admitted by a Physician 

member of the Active Staff, who shall be responsible for the medical aspects of the 

patient’s care throughout the hospital stay and shall complete the relevant components 

of the History and Physical.  

1. All patients of dentists, optometrists, and podiatrists shall receive the same 

basic medical appraisal as patients admitted for other surgical services.  A 

Physician member of the Active Medical Staff shall be responsible for 

admission, evaluation, history and physical, and for the care of any medical 

problem that may be present at the time of admission or that may be discovered 

during hospitalization, and shall determine the risk and effect of the proposed 

surgical procedure on the total health status of the patient. 

a. Dentists, optometrists, and podiatrists are responsible for that part of 

the patient’s history and physical which relates to their specialty.  They 

may admit patients to outpatient surgery, only. Admission to inpatient 

service or observation must be done in collaboration with a Physician 

member of the Active staff who shall be responsible for the medical 

aspects of the patient’s care throughout the Hospital stay.  

32/196



15 

 

b. Podiatrists will be allowed to perform surgery including, and not to 

extend beyond the midfoot.  

 

C. Courtesy Non-Physician Providers. Courtesy NPP’s shall consist of a special category 

of providers who, because of training and experience, are recognized as authorities 

within their specialties.  These providers may provide an unlimited number of 

consultation reports/recommendations during a calendar year.  These NPP’s shall not 

manage direct patient care, shall not admit patients to the Hospital, and shall not 

transfer patients from the Hospital. This category of NPP Courtesy Staff may include 

but is not limited to Chiropractors, Psychologists, Mental Health Professionals, and 

Genetic Counselors.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33/196



16 

 

Category 

Supervising 
Physician 
Required Admitting Privileges Can Discharge 

Certified Nurse Midwife Yes Can Admit 
No - Supervising Physician 
must sign discharge summary 

Chiropractor No No – Courtesy Staff No 

CRNA Yes No 
No - Supervising Physician 
must sign discharge summary 

Dentist No 

Can admit to Outpatient 
Surgery, only, with H&P 
completed by a Physician 
with Active Staff Privileges 

Yes, may discharge from 
Outpatient Surgery, only 

Genetic Counselor No No – Courtesy Staff  No 

Mental Health Professional No No – Courtesy Staff  No 

Nurse Practitioner Yes Can Admit 
No - Supervising Physician 
must sign discharge summary 

Optometrist No 

Can admit to Outpatient 
Surgery, only, with H&P 
completed by a Physician 
with Active Staff Privileges 

Yes, may discharge from 
Outpatient Surgery, only 

Physician Assistant Yes Can Admit 
No - Supervising Physician 
must sign discharge summary 

Podiatrist No 

Can admit to Outpatient 
Surgery, only, with H&P 
completed by a Physician 
with Active Staff Privileges 

Yes, may discharge from 
Outpatient Surgery, only 

Psychologist No No – Courtesy Staff  No 

RN First Assist Yes No 
No - Supervising Physician 
must sign discharge summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34/196



17 

 

 MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP & PRIVILEGES 

 

Section 1. Nature of Medical Staff Membership. 

Membership on the Medical Staff is a privilege that shall be extended only to professionally 

competent and ethical Practitioners who continuously meet and abide by the qualifications, threshold 

criteria, standards, requirements, and responsibilities set forth in the Bylaws, Rules, and associated 

policies of the Medical Staff and the Hospital.  

 

 

Section 2. Physician Qualifications of Membership and Clinical Privileges.   

 

A. No Practitioner shall be entitled to Medical Staff membership and to the exercise of 

particular clinical privileges in the Hospital merely by virtue of the fact that he or she 

is duly licensed to practice medicine or any other profession in this or in any other 

state, or because he or she is certified by a clinical board, or because he or she in the 

past has had Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges in the Hospital or any 

other healthcare facility. 

 

B. Successful Applicants for Medical Staff membership and/or clinical privileges will be 

required to document their background, experience, training, demonstrated current 

competence, adherence to the ethics of their profession, their good reputation, 

character, medical, professional and personal judgment, and ability to work well with 

others, with sufficient adequacy to assure the Medical Staff and the Board of Trustees 

that any patient treated by them in the Hospital will receive care of a professional level 

and that the applicant’s behavior and conduct will promote and support the Hospital’s 

efforts to create and advance a culture of safety, and not interfere with the Hospital’s 

efficient operation. (The application process is detailed in Articles XI - XIV) 

Specifically, only Physicians possessing the following minimum qualifications shall 

be eligible for Medical Staff appointment, reappointment and/or clinical privileges and 

shall provide the following documentation: 

1. Successful graduation from an Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical 

Education (ACGME)-accredited school of medicine or osteopathy, or 

equivalent;  

2. Current unrestricted Wyoming license to practice medicine;  

3. A record that is free from current Medicare/Medicaid sanctions and is not on 

the Office of Inspector General (OIG) List of Excluded Individuals/Entities; 

4. A record that is free of felony convictions or pleas of “guilty” or “no contest” 

or its equivalent; and a record that is free of misdemeanors involving the 

practice of medicine; and a record that is free of a conviction of moral turpitude 

in any jurisdiction within the last five (5) years; and a record that is free of 

felonies involving violence or sexual abuse for his or her lifetime; 

5. Successful completion of an allopathic or osteopathic residency program, 

approved by the ACGME or the American Osteopathic Association (AOA).  

6. Effective English written and verbal communication skills; 

35/196



18 

 

7. Appropriate personal qualifications, including applicant’s consistent 

observance of ethical and professional standards. These standards include, at a 

minimum:   

a. Abstinence from any participation in fee-splitting or other illegal 

payment, receipt, or remuneration with respect to referral or patient 

service opportunities; and  

b. A history of consistently acting in a professional, appropriate and 

collegial manner with others in previous clinical and professional 

settings. 

8. Certification by the applicable medical or surgical specialty board for any 

clinical privileges applied for which he/she has applied, or be eligible for 

certification for such board; and 

9. A current, valid, unrestricted drug enforcement administration (DEA) number;  

10. A current, valid, unrestricted Wyoming Controlled Substance Registration 

certificate (CSR); and 

11. Demonstrate a satisfactory professional liability history, including providing 

information in final judgments or settlements involving the individual; 

12. Proof of current, adequate professional liability coverage as determined by the 

Governing Board. 

13. Demonstrated physical ability to perform all requested clinical privileges, and 

other relevant information that the individual’s physical and mental health 

status is sound, including providing a statement of current physical and mental 

health as determined following examination by a physician acceptable to the 

Medical Executive Committee; 

14. Information concerning previously successful or currently pending challenges 

to any licensure or registration (state or district, DEA) or the voluntary 

relinquishment of licensure or authority to practice; 

15. Information concerning voluntary or involuntary termination of medical staff 

or similar membership, and concerning voluntary or involuntary limitation, 

reduction, or loss of clinical privileges, at all other medical facilities at which 

the individual has practiced. 

 

C. A Physician’s satisfaction of the minimum qualifications stated in Section 2.B shall 

not entitle or guarantee the applicant Medical Staff membership and clinical 

privileges. Physicians failing to meet these minimum qualifications shall not be 

eligible to apply for membership and clinical privileges.  In addition to the minimum 

qualifications outlined above, each physician will be required to meet threshold 

criteria for their individual specialty. 

 

D. Any physician granted clinical privileges, who does not attain board certification by 

their individual certifying board’s deadline will be determined to not meet threshold 

criteria.  

 

 

 

 

36/196



19 

 

E. If a physician does not meet threshold criteria for their specialty, their medical staff 

membership and/or clinical privileges will be revoked.  As this revocation is based 

solely on the failure of the physician to meet threshold criteria, this will not be 

reportable to the NPDB, and the physician will not be entitled to a fair hearing.  

 

F. Physician’s eligibility for board certification (board eligible period) expires on a date 

determined by their individual certifying board. On appointment applications, 

physicians will be required to indicate the date that their board certification or board 

eligibility (if not certified) expires. The Medical Staff Office will track these expiration 

dates.  

 

G. When a Physician’s board eligibility lapses and certification has not been achieved, 

the physician must immediately notify the Medical Staff Office. If their certifying 

board allows them to re-establish board eligibility, the candidate must complete all 

requirements set by their board and must provide documentation of such, proving that 

they once again are board eligible or board certified.  

 

 NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER QUALIFICATIONS 

  

Section 1. Qualifications. 

 

A. A Non-Physician Provider must fulfill the following basic requirements, in addition to 

criteria established by the Medical Executive Committee for approval of health care 

professionals within a specialized area, to be eligible for consideration for clinical 

privileges or for the authority to operate within a designated scope of practice: 

1. Provide adequate documentation of the following:  

a. Current active licensure or certification to practice his or her profession 

in the State of Wyoming;  

b. The individual’s background, experience, education, and training;  

c. Current competence to practice his/her profession and any clinical 

privileges applied for;  

d. Good ethical and professional judgment; and 

e. Demonstrated physical ability to perform all requested clinical 

privileges, and other relevant information that the individual’s physical 

and mental health status is sound, including providing a statement of 

current physical and mental health as determined following 

examination by a physician acceptable to the Medical Executive 

Committee; 

2. Demonstrate a satisfactory professional liability history, including providing 

information in final judgments or settlements involving the individual; 

3. Proof of current, adequate professional liability coverage as determined by the 

Governing Board. 

4. Effective English written and verbal communication skills; 

37/196



20 

 

5. Information concerning previously successful or currently pending challenges 

to any licensure or registration (state or district, DEA) or the voluntary 

relinquishment of licensure or authority to practice; 

6. Information concerning voluntary or involuntary termination of medical staff 

or similar membership, and concerning voluntary or involuntary limitation, 

reduction, or loss of clinical privileges, at all other medical facilities at which 

the individual has practiced; and 

7. A record that is free of felony convictions or pleas of “guilty” or “no contest” 

or its equivalent; and a record that is free of misdemeanors involving the 

practice of medicine; and a record that is free of a conviction of moral turpitude 

in any jurisdiction within the last five (5) years; and a record that is free of 

felonies involving violence or sexual abuse for his or her lifetime; 

 

B. Nothing in these Bylaws is intended to establish a less-strict supervisory requirement 

for a Non-Physician Provider’s practice than required by applicable law.  A Non-

Physician Provider who is required by law, or otherwise in the Medical Staff Bylaws, 

Rules or Policies, to have a supervisory relationship with a Physician may not exercise 

any clinical privileges in the Hospital or otherwise without a current Active Medical 

Staff Supervisory Physician.  

 

Section 2. Non-Physician Provider Responsibilities. 

 

A. The ongoing responsibilities of each Non-Physician Provider include: 

1. Providing patients with the quality of care that meets the professional standards 

of the Hospital Medical Staff and of the Hospital; 

2. Abiding by these Bylaws, Rules, and Policies, and all Hospital policies and 

procedures that relate in any way to professional practice in the Hospital; 

3. Adhering to the standards of professional ethics applicable to the Non-

Physician Provider’s profession; 

4. Working cooperatively with others so as not to affect patient care adversely or 

to interfere with the orderly operation of the Hospital; 

5. Keeping confidential, as required by law, these Bylaws, Rules, Policies and 

Hospital policy, all protected health information (PHI); 

6. If given access to the Hospital’s electronic medical record system, abiding by 

Hospital policies related to maintaining the privacy and security of protected 

health information; 

7. Preparing and completing in a timely and accurate manner, and as defined by 

policy, medical records for all the patients to whom the Non-Physician 

Provider provides care in the Hospital; 

8. Working cooperatively with members of the Medical Staff, nurses, Hospital 

administration and others to facilitate effective patient care;  

9. Making appropriate arrangements for coverage for Hospital patients, including 

ensuring that coverage is provided only by another person qualified to care for 

the patient; 

38/196



21 

 

10. Immediately notifying the Chief Executive Officer or Chief of Staff of notice 

of an investigation that could lead to proposed or actual involuntary exclusion 

for any health care program funded in whole or part by the federal government, 

including Medicare or Medicaid, or of actual exclusion from such programs; 

and 

11. Abiding by all applicable state and federal laws and regulations. 

 

B. Failure to continuously meet the qualifications, threshold criteria and/or basic 

responsibilities established for Non-Physician Providers, shall result in the applicant 

not being considered eligible for Non-Physician Provider status, clinical privileges, or 

to operate within a designated scope of practice, or in relinquishment, denial, 

revocation or limitation of Non-Physician Provider status, clinical privileges or scope 

of practice. 

 

C. Procedure for Granting Non-Physician Provider Privileges within a Designated Scope 

of Practice: 

1. In each category, Non-Physician Providers may be granted clinical privileges 

in a designated scope of practice by the Board of Trustees after submission of 

an application and recommendation by the Credentials Committee, the relevant 

Medical Staff Department Chairs, and the Medical Executive Committee.  The 

Medical Executive Committee shall designate specific privileges or 

appropriate scope of practice. 

2. Each Non-Physician Provider must apply and qualify for clinical privileges by 

submitting an application on the approved form, providing all necessary 

information, and agreeing to be bound by the applicable Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations, and Policies. 

3. A Non-Physician Provider’s scope of practice cannot exceed their supervising 

Physician’s scope of practice.  

 

D. All Non-Physician Providers will participate in quality improvement activities, 

including, but not limited to, the peer review process, as appropriate to the care of 

patients they are attending at the Hospital.  

 

Section 3. Establishing new categories of Non-Physician Providers.   

Any individual wishing a health care profession to be recognized within the bounds of the Non-

Physician Provider category, as defined, shall request said recognition in writing, providing evidence 

that: 

 

A. Establishes a need for the service in the Hospital, and 

 

B. Substantiates that the service is consistent with the professions to be recognized in the 

Non-Physician Providers category. 

 

C. Such requests shall be submitted and considered as follows: 

39/196



22 

 

1. First, to the appropriate Clinical Department - the Clinical Department will 

forward its recommendation to the Credentials Committee.  

2. Credentials Committee shall review the recommendations, proceed with 

further investigation, and submit a recommendation to the Medical Executive 

Committee. 

3. The Medical Executive Committee shall review the recommendations, proceed 

with further investigation, if necessary, and formulate a recommendation. 

4. The recommendation of the Medical Executive Committee and all pertinent 

information shall be forwarded to the Board, through the Chief Executive 

Officer of the Hospital, for final consideration. 

5. The review and deliberation process in considering a new profession may be 

lengthy and cannot be put under defined time restraints. However, a good faith 

effort to process a request for recognition, in as timely a manner as possible, 

shall be made.  This statement is made to recognize that each body presented 

with the question should thoroughly review and investigate so it may make an 

informed recommendation. 

6. The Medical Executive Committee may not accept individual applications for 

privileges from Practitioners whose professions have not officially been 

approved by the Board of Trustees. 

 

 CONDITIONS OF MEMBERSHIP 

 

 

Section 1. Principles of Medical Ethics. 

Acceptance of Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges shall constitute the Practitioner’s 

certification that he or she has reviewed the Medical Staff’s Code of Conduct, attached to these 

Bylaws as Article XXX, and his or her agreement that he or she will in the future, strictly abide by 

the Code of Conduct at all times. 

 

 

Section 2. Nondiscrimination. 

 

A. No applicant shall be denied Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges on any 

basis protected by federal, Wyoming, or local law, including but not limited to sex, 

race, color, creed, religion, marital status or national origin, or on the basis of sexual 

preference or orientation, or gender identity. 

 

B. The Medical Staff application and clinical privileging process shall, to the extent 

legally applicable, comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), and, to 

the extent applicable, the Federal Rehabilitation Act, and any other applicable Federal 

or Wyoming law.   

1. No applicant for Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges, who has 

disclosed a disability, shall be discriminated against on the basis of such 

disability; and 

40/196



23 

 

2. If an applicant provides information indicating that he or she needs 

accommodation to exercise Medical Staff rights, or to fulfill duties or 

obligations, or to exercise clinical privileges, the Medical Staff shall make a 

careful individualized determination in each case to determine if the 

applicant’s disability poses a significant risk to the health or safety of himself, 

herself, or others that cannot be eliminated by providing a reasonable 

accommodation.  

 

 

Section 3. Condition and Duration of Appointment/Reappointment. 

A. Every application for Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges shall be signed 

by the applicant.  Each applicant shall specifically acknowledge his or her obligation, 

as required in these Bylaws, Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, and Hospital 

policies (as amended from time to time): 

1. To abide by the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and Hospital 

policies at all times, to accept Medical Staff committee assignments, and to 

participate in staffing the teaching and service areas; and 

2. To accept call coverage (depending on specialty) and consultation 

assignments, and to provide continuous care and supervision of his or her 

patients. 

 

B. Appointments (initial or reappointment) to the Medical Staff, and grants, renewals, 

extensions and modifications of clinical privileges, shall be approved by the Board of 

Trustees for a period not to exceed two (2) years, and may be for less, at the discretion 

of the Board of Trustees upon recommendation by the Medical Executive Committee.  

Medical Staff members may only exercise those clinical privileges specifically granted 

by the Board of Trustees, after consideration and recommendation by the Medical 

Executive Committee, in accordance with these Bylaws. 

 

 

Section 4. Modification of Membership Status or Privileges. 

A. A Medical Staff member may request a modification of Medical Staff category, 

Department assignment, or modification or additional clinical privileges, in 

connection with either reappointment or renewal of clinical privileges or at any other 

time, by submitting a written request to the Medical Staff Office. Such a request must 

be on the prescribed form, must contain all pertinent information supportive of the 

request, and will be processed as reappointment or renewal of clinical privileges.  

 

B. All requests for modified or additional clinical privileges must be accompanied by 

information demonstrating education, training, and current clinical competence in the 

specific privileges requested.  

 

 

 

 

41/196



24 

 

Section 5. Voluntary Resignation or Limitation of Medical Staff/Non-Physician Provider 

Clinical Privileges. 

A. A Medical Staff member, who wishes to resign, restrict, or limit his or her Medical 

Staff appointment or clinical privileges, must provide written notice to the appropriate 

Department Chair or Chief of Staff at least thirty (30) days prior to resignation. The 

resignation shall specify a proposed effective date. A copy of this notice shall be 

included in the individual’s credentials file. 

B. A Medical Staff member, who resigns his or her Medical Staff appointment, and 

clinical privileges, shall fully and accurately complete all portions of all medical 

records for which he or she is responsible prior to the effective date of resignation. 

Failure to do so shall result in automatic suspension of Medical Staff membership and 

clinical privileges, as applicable, as of the proposed effective date of the resignation 

until the records are complete, or for 14 days, whichever comes first.  If the records 

are not completed within 14 days, the resignation shall become effective, and an entry 

in the individual’s credentials file shall be made acknowledging the resignation and 

stating that the individual resigned with “X” number of medical records incomplete.  

The individual’s resignation may be considered a resignation of Medical Staff 

membership and clinical privileges while suspended, which may be reported to the 

National Practitioner Data Bank and/or Wyoming Board of Medicine. 

 

 

Section 6. Leave of Absence. 

A Medical Staff member may apply for a voluntary leave of absence by submitting a written request 

to the Chief of Staff, for transmittal to the appropriate Department Chair and the Chief Executive 

Officer.  The request must state the approximate time period of the leave, which may not exceed 

one (1) year, except for military service.  During the period of the leave, the individual’s duties, 

obligations, rights and privileges, and clinical privileges, prerogatives, and responsibilities related to 

such clinical privileges, are suspended.  The Medical Staff will not enforce any obligation that the 

individual maintains medical malpractice coverage during the leave of absence, but enforcement 

will resume immediately upon termination of the individual’s leave, and the individual must ensure 

that he or she complies with any such obligation prior to termination of the leave.  An individual on 

leave may request one (1) extension of his/her leave of absence, of up to one (1) year.  The request 

must be in writing and received by the Chief of Staff at least forty-five (45) days before the current 

leave of absence expires, and state good cause for the extension.  The same process as the original 

leave may grant the extension.    

 

 

Section 7. Termination of Leave. 

 

A. The Medical Staff member on leave must, at least sixty (60) days prior to termination 

of a leave, or at an earlier time, request reinstatement by sending written notice to the 

Medical Staff Office for the Medical Executive Committee’s consideration.  The 

individual must submit a written summary of relevant activities during the leave if the 

Medical Executive Committee or Board of Trustees, in the discretion of either of them, 

so requests. Granting or denying a request for reinstatement is within the sole 

42/196



25 

 

discretion of the Board of Trustees, and shall not be considered an “adverse action,” 

or give rise to the right to a hearing, under these Medical Staff Bylaws. The Medical 

Executive Committee shall make a recommendation to the Board of Trustees 

concerning reinstatement, which may include, where appropriate:  

1. Evaluation by a healthcare professional, approved by MEC (which may 

include a professional assistance program).  The individual shall authorize the 

disclosure of the results of the evaluation by that professional to the Medical 

Executive Committee, in conjunction with the request for termination of the 

leave;  

 2. Focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE); and/or 

3. Other measures that the Medical Executive Committee believes, in its sole 

discretion, are reasonably necessary to ensure the member is capable of 

fulfilling his/her duties and obligations of Medical Staff membership and 

exercising any clinical privileges granted if leave is terminated.   

 

B. Failure to request reinstatement in accordance with this Section 7 shall be deemed a 

waiver of all rights in relation thereto.  Granting or denying a request for reinstatement 

is within the sole discretion of the Board of Trustees, and shall not be considered an 

“adverse action”, or give rise to the right to a hearing, under these Bylaws.   

C. In deciding whether to grant or deny a request for reinstatement, the Board of Trustees 

and/or the Medical Executive Committee shall consider all requirements of applicable 

law, which may include the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”) and 

any similar state or local law or regulation.  However, nothing in section 7 is intended 

to make the ADA, or any other law, applicable to Medical Staff members where it 

otherwise would not be.    

 

Section 8. Exclusive Contracting. 

 

A. The Hospital may enter into or renew one or more exclusive contracts for medical 

services, as an administrative tool to improve the Hospital’s functioning.  The Hospital 

shall request, and the Medical Executive Committee shall provide within a reasonable 

period of time following such request, a recommendation on the advisability of each 

exclusive contract before the Hospital enters into the contract.  The basis for the 

Medical Executive Committee’s recommendation shall be reasonable, and not 

arbitrary, capricious or discriminatory or imposed to preserve or aid any practitioner’s 

competitive position.  Examples of such bases may include, but not be limited to, 

facilitation of Department administration, continuity and/or reliability of coverage, 

enhancement of relationships between Departments, simplification of scheduling and 

enhancement of efficiency.  The Medical Executive Committee’s recommendation 

shall be advisory, but not binding, on the Hospital. 

 

B. Practitioners may apply for and may be granted clinical privileges, for which an 

exclusive contract has been approved, but Physicians or Non-Physician Providers 

holding clinical privileges for which an exclusive contract has been granted shall not 

43/196



26 

 

exercise such privileges for the exclusive contract’s duration, unless permitted to do 

so by the exclusive contract holder and the Board of Trustees.    

 

 

Section 9. No Hearing or Appeal. 

The Hospital’s entry into an exclusive contract, depriving any individual of the ability to use clinical 

privileges granted, shall not be considered “corrective action” under these Bylaws, nor a “professional 

review action” under the Federal Health Care Quality Improvement Act.  No individual prohibited 

from using clinical privileges because an exclusive contract has been granted covering such clinical 

privileges shall be entitled to hearing and appeal rights under these Bylaws.  

 

 PRECEPTEES 

Section 1. Preceptees. 

 

A. Preceptees are interns, medical students, Physician Assistant (PA) students, or 

Advance Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) students training in medicine or another 

health-related field, attending clinical rotations at the Hospital, and working and 

studying under the supervision of a preceptor who is a Medical Staff member as part 

of, and in conjunction with, an ongoing training program approved by the appropriate 

Department Chair and that may be described in a written agreement between the 

Hospital and the Preceptee’s training program.  Preceptees are not members of the 

Medical Staff or Non-Physician Provider staff, and will not be granted clinical 

privileges, but may provide such patient care services as are approved by the Medical 

Staff in each instance.  Preceptees are not entitled to any of the hearing and appeal 

rights set out in these Bylaws under any circumstances. 

 

B. The role of a Preceptee in the Hospital shall be described in a written agreement 

between the Hospital and the Preceptee’s training program, which may set out 

additional obligations, duties, requirements, and responsibilities of the Preceptee not 

inconsistent with this Section.   

 

C. When appropriate, the Preceptee will function under the direct and/or close 

supervision of an Active or Consulting Physician member of the Medical Staff or a 

group of Active or Consulting members of the Medical Staff.  

 

 RESIDENTS 

 

A licensed resident may perform only such services as are appropriate for his or her level of training 

as defined by his or her academic program and approved by the Medical Staff in each instance.   

 

See the Medical Staff Policy: Residents in Training, for further details.  

 

 

44/196



27 

 

 PHYSICIAN APPOINTMENT 

 

Section 1.  General.  

Membership on the Medical Staff of the Hospital is a privilege extended only to Practitioners who 

continuously meet the qualifications, standards, and requirements set forth in these Bylaws, the Rules 

and Regulations, and the Policies. All appointments, reappointments, and privileges are recommended 

by the Medical Staff and are granted by the Governing Board. Appointments to the Medical Staff are 

made without regard to gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, creed, age, national origin, 

religion, or disability, provided that the individual is competent to render care consistent with the 

professional level of quality and competence established by these Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations 

and the policies of the Hospital.  

 

Section 2.  Appointments. 

 
A. Medical Staff: All healthcare professionals authorized to practice in Hospitals by the 

applicable law in Wyoming, who are licensed to practice in the state of Wyoming and 

who desire to provide professional services in the Hospital, are eligible to apply for 

appointment to the Medical Staff of the Hospital.  

 

B. Non-Physician Providers:  All Non-Physician Providers as defined by these Bylaws are 

eligible to apply for appointment to the Non-Physician Provider Staff of the Hospital.  

 

C. Terms of Appointment:  Unless otherwise specified, all initial appointments to the 

Medical Staff and Non-Physician Provider Staff will be for a one (1) year period. 

Subsequent reappointments shall be for no longer than two (2) years excluding Locum 

Tenens subsequent reappointments, which shall be for a one (1) year period.  

 

Section 3. Application for Appointment. 

Each application for appointment to the Physician Medical Staff shall be signed by the Applicant, and 

shall be submitted on a form prescribed by the Governing Board after consultation with the Medical 

Executive Committee.  

 
A. The application shall require detailed information concerning the Applicant's professional 

qualifications including:  

1. All schools attended and date of degree;  

2. All postdoctoral training programs with dates of successful completion;  

3. All special training programs with dates of successful completion;  

4. All state licenses, licensure dates, and history of adverse actions, if any;  

5. All staff membership and privileges at other institutions, dates of privileging, 

and history of adverse or corrective actions, if any;  

6. A statement specifying any circumstances and judgments and/or settlements of 

any previous or pending malpractice actions involving the Practitioner;  

7. The names of three medical or healthcare professionals who have personal 

knowledge of the Applicant’s current clinical abilities, ethical character, and 

ability to work cooperatively with others and who will provide specific written 

45/196



28 

 

comments on these matters. The named individuals must have acquired the 

requisite knowledge through recent observation of professional practice over a 

reasonable period of time and preferably have a current affiliation with an acute 

care institution. The references may not be relatives or have any recently 

initiated, or impending, professional partnership/financial associations with 

Applicant;  

8. A statement that the Practitioner has received or been given access to, and read 

the Bylaws, Rules and Regulations of the Medical Staff and that he/she agrees to 

be bound by the terms thereof if he/she is granted membership and clinical 

privileges and to be bound by the terms thereof without regard to whether or not 

he/she is granted membership and privileges in all matters relating to 

consideration of his/her application;  

9. Information as to whether any of the following has ever been, or are in the 

process of being, denied, revoked, suspended, reduced, not renewed or 

voluntarily relinquished:  

a. Staff membership status or privileges at any other Hospital or 

healthcare institution;  

b. Membership/fellowship in local, state or national professional 

organizations;  

c. Specialty board certification;  

d. License to practice any profession in any jurisdiction;  

e. Drug enforcement agency or other controlled substances registration;  
10. A statement of experience during the most recent ten (10) years, including a 

consent to the release of information by his/her present and past malpractice 

coverage carrier(s);  

11. A statement whereby the Practitioner agrees that, when an adverse ruling is 

made with respect to his/her staff membership, staff status, and privileges, he/she 

will resort to the administrative remedies afforded by the Medical Staff Bylaws 

Rules & Regulation before resorting to formal legal action;  

12. Evidence of current, adequate professional liability coverage as determined by 

the Governing Board;  

13. A statement regarding physical/mental health status, including alcohol abuse 

and/or drug dependency, as permitted by applicable law;  

14. Satisfactory completion of such continuing education requirements as may be 

imposed by law, this Hospital, or applicable accreditation agencies and as 

required by the Wyoming Board of Medicine to maintain licensure. Beginning 

their fourth year after completion of residency or fellowship, Physicians who are 

not board certified must complete and provide documentation of CME.  

Physicians who have a lifetime certification and do not participate in 

Maintenance of Certification must also provide CME documentation.  

Documentation must be provided for 20 hours of CME per year, or at least sixty 

(60) hours of CME within the previous three (3) years; 

15. A statement as to whether the Applicant has ever withdrawn his/her application 

for appointment, reappointment, or clinical privileges, or resigned from a 

Medical Staff before the final decision of the Governing Board of such entity;  

16. Information as to whether the Applicant has ever been named as a defendant 

and/or convicted in a criminal action and details about any such instances;  

17. Information on the citizenship or visa status of the Applicant; and  

46/196



29 

 

18. Information regarding whether the Applicant has ever been sanctioned by, or 

excluded or suspended from participation in Medicare, Medicaid or any other 

government reimbursement programs.  

 

Section 4. Responsibility of the Applicant.   

The Practitioner shall have the burden of producing adequate information for a proper evaluation of 

his/her competence, character, ethics, health status and other qualifications, and for resolving any doubts 

about such qualifications.  

 

A. By applying for appointment to the Medical Staff, each Practitioner thereby signifies:  

1. His/her willingness to appear for interviews in regard to his/her application;  

2. His/her authorization for the Hospital to consult with members of Medical Staffs of 

other Hospitals with which the Practitioner has been associated and with others who 

may have information bearing on his/her competence, character, health status and 

ethical qualifications, including otherwise privileged or confidential information, 

provided by third parties bearing on his or her credentials, and agreement that any 

information so provided shall not be required to be disclosed to him or her;  

3. His/her consent to the Hospital's inspection of all records and documents that may be 

material to an evaluation of his/her professional qualifications and competence to 

carry out the clinical privileges he/she requests as well as his/her moral and ethical 

qualifications for Medical Staff membership;  

4. His/her acknowledgment that the Credentials Committee may request any additional 

information it determines is needed to evaluate the applicant’s qualifications.  

Failure to submit such information shall be treated as an incomplete application.  

Failure to submit a completed application shall constitute cause for denial of 

appointment. Denial of appointment because of failure to submit a complete 

application does not give the applicant the right to a fair hearing; 

5. His/her release from any liability of all representatives of the Hospital and its 

Medical Staff for their acts performed in good faith and without malice in 

connection with evaluating the Practitioner and his/her credentials;  

6. His/her release from any liability all individuals and organizations who provide 

information to the Hospital concerning the Practitioner's competence, ethics, 

character, health status and other qualifications for Medical Staff appointment and 

clinical privileges including otherwise privileged or confidential information;  

7. His/her authorization to third parties to release information, including otherwise 

privileged or confidential information, as well as reports, records, statements, 

recommendations and other documents in their possession, bearing on his/her 

credentials to the Hospital, and consents to the inspection and procurement by the 

Hospital of such information, records and other documents;  

8. His/her authorization to release information about such individual to other healthcare 

entities and their agents, who solicit such information for the purpose of evaluating 

the individual's professional qualifications pursuant to the individuals request for 

appointment, reappointment or clinical privileges;  

9. His/her authorization to maintain information concerning the Applicant’s age, 

training, board certification, licensure, and other confidential information in a 

centralized Physician database for the purpose of making aggregate Physician 

information available for use by the Hospital;  

47/196



30 

 

10. His/her authorization to release confidential information, including peer review 

and/or quality assurance information, obtained from or about the Applicant or 

Medical Staff Appointee to peer review committees of the Hospital for purposes of 

reducing morbidity and mortality and for the improvement of patient care;  

11. His/her consent to the reporting by the Hospital of information to the National 

Practitioner Data Bank established pursuant to the Health Care Quality Improvement 

Act of 1986 which the Hospital believes in good faith is required by law to be 

reported;  

12. His/her acknowledgment that any material misstatements in, or omissions from, this 

application constitute cause for denial of appointment or cause for summary 

dismissal from the staff, regardless of when the misstatement or omission is 

discovered. By signing the application, the applicant signifies he or she is 

responsible for the content of the application, even if it was filled out by someone 

else; and 

13. His/her agreement that the foregoing provisions are in addition to any agreements, 

understandings, covenants, waivers, authorizations or releases provided by law or 

contained in any application or request forms.  

 

Section 5. Discrimination. 

No considerations of gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, creed, religion, and/or national 

origin may be used in the granting or denying of Medical Staff membership or clinical privileges.  

 

Section 6. Responsibilities of the Medical Staff Services Office.  

 

A. The completed application shall be submitted to the Hospital's Medical Staff Office. The 

Medical Staff Office shall be responsible to review the application for veracity. The 

credentialing process requires that the Hospital verifies in writing and from the primary 

source, whenever feasible, the items listed below. Initiation of the verification process of 

at least the following items will begin within a reasonable time after receipt of a completed 

application:  

1. Degrees conferred, when and the institution;  

2. Completion of training programs, specialty, date of completion;  

3. The granting of state licenses, dates, and history of adverse action;  

4. the granting of staff membership and privileges at other institutions and adverse 

actions;  

5. Specialty board certifications;  

6. Querying the National Practitioner Data Bank;  

7. At least three references from Physicians who can provide adequate references 

pertaining to the Practitioner's professional competence and ethical character; 

and  

8. Satisfactory completion of such continuing education requirements as may be 

imposed by law, this Hospital, or applicable accreditation agencies and as 

required by the Wyoming Board of Medicine to maintain licensure. Beginning 

their fourth year after completion of residency or fellowship, Physicians who 

are not board certified must complete and provide documentation of CME.  

Physicians who have a lifetime certification and do not participate in 

48/196



31 

 

Maintenance of Certification must also provide CME documentation.  

Documentation must be provided for 20 hours of CME per year, or at least 

sixty (60) hours of CME within the previous three (3) years. 
9. Upon completion of the verifications, the Medical Staff Office will forward the 

application to the appropriate Departmental Chair.  

 

Section 7.  Responsibilities of Department Chair. 

All completed applications are presented to the Department Chair for review and recommendation.  

The Department Chair reviews the application to ensure that it fulfills the standards for medical 

staff membership and/or hospital privileges. After review of the application, the Department chair 

forwards to the Credentials Committee, one of the following: 

 

A. A recommendation to approve the applicant’s request for membership and/or 

privileges; 

 

B. A recommendation to approve membership but modify the requested privileges; or 

 

C. A recommendation to deny the applicant’s request for membership and privileges.  

 

Section 8.  Responsibilities of Credentials Committee. 

The Credentials Committee reviews the application to ensure that it fulfills the established standards 

for medical staff membership and/or hospital privileges. Credentials Committee also reviews the 

recommendations of the Department Chair. After review of the application, Credentials Committee 

forwards to MEC, one of the following: 

 

A. A recommendation to approve the applicant’s request for membership and/or 

privileges; 

 

B. A recommendation to approve membership but modify the requested privileges; or 

 

C. A recommendation to deny the applicant’s request for membership and privileges.  

 

Section 9.  Responsibilities of Medical Executive Committee (MEC). 

 

A. After considering the recommendation of the Credentials Committee, the MEC shall 

recommend action upon each application and/or request for privileges. If a 

recommendation is favorable to the applicant, the recommendation for membership 

and/or privileges shall be forwarded to the Board for final action.  

 

B. If an adverse recommendation is made, either with respect to appointment or the 

scope of privileges, the reason for such recommendation shall be stated and 

supported by reference to the completed application and all other documentation 

considered by the MEC, all of which shall be forwarded to the CEO or a designee. 

49/196



32 

 

The CEO or a designee shall promptly provide the applicant Notice of the proposed 

adverse recommendation and of the applicant’s right to a hearing, if any, in 

accordance with the applicable Fair Hearing procedure(s) as contained in these 

Bylaws. 

 

C. If the applicant waives the right to a hearing or does not have such right pursuant to 

Article XVII, the CEO shall forward the MEC’s recommendation with supporting 

documentation to the Board for final action. If the applicant exercises the right to a 

hearing, the MEC may reconsider its adverse recommendation after receiving the 

Hearing Panel report and recommendation. The MEC shall forward its final 

recommendation to the Board for final action.  

 

 

Section 10.  Responsibilities of the Governing Board.  

 

A. The Board has final responsibility for approval or disapproval of all applications for 

membership, continued membership, and/or clinical privileges. Notice of the Board’s 

decision shall be sent to the applicant. In the event the Board considers modification 

of an action of the MEC that did not entitle the applicant to a hearing, and such 

Board modification would entitle the applicant to a hearing, the applicant shall be 

notified by the CEO, and no final action thereon shall be taken by the Board until the 

individual has exercised or waived the right to a hearing and appeal all as provided 

herein under Article XVII.  

 

B. The decision to grant, deny, revise, or revoke privilege(s) is disseminated and made 

available to all appropriate internal and external persons or entities, as defined by the 

hospital and applicable law. 

 

  PHYSICIAN REAPPOINTMENT 

 

Each application for reappointment to the Medical Staff shall be signed by the Applicant and shall be 

submitted on a form prescribed by the Governing Board after consultation with the Medical Executive 

Committee.  

 

Section 1. Responsibilities of the Medical Staff Office.  

The reappointment process shall begin at least ninety (90) days prior to the termination of current 

appointment and privileges. Requests for additional privileges or for change in a staff category shall 

be made to the Medical Staff Office at this time with accompanying documentation of further 

training and/or clinical experience. The Medical Staff Office shall gather all pertinent information 

relating to the staff member's professional competence and clinical judgment in the treatment of 

patients (as determined by ongoing peer review and quality assurance activities, Ongoing 

Professional Practice Evaluations (OPPE) and peer references), his/her mental and physical 

condition, ethics, conduct, compliance with Hospital and Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations, cooperation with Hospital personnel, and shall check all new information for veracity. 

50/196



33 

 

The Applicant shall report the circumstances and outcome of any malpractice judgment(s) delivered 

against him/her during the previous appointment period as well as the circumstances of any pending 

malpractice action against him/her. The Medical Staff Office shall deliver that information to the 

appropriate Departmental Chair or his/her designated representative for review within ten (10) 

working days.  

 

Section 2. Reappointment Process.  

Thereafter, the procedure provided for in Article XI, Section 3A, of these Bylaws, relating to the 

initial appointment should be followed. 

 

A. Except as otherwise determined by the Medical Executive Committee or Board of 

Trustees, a Medical Staff member applying for appointment or reappointment and 

clinical privileges, who has received a final adverse decision or who has resigned or 

withdrawn an application for appointment or reappointment and clinical privileges 

while under investigation or to avoid an investigation, is not eligible to reapply to the 

Medical Staff for a period of five (5) years from the date of the notice of the final 

adverse decision or the effective date of the resignation or application withdrawal. Any 

such re-application is processed in accordance with the procedures then in effect. As 

part of the reapplication, the practitioner must submit such additional information as 

the Medical Staff and/or Board of Trustee requires, demonstrating that the basis of the 

earlier adverse action no longer exists. If such information is not provided, the 

reapplication will be considered incomplete and voluntarily withdrawn and will not be 

processed any further. 

 

B. The Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee shall, on the Medical Staff’s behalf, 

ensure that the Hospital satisfies its obligations under the Health Care Quality 

Improvement Act of 1986 (HCQIA) and its successor statutes, and Wyoming law, with 

respect to reporting any adverse actions imposed by the Board of Trustees against any 

Practitioner as the result of any professional review activity.  

 

 NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER APPOINTMENT  

 

Section 1.  Non-Physician Provider Appointment.  

Each application for appointment to the Non-Physician Provider staff shall be signed by the Applicant. 

Dependent NPP’s (as defined in Article V, section 6) shall include a statement by a Mentoring or 

Supervising Physician who is currently an Active member of the MHSC Medical Staff. Mentoring 

Physicians are required for those Dependent NPPs that work solely in the hospital clinic.  Supervising 

Physicians are required for Dependent NPPs that work in the hospital and clinic. Statement of 

Supervising Physician or Mentoring Physician shall be submitted on a form prescribed by the Governing 

Board after consultation with the Medical Executive Committee.  

 

 

 

51/196



34 

 

A. The application shall require detailed information concerning the Applicant's professional 

qualifications including:  

1. All schools and date of degree/registration/ certification;  

2. All special training programs with dates of successful completion;  

3. All state licenses, their licensure dates, and history of adverse actions, if any;  

4. All staff membership and privileges at other institutions, dates of privileging, 

and history of adverse or corrective actions, if any;  

5. A statement specifying any circumstances and judgments and/or settlements of 

any previous malpractice actions, as well as the circumstances of any pending 

malpractice actions, involving the Non-Physician Provider;  

6. The names of at least three persons who have had extensive recent experience in 

observing and working with the Non-Physician Provider and who can provide 

adequate references pertaining to the Non-Physician Provider's professional 

competence and ethical character, health status and ability to work cooperatively 

with others and who will provide specific written comments on these matters. 

The named individuals must have acquired the requisite knowledge through 

recent observation of professional practice over a reasonable period of time and 

preferably have a current affiliation with an acute care institution and at least one 

must be from a Physician and one from a colleague in the Applicant's specialty. 

The references may not be relatives or have any recently initiated, or impending, 

professional partnership/financial associations with Applicant;  

7. A statement that the Non-Physician Provider has received or been given access 

to, and read the Bylaws, Rules and Regulations of the Medical Staff and that 

he/she agrees to be bound by the terms thereof if he/she is granted membership 

and clinical privileges and to be bound by the terms thereof without regard to 

whether or not he/ she is granted membership and privileges in all matters 

relating to consideration of his/ her application;  

8. Information as to whether any of the following has ever been, or are in the 

process of being, denied, revoked, suspended, reduced not renewed or 

voluntarily relinquished:  

a. Staff membership status or privileges at any other Hospital or healthcare 

institution;  

b. Membership/fellowship in local, state or national professional 

organizations; and  

c. License to practice any profession in any jurisdiction.  

9. A statement of experience during the most recent ten (10) years, including a 

consent to the release of information by his/her present and past malpractice 

coverage carrier(s);  

10. A statement whereby the Non-Physician Provider agrees that, when an adverse 

ruling is made with respect to his/her staff membership, staff status, and 

privileges, he/she will resort to the administrative remedies afforded by the 

Medical Staff Bylaws Rules & Regulations.  

11. Evidence of current, adequate professional liability coverage, as determined by 

the Governing Board; and  

12. A statement regarding physical/mental health status, including alcohol abuse 

and/or drug dependency, as permitted by law;  

13. Satisfactory completion of such continuing education requirements as may be 

imposed by law, this Hospital, or applicable accreditation agencies.  

52/196



35 

 

14. A statement as to whether the Non-Physician Provider has ever withdrawn 

his/her application for appointment, reappointment, or clinical privileges, or 

resigned from a medical staff before the final decision of the Governing Board of 

such entity.  

15. Information as to whether the Non-Physician Provider has ever been named as a 

defendant and/or convicted in a criminal action and details about any such 

instances;  

16. Information on the citizenship or visa status of the Non-Physician Provider;  

17. Information regarding whether the Non-Physician Provider has ever been 

sanctioned by, or excluded or suspended from participation in Medicare, 

Medicaid or any other governmental reimbursement programs. 

 

Section 2. Responsibilities of Non-Physician Provider.  

The Practitioner shall have the burden of producing adequate information for a proper evaluation of his/her 

competence, character, ethics, health status and other qualifications, and for resolving any doubts about 

such qualifications.  

 

A. Appearance, Authorization, and Consent  

By applying for appointment to the Non-Physician Provider staff, each Non-Physician 

Provider thereby signifies:  

1. His/her willingness to appear for interviews in regard to his/her application;  

2. His/her authorization for the Hospital to consult with members of Medical Staffs 

of other Hospitals with which the Practitioner has been associated and with 

others who may have information bearing on his/her competence, character, 

health status and ethical qualifications, including otherwise privileged or 

confidential information, provided by third parties bearing on his or her 

credentials, and agreement that any information so provided shall not be required 

to be disclosed to him or her;  

3. His/her consent to the Hospital's inspection of all records and documents that 

may be material to an evaluation of his/her professional qualifications and 

competence to carry out the clinical privileges he/she requests as well as his/her 

moral and ethical qualifications for Medical Staff membership;  

4. His/her acknowledgment that the Credentials Committee may request any 

additional information it determines is needed to evaluate the Applicant’s 

qualifications.  Failure to submit such information shall be treated as an 

incomplete application.  Failure to submit a completed application shall 

constitute cause for denial of appointment. Denial of appointment because of 

failure to submit a complete application does not give an applicant the right to a 

fair hearing; 

5. His/her release from any liability of all representatives of the Hospital and its 

Medical Staff for their acts performed in good faith and without malice in 

connection with evaluating the Practitioner and his/her credentials;  

6. His/her release from any liability all individuals and organizations who provide 

information to the Hospital concerning the Practitioner's competence, ethics, 

character, health status and other qualifications for Medical Staff appointment 

and clinical privileges including otherwise privileged or confidential 

information;  

53/196



36 

 

7. His/her authorization to third parties to release information, including otherwise 

privileged or confidential information, as well as reports, records, statements, 

recommendations and other documents in their possession, bearing on his/her 

credentials to the Hospital, and consents to the inspection and procurement by 

the Hospital of such information, records and other documents;  

8. His/her authorization to release information about such individual to other 

healthcare entities and their agents, who solicit such information for the purpose 

of evaluating the individual's professional qualifications pursuant to the 

individuals request for appointment, reappointment or clinical privileges;  

9. His/her authorization to maintain information concerning the Applicant’s age, 

training, board certification, licensure, and other confidential information in a 

centralized database for the purpose of making aggregate Practitioner 

information available for use by the Hospital;  

10. His/her authorization to release confidential information, including peer review 

and/or quality assurance information, obtained from or about the Applicant or 

Medical Staff Appointee to peer review committees of the Hospital for purposes 

of reducing morbidity and mortality and for the improvement of patient care;  

11. His/her consent to the reporting by the Hospital of information to the National 

Practitioner Data Bank established pursuant to the Health Care Quality 

Improvement Act of 1986 which the Hospital believes in good faith is required 

by law to be reported;  

12. His/her acknowledgment that any material misstatements in, or omissions from, 

this application constitute cause for denial of appointment or cause for summary 

dismissal from the staff, regardless of when the misstatement or omission is 

discovered. By signing the application, the Applicant signifies he or she is 

responsible for the content of the application, even if it was filled out by 

someone else; and 

13. His/her agreement that the foregoing provisions are in addition to any 

agreements, understandings, covenants, waivers, authorizations or releases 

provided by law or contained in any application or request forms.  

 

Section 3. Discrimination.  

No considerations of gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, race, creed, religion, and/or national 

origin may be used in the granting or denying of staff membership or clinical privileges. 

 

Section 4. Responsibilities of the Medical Staff Office.  

The completed application shall be submitted to the Hospital's Medical Staff Office who shall be 

responsible to review the application for veracity. Initiation of the verification process of at least the 

following items will begin within a reasonable time after receipt of a completed application:  
 

A. Degree/certification/registration conferred, when, and the institution;  

 

B. Completion of training programs, specialty, date of completion;  

 

C. The granting of state licenses, if applicable, dates and history of adverse actions;  

 

54/196



37 

 

D. Querying the National Practitioner Data Bank; and  

 

E. At least three references from Practitioners who can provide adequate references 

pertaining to the Non-Physician Provider's competence and ethical character.  

 

F. On completion of the verification, the Medical Staff Office will forward the application to 

the appropriate Departmental Chair.  

 

Section 5. Responsibilities of Departmental Chair.  

All completed Non-Physician Provider applications are presented to the Department Chair for 

review and recommendation.  The Department Chair reviews the application to ensure that it fulfills 

the standards for medical staff membership and/or hospital privileges. After review of the 

application, the Department chair forwards to the Credentials Committee, one of the following: 

 

A. A recommendation to approve the applicant’s request for membership and/or 

privileges; 

 

B. A recommendation to approve membership but modify the requested privileges; or 

 

C. A recommendation to deny the applicant’s request for membership and privileges. 

 

Section 6. Responsibilities of the Credentials Committee.  

The Credentials Committee reviews the Non-Physician Provider’s application to ensure that it 

fulfills the established standards for medical staff membership and/or hospital privileges. 

Credentials Committee also reviews the recommendations of the Department Chair. After review of 

the application, Credentials Committee forwards to MEC, one of the following: 

 

A. A recommendation to approve the Non-Physician Provider applicant’s request for 

membership and/or privileges; 

 

B. A recommendation to approve membership but modify the requested privileges; or 

 

C. A recommendation to deny the applicant’s request for membership and privileges.  

 

Section 7. Responsibilities of Medical Executive Committee (MEC)  

 

A. After considering the recommendation of the Credentials Committee, the MEC shall 

recommend action upon each Non-Physician Provider application and/or request for 

privileges. If a recommendation is favorable to the applicant, the recommendation for 

membership and/or privileges shall be forwarded to the Board for final action.  

 

55/196



38 

 

B. If an adverse recommendation is made, either with respect to appointment or the scope 

of privileges, the reason for such recommendation shall be stated and supported by 

reference to the completed application and all other documentation considered by the 

MEC, all of which shall be forwarded to the CEO or a designee. 

 

Section 8.  Non-Physician Provider Adverse Privileging Decisions. 

Nothing contained in the Medical Staff Bylaws shall be interpreted to entitle a Non-Physician 

Provider (NPP) to the procedural rights for physicians as set forth in Article XVII of these Bylaws.  

However, a Non-Physician Provider who receives an adverse privileging decision may challenge 

such action by filing a written grievance with MEC or the Chair of the Department to which the 

Non-Physician Provider has been assigned, within fifteen (15) days of the action.  Within thirty (30) 

days of receipt of the grievance, MEC shall conduct an investigation.  The NPP will have the 

opportunity for an interview with MEC concerning the grievance at which time the NPP may 

present relevant information.  Such interview shall not constitute a “hearing” as established by the 

Medical Staff Bylaws, and shall not be conducted according to the procedural rules applicable to 

such hearings.  MEC shall make a decision regarding the issue and make a recommendation to the 

Governing Board. The Governing Board will take final action.  

 

Section 9. Responsibilities of the Governing Board. 

 

A. The Board has final responsibility for approval or disapproval of all Non-Physician Provider 

applications for membership, continued membership, and/or clinical privileges. Notice of the 

Board’s decision shall be sent to the applicant. 

 

B. The decision to grant, deny, revise, or revoke privilege(s) is disseminated and made 

available to all appropriate internal and external persons or entities, as defined by the 

hospital and applicable law. 

 

 

 

 NON-PHYSICIAN PROVIDER REAPPOINTMENT 

 

Each application for reappointment to the Non-Physician Provider staff shall be signed by the Applicant 

and include a statement by a sponsoring Physician who is currently on the MHSC Medical Staff. The 

application shall be submitted on a form prescribed by the Governing Board after consultation with the 

Medical Executive Committee. 

 

Section 1. Responsibilities of the Medical Staff Office.  

The reappointment process shall begin ninety (90) days prior to the termination of current 

appointment and privileges. Requests for additional privileges shall be made to the Medical Staff 

Office at this time with accompanying documentation of further training and/or clinical experience. 

The Medical Staff Office shall gather all pertinent information relating to the Non-Physician 

Provider's competence and clinical judgment in the treatment of patients (as determined by ongoing 

56/196



39 

 

peer review and quality assurance activities, Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluations (OPPE) and 

peer references), his/her mental and physical condition, ethics, conduct, compliance with Hospital 

and Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, cooperation with Hospital personnel and shall 

check all new information for veracity. The Non-Physician Provider shall report the circumstances 

and outcome of any malpractice judgment(s) delivered against him/her during the previous 

appointment period as well as any malpractice actions pending against him/her. The Medical Staff 

Office shall deliver that information to the appropriate Departmental Chair or his/her designated 

representative for review.  

 

Section 2. Reappointment Process. 

Thereafter, the procedure provided for in Article XIII, Section 1A, of these Bylaws, relating to the initial 

appointment should be followed. 

 

A. Except as otherwise determined by the Medical Executive Committee or Board of 

Trustees, a Medical Staff member or Non-Physician Provider applying for 

appointment or reappointment and clinical privileges, who has received a final adverse 

decision or who has resigned or withdrawn an application for appointment or 

reappointment and clinical privileges while under investigation or to avoid an 

investigation, is not eligible to reapply to the Medical Staff for a period of five (5) 

years from the date of the notice of the final adverse decision or the effective date of 

the resignation or application withdrawal. Any such re-application is processed in 

accordance with the procedures then in effect. As part of the reapplication, the 

practitioner must submit such additional information as the Medical Staff and/or Board 

of Trustee requires, demonstrating that the basis of the earlier adverse action no longer 

exists. If such information is not provided, the reapplication will be considered 

incomplete and voluntarily withdrawn and will not be processed any further. 

 

B. The Chief Executive Officer or his or her designee shall, on the Medical Staff’s behalf, 

ensure that the Hospital satisfies its obligations under the Health Care Quality 

Improvement Act of 1986 (HCQIA) and its successor statutes, and Wyoming law, with 

respect to reporting any adverse actions imposed by the Board of Trustees against any 

Practitioner as the result of any professional review activity.  

 

 REQUESTS FOR CLINICAL PRIVILEGES 

 

Section 1. Threshold Criteria. 

 

A. All requests for clinical privileges will be judged on the basis of established 

threshold requirements consisting of criteria specifying the minimum amount of 

education, training, experience, and evidence of competency required. 

 

B. Recommended threshold requirements will be generated by the Credentials 

Committee in consultation with the appropriate Department Chair. Recommended 

threshold requirements will then be submitted to the Medical Executive Committee for 

57/196



40 

 

comments as well as to the Governing Board. Following the review of the Credentials 

Committee recommendations, as well as comments of the Medical Executive 

Committee, the Governing Board will then take action to establish final threshold 

requirements.  

 

C. All Applicants will be provided with the currently approved description of threshold 

requirements for particular clinical privileges requested.  

 

D. Any request for clinical privileges for which there are no existing approved threshold 

requirements will be tabled for a period not to exceed ninety (90) calendar days. During 

this time, the Credentials Committee shall generate and submit recommended 

requirements to the MEC and Governing Board. Processing of the request will resume 

when the requirements are approved by the Governing Board.  

 

Section 2. Requesting Clinical Privileges.  

 

A. All Practitioners shall be entitled to exercise only those clinical privileges specifically 

granted to him or her by the Board of Trustees.   

 

B. Every initial application for appointment must contain a request for the specific 

clinical privileges desired by the applicant if any.  Any request for new, modified or 

expanded clinical privileges shall be made by an application, processed in the manner 

described in these Bylaws (and in Medical Staff Rule or policy to the extent not 

inconsistent with these Bylaws).  The Department Chair, Credentials Committee and 

Medical Executive Committee, in evaluating such clinical privilege requests, shall 

evaluate the applicant’s ability to provide patient care, treatment, and services within 

the scope of the clinical privilege(s) requested.   

1. Each applicant for clinical privileges shall submit and follow a satisfactory 

plan of care coverage for his/her Hospital inpatients and for Hospital services 

utilized, as further described by Medical Staff Rule or Policy and included in 

the credentialing information provided to each applicant. 

2. The Medical Executive Committee’s evaluation of each application for clinical 

privileges shall be based upon the applicant's licensure, education, and training, 

experience and demonstrated competence (including data from professional 

practice review by an organization that currently privileges the applicant, if 

applicable), peer and/or faculty references and recommendations, 

demonstrated physical ability to perform the requested privilege, and other 

relevant information, including appraisal by the Department in which such 

clinical privileges are sought. All such information shall be verified with the 

primary source, except for telemedicine practitioners covered by a written 

credentialing agreement between the Hospital and the telemedicine 

practitioner’s Distant Site, as set out in these Bylaws.  The applicant shall have 

the burden of establishing his or her qualifications and competency to exercise 

the clinical privileges he or she requests.  

 

 

 

58/196



41 

 

C. The Medical Executive Committee must delineate, in each clinical privilege 

recommendation to the Board, the clinical privileges it recommends granting for every 

Medical Staff member or Practitioner privileged through the Medical Staff privileging 

process. 

 

D. Before granting or renewing a clinical privilege, the Department Chair, Credentials 

Committee and Medical Executive Committee shall review, and each shall base its 

recommendation on, relevant information gathered through the credentialing process, 

which shall include: 

1. Challenges to any licensure or registration; 

2. Voluntary and involuntary relinquishment of any license or registration; 

3. Voluntary and involuntary termination of any Medical Staff membership; 

4. Voluntary and involuntary limitation, reduction, or loss of clinical privileges; 

5. Any evidence of an unusual pattern or an excessive number of professional 

liability actions resulting in settlement or final judgment against the applicant; 

6. Documentation as to the applicant’s health status; 

7. Relevant practitioner-specific clinical data compared to aggregate clinical data, 

when available;  

8. Evidence of demonstrated competence as established by the Hospital’s quality 

improvement processes and program (for a practitioner that has previously 

practiced at the Hospital); 

10. Evidence of practitioner’s adherence to Hospital policies and procedures (for 

a practitioner that has previously practiced at the Hospital); 

11. Results of the credentialing and re-credentialing process;  

12. Participation in continuing education; 

13. The current availability (or availability within a specified time frame) in the 

Hospital of the resources necessary to support the exercise of the privilege;  

14. Morbidity and mortality data applicable to the practitioner’s practice, when 

available; and 

15. Any publicly available information that may bear on any of the foregoing, 

including but not limited to public records, publicly available reviews, public 

social media posts, and similar information; and 

16. Such supplementary or additional matters as the Medical Executive Committee 

deems relevant. 

 

E. Upon application for renewal of clinical privileges, when insufficient applicant-

specific data are available, the Medical Staff shall do one of the following in order to 

assess the applicant’s medical/clinical knowledge, technical and clinical skills, clinical 

judgment, interpersonal skills, communication skills, and professionalism: 

1. Obtain and evaluate peer recommendations for the practitioner. A “peer” for 

purposes of these Bylaws means a practitioner in the same professional 

discipline as the applicant, with personal knowledge of the applicant’s ability 

to practice; or 

2. Obtain clinical practice data from an institution where the practitioner is active 

at and/or holds current, unrestricted privileges.   

 

59/196



42 

 

F. In order to obtain additional privileges, an applicant must make written application on 

the prescribed form, which must state the type of additional clinical privileges 

requested and recent special training and experience.  Such application shall be 

processed in the same manner, and the same criteria shall be considered, as for an 

initial application for clinical privileges. 

 

G. In the event a request for a privilege is submitted for a new technology, a procedure 

new to the Hospital, an existing procedure used in a significantly different manner, or 

involving a cross-specialty privilege for which no criteria have been established, the 

request shall be made to the Credentials Committee, through the Medical Staff Office.  

The request may be tabled by the Credentials Committee for a reasonable period of 

time, usually not to exceed sixty (60) calendar days. During this time the Credentials 

Committee, with input from the relevant Medical Staff Department(s), will review the 

community, patient, and Hospital need for the services to be provided through the 

exercise of the privilege. After consultation with the Hospital’s management, the 

Credential’s Committee will make a recommendation to the Medical Executive 

Committee with respect to whether the privilege should be approved.  The Credentials 

Committee’s review and consultation shall include: 

1. Review of the efficacy and clinical viability of the requested privilege and 

confirm that this privilege is approved for use in the setting-specific area of the 

Hospital by appropriate regulatory agencies (FDA, OSHA, etc.);  

2. Meeting with Hospital management to ensure that the new privilege is 

consistent with the Hospital’s mission, values, strategic, operating, capital, 

information, and staffing plans; and  

3. Working with the Hospital’s administration to ensure that any/all exclusive 

contract issues, if applicable, are resolved in such a way to allow the new or  

 cross-specialty privileges in question to be provided without violating the 

existing contract, if reasonably possible. 

 

H. Upon recommendation from the Credentials Committee and appropriate Medical Staff 

Department, the Medical Executive Committee will review the necessary criteria and 

recommend these to the Board. Once objective criteria have been established, the 

original request will be processed as described herein:  

1. For the development of criteria, the Medical Staff Office will compile 

information relevant to the privileges requested which may include, but need 

not be limited to, position and opinion papers from specialty organizations, 

white papers from the Credentialing Resource Center and others as available, 

position and opinion statements from interested individuals or groups, and 

documentation from other Hospitals in the region as appropriate;  

2. Criteria to be established for the privilege in question may be delineated in a 

Medical Staff policy and may include education, training, board certification 

status or other certification (if applicable), experience, and evidence of current 

competence. Hospital-related issues such as exclusive contracts, equipment, 

clinical support staff, and management will be referred to the appropriate 

Hospital administrator and/or Department Chair; and  

60/196



43 

 

3. If the new clinical privileges requested overlap two (2) or more specialty 

disciplines, an ad hoc committee may be appointed by the Credentials 

Committee Chair to recommend criteria for the clinical privilege in question. 

This committee will consist of at least one (1), but not more than two (2), 

members from each involved discipline. The Chair of the ad hoc committee 

will be a member of the Credentials Committee who has no direct or indirect 

pecuniary interest in the outcome of the decision. 

 

 

Section 3. Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE). 

 

A. Each individual granted clinical privileges at the Hospital shall undergo a period of 

focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE) for such privileges immediately after 

such clinical privileges are granted.  Existing Providers requesting new privileges shall 

also undergo a period of FPPE.  

 

B. FPPE shall also be conducted by the Professional Practice Evaluation Committee 

(PPEC), Medical Executive Committee, or its authorized designee, upon the 

occurrence of any “triggering event”.  A triggering event shall include, but is not 

limited to, an event or trend in a Medical Staff member’s professional practice that 

reasonably causes the Professional Practice Evaluation Committee (PPEC) or Medical 

Executive Committee to question the individual’s ability to exercise one or more 

clinical privileges granted or Medical Staff duties, rights and/or obligations in a 

manner that is consistent with the provision of safe, high-quality patient care in the 

Hospital.   

 

C. The FPPE process shall be described in a Medical Staff Rule or policy.  The purpose 

of the FPPE shall be to evaluate the Medical Staff member’s proficiency in the exercise 

of clinical privileges granted.  The FPPE shall follow the frequency and format as 

described in the Rule or policy, and shall apply to all initial grants of clinical 

privileges; as the result of data evaluated during Ongoing Professional Practice 

Evaluation (OPPE); when performance issues occur; and when an existing Practitioner 

requests a new privilege. 

 

Section 4. Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE). 

The Medical Staff shall, on an ongoing basis, determine whether each individual granted clinical 

privileges is currently competent to exercise those clinical privileges and whether such clinical 

privileges should be continued for the remaining period of the grant, restricted or terminated.  Such 

determination shall be based upon the direct observation of care provided, review of the records of 

patients treated in the Hospital or other hospitals, and review of the records of the Medical Staff, 

which document the evaluation of the individual’s participation in the delivery of medical care.  All 

Medical Staff members, including Non-Physician Providers granted clinical privileges to provide a 

medical level of care, shall be obligated to provide sufficient data regarding the exercise of those 

clinical privileges, on an ongoing basis, to demonstrate the Practitioner’s current competence to 

exercise those privileges.  Such ongoing professional practice evaluation (OPPE) shall be performed 

as described in the relevant Medical Staff Rule or policy.  

61/196



44 

 

 

Section 5. Call Coverage. 

  

A. Practitioners granted a sufficient level of clinical privileges shall provide a reasonable 

amount of coverage for the Hospital’s Emergency Department, and other Departments 

as necessary, to ensure that the Hospital meets its coverage obligations under federal 

and state law, including but not limited to the Emergency Medical Treatment and 

Active Labor Act (EMTALA).  The Medical Executive Committee will determine 

what call coverage is reasonable and may, by Rule or Policy, prescribe further 

processes, requirements, and obligations under this Section.  The Medical Executive 

Committee may, by policy, permit exceptions to the obligation to provide call 

coverage based on the Practitioner’s years of service to the Hospital, or for other 

reasons, so long as any such exception does not negatively impact the Hospital’s 

ability to meet its obligation under EMTALA, or similar state law, to provide coverage 

for its Emergency Department on an on-call basis.   

 

B. If the Hospital administration determines that call coverage for any particular specialty 

is best provided by contracting with one or more Practitioners or Non-Physician 

Providers to provide coverage, this obligation shall be suspended for such individuals 

for the duration of the contract, and for all other Practitioners and/or Non-Physician 

Providers of the same specialty to the extent coverage is provided by contracted 

individuals. 

 

 

Section 6. Temporary Privileges. 

Temporary Privileges constitute temporary permissions to attend patients at the Hospital.  Temporary 

Privileges are distinguished from the privileges of the Hospital in that they are not based upon a 

complete review of credentials and are granted or revoked by the Chief of Staff, Chief Executive 

Officer, and Department Chair.  Temporary Privileges are granted to fulfill an important patient care, 

treatment, or service need. Temporary Privileges may be revoked or withdrawn at any time, with or 

without cause.  Temporary Privileges may be granted only for a specific period of time, and shall 

automatically expire at the end of the specified period, without recourse by the Practitioner under the 

Medical Staff Bylaws.  Temporary Privileges are granted only under the following circumstances and 

subject to the following conditions. 

 

A. Circumstances for Granting Temporary Privileges.   

Upon the recommendation of the Chair of the Department where the privilege will be 

exercised and the Chief of Staff, the Chief Executive Officer may grant Temporary 

Privileges in the following circumstances: 

1. After receipt of an application for Medical Staff appointment, an appropriately 

licensed Applicant may be granted Temporary Privileges, for an initial period 

of sixty (60) days, with subsequent renewal not to exceed 120 days in a 365-

day period.  In exercising such privileges, the Applicant shall act under the 

supervision of the Chair of the Department to which he or she is assigned or is 

appointed; 

62/196



45 

 

2. When an applicant for new clinical privileges with a complete application that 

raises no concerns is awaiting review and approval by the Credentials 

Committee.   

 

B. Application, Review, and Term of Temporary Privileges. 

1. As part of each application for Temporary Privileges, the applicant shall 

acknowledge in writing that he or she has received and read copies of the 

Medical Staff's Bylaws, Rules, and Regulations and that he or she agrees to be 

bound by the terms, thereof, in all matters concerning his or her Temporary 

Privileges.   

2. Temporary Clinical Privileges shall only be granted after the Medical Staff 

Office has verified the applicant’s appropriate Wyoming licensure, relevant 

training and experience, malpractice coverage, NPDB query, and current 

competence and ability to exercise such Temporary Privileges.  In addition, 

Temporary Privileges shall be granted to applicants for new clinical privileges 

only if the applicant has submitted a complete application, there are no current 

or previously successful challenges to the applicant’s licensure or registration, 

or involuntary termination of Medical Staff membership, or involuntary 

limitation, reduction, denial or loss of clinical privileges, at another 

organization. 

3. Temporary Privileges shall be granted for no more than 120 consecutive days 

when granted while an application for new clinical privileges is pending.  In 

all cases, Temporary Privileges shall automatically expire, without notice to 

the Practitioner or Non-Physician Provider, no later than 120 consecutive days 

from the date of granting.   

 

 

Section 7. Emergency Privileges for Care of a Specific Patient. 

In the case of an emergency, any Medical Staff member to the degree permitted by his or her license 

and regardless of Medical Staff status or lack of it, shall be permitted and assisted to do everything 

possible to save the life of a patient, using every facility of the Hospital necessary to continue to treat 

the patient.  In the event, the individual treating the patient does not request such clinical privileges 

as would be necessary to continue treating the patient after the emergency has passed, or if such 

clinical privileges are applied for and denied, the patient shall be assigned to an appropriate Medical 

Staff member or Practitioner as soon as reasonably possible.  For the purpose of this section, an 

"emergency" is defined as a condition in which serious permanent harm would result to a patient or 

in which the life of a patient is in immediate danger and any delay in administering treatment would 

add to that danger. 

 

 

Section 8. Disaster Privileges during a Declared Disaster. 

 

A. “Disaster privileges” may be granted to Physicians who are not members of the 

Medical Staff or Non-Physician Providers who have not been appointed as Non-

Physician Providers during any “disaster”, which is any officially declared emergency, 

whether it is local, state or national, when the Emergency Management Plan has been 

63/196



46 

 

activated and the Hospital is unable to handle the immediate patient needs.  The 

decision to grant disaster privileges to a Practitioner is at the sole discretion of the 

Chief of Staff, or his or her authorized designee, and will be made on a case-by-case 

basis, determined by the needs of the patient population and Hospital at the time of the 

disaster. 

 

B. During such disaster, disaster privileges may be granted by the Chief of Staff, or his 

or her designee, to any licensed Physician (to include emeritus and volunteer licensees) 

or Non-Physician Provider (a “disaster Practitioner”) upon presentation of the 

identification outlined in the appropriate Medical Staff policy (which shall require at 

least a valid government-issued photo ID, and another form of identification described 

in the policy).  The Chief of Staff will assign the disaster Practitioner to provide 

services in a clinical area of the Hospital.  The professional performance of each 

disaster Practitioner will be overseen by a Medical Staff member in the same specialty 

or Department. As soon as possible, once the immediate situation is under control, the 

Medical Staff Office will initiate primary source verification of the Practitioner’s 

credentials including verification of current licensure, relevant training and 

experience, and current competence.  The primary source credentials verification 

process shall be completed for Practitioners exercising disaster privileges within 

seventy-two (72) hours from the time the disaster privileges were granted.  If this is 

not possible due to extraordinary circumstances, the process will be done as soon as 

possible and the circumstances, credentialing efforts, and the disaster Practitioner’s 

demonstrated ability to continue to provide adequate care, treatment and services will 

be appropriately documented.  The Hospital will decide within 72 hours whether to 

continue the disaster privileges initially assigned, based on its oversight of the 

Practitioner’s performance.  Primary source verification is not required if the disaster 

Practitioner has not provided care, treatment or services using the disaster privileges.  

 

C. Refer to the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Disaster Privileges policy for 

specific details of this process.  

 

 

Section 9. Telemedicine Privileges. 

Practitioners who are responsible for the patient’s care, treatment, and services via a telemedicine link 

shall be credentialed and privileged to do so by the Hospital in accordance with the Bylaws, 

accreditation requirements, and applicable law.  If the Hospital has a pressing clinical need and the 

Practitioner can supply that service through a telemedicine link, the Practitioner may be evaluated for 

Temporary Privileges in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 6.  Practitioners 

providing telemedicine services to Hospital patients shall be credentialed and privileged to do so 

through one of the following mechanisms: 

 

A. The Practitioner shall be credentialed and privileged by the Hospital in accordance 

with the applicable procedure set forth in these Bylaws. 

 

B. The Practitioner shall be credentialed and privileged by the Hospital in accordance 

with the applicable procedure set forth in these Bylaws with the exception that the 

64/196



47 

 

credentialing information and/or privileging decision from the distant site may be 

relied upon by the Medical Staff and the Governing Board in making its 

recommendations/decision, provided that the Hospital has entered into a written 

agreement with the distant site and all of the following requirements are met: 

1. The clinical services offered via a telemedicine link are consistent with 

commonly accepted quality standards. 

2. The Medical Staff recommends which clinical services are appropriately 

delivered by Practitioners through a telemedicine link.  

3. The distant site is a Medicare-certified Hospital or a facility that qualifies as a 

“distant site telemedicine entity.” A “distant site telemedicine entity” is defined 

as an entity that (i) provides telemedicine services, (ii) is not a Medicare-

certified Hospital, and (ii) provides contracted services in a manner that 

enables Hospitals using its services to meet all applicable conditions of 

participation, particularly those requirements related to the credentialing and 

privileging of Practitioners providing telemedicine services to the patients of 

the Hospital; 

4. When the distant site is a Medicare-certified Hospital, the written agreement 

shall specify that it is the responsibility of the distant site Hospital to meet the 

credentialing requirements of 42 C.F.R. 482.12 (a)(1) through (a)(9), as that 

provision may be amended from time to time, with regard to the distant site 

Hospital Practitioners providing telemedicine services; and 

5. When the distant site is a “distant site telemedicine entity” the written 

agreement shall specify that the distant site telemedicine entity is a contractor 

of services to the Hospital and, as such, furnishes the contracted services in a 

manner that permits the Hospital to comply with all applicable conditions of 

participation for the contracted services including, but not limited to, 42 C.F.R. 

482.12 (a)(1) through (a)(9) with regard to the distant site telemedicine entity 

Practitioners providing telemedicine services. The written agreement shall 

further specify that the distant site telemedicine entity’s medical staff 

credentialing and privileging process and standards will, at minimum, meet the 

standards at 42 C.F.R. 482.12 (a)(1) through (a)(9), as that provision may be 

amended from time to time. 

 

C. The individual distant site Practitioner is privileged at the distant site for those services 

to be provided to Hospital patients via telemedicine link and the Hospital is provided 

with a current list of his/her privileges at the distant site. 

 

D. The individual distant site Practitioner holds an appropriate license issued by the State 

of Wyoming by the appropriate licensing entity. 

 

E. The Hospital maintains documentation of its internal review of the performance of 

each distant site Practitioner and sends the distant site such performance information 

for use in the distant site’s periodic appraisal of the distant site Practitioner. At a 

minimum, this information must include:  

 

 

65/196



48 

 

1. All adverse events that result from the telemedicine services provided by the 

distant site Practitioner to Hospital patients; and 

2. All complaints the Hospital receives about the distant site Practitioner. 

 

 

 SUSPENSIONS & RESTRICTIONS  

 

Section 1. Immediate Suspension or Restriction to Protect a Patient.  

 

A. Criteria for Initiation.  Whenever the conduct of a Practitioner  requires that immediate 

action be taken to protect the life of any patient or to reduce the substantial likelihood 

of immediate injury or damage to the health or safety of any patient, employee or other 

person present in the Hospital either the Chief of Staff, the appropriate Department 

Chair, the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designated representative shall have 

the authority to immediately act to restrict, suspend or otherwise limit the Medical 

Staff membership status, Non-Physician Provider status, or all or any portion of the 

clinical privileges, of the affected practitioner.  Prior to imposing such suspension, the 

person(s) imposing the suspension shall form a good faith, reasonable belief that such 

suspension is reasonably necessary for one of the purposes described above.  As soon 

as possible after forming such belief, the person(s) imposing the suspension shall 

record the factual bases for such belief.  The suspension shall become effective 

immediately upon imposition, and the Chief Executive Officer shall promptly give 

notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the suspension to the affected 

Practitioner and shall make all reasonable efforts to provide immediate notice, in 

person, of such immediate suspension to the Practitioner.  In the event of any such 

suspension, the affected Practitioner's patients then in the Hospital whose treatment by 

such Practitioner is terminated by the immediate suspension shall be assigned to 

another Medical Staff member by the Department Chair.  The wishes of the patient 

shall be considered, where feasible, in choosing the substitute. 

 

B. Medical Executive Committee Action.  As soon as possible after such action and 

within fourteen (14) days after such immediate action has been imposed, a meeting of 

the Medical Executive Committee shall be convened to review and consider the action 

taken.  The Medical Executive Committee may modify, continue or terminate the 

terms of the action. 

 

C. Procedural Rights.  Unless the Medical Executive Committee's action terminates the 

action and to cease all further corrective action, the affected Practitioner shall be 

entitled to the procedural rights as provided in the hearing and appeal process once 

the restriction or suspension lasts more than fourteen (14) days.  

 

D. Impaired Practitioner. The Medical Staff identifies and manages matters related to 

the health of Medical Staff members in the interest of protecting patients from harm 

that may result in the event a Practitioner becomes impaired due to physical, 

psychiatric, or emotional illness or condition, including but not limited to alcohol 

66/196



49 

 

and/or substance abuse (“Impaired” or “Impairment”) that interferes with the ability 

of the Practitioner to engage safely in professional activities. In addition, the Medical 

Staff manages these matters to assist the rehabilitation of, and to aid Medical Staff 

members in retaining or regaining optimal professional functioning. The reporting 

procedure, investigation, and discipline if necessary, of Medical Staff members will 

be done as appropriate and as outlined in Medical Staff Rule and/or policy.  

 

Section 2. Automatic Suspension. 

Under any of the circumstances described below, a Medical Staff member’s status, and clinical 

privileges relevant to the circumstances, shall be suspended, restricted or revoked, as appropriate 

under the circumstances by the Chief of Staff.  Such action shall be deemed imposed effective 

immediately upon the occurrence of any the circumstances and shall be communicated to the 

Practitioner in writing, as soon as possible after such imposition.  No Practitioner shall be entitled to 

any of the hearing or appeal rights described in these Bylaws; as such suspension, restriction or 

revocation shall not be considered “corrective action”, but a failure to meet the basic requirements of 

Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges, as applicable. 

 

 A. License. 

1. Revocation.  Whenever a Medical Staff member’s license, certificate or other 

legal credentials authorizing him or her to practice in Wyoming are revoked, 

his or her Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges or specified 

services shall be immediately and automatically revoked. 

2. Restriction.  Whenever a Medical Staff member’s license, certification or other 

legal credentials to practice his or her profession are limited or restricted by 

the applicable licensing or certifying authority, those Medical Staff rights and 

clinical privileges which he or she has been granted that are within the scope 

of said limitation or restriction shall be immediately and automatically 

suspended. 

3. Suspension.  Whenever a Medical Staff member’s license, certification, or 

other legal credentials to practice his or her profession are suspended his or her 

Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges shall be automatically 

suspended effective upon and for at least the term of suspension. 

4. Probation.  Whenever a Medical Staff member is placed on probation by the 

applicable licensing or certifying authority, his or her voting and office holding 

prerogatives shall be automatically suspended effective upon and for at least 

the term of the probation. 

 

B. Controlled Substance Number. 

1. Revocation, expiration or lapse.  Whenever a Medical Staff member’s Drug 

Enforcement Agency (DEA) or other controlled substance number or 

registration is revoked, expires or lapses, with or without his or her knowledge, 

he or she shall immediately and automatically be divested at least of his or her 

right to prescribe medications covered by the number. 

 

 

 

67/196



50 

 

2. Suspension.  Whenever a Medical Staff member’s DEA or other controlled 

substance number or registration is suspended he or she shall be divested at 

least of his or her right to prescribe medications covered by the number 

effective upon and for at least the term of the suspension. 

 

C. Failure to Maintain Liability Coverage.  Failure to maintain the minimum professional 

liability coverage as required by the Bylaws, the Rules and Regulations, and/or the 

Policies, shall result in immediate suspension of Medical Staff membership and clinical 

privileges. Upon the Practitioner’s provision of proof of adequate coverage to the 

Chief of Staff, his/her clinical privileges shall be reinstated. 

 

D. Medical Records.  For failure to complete medical records in a timely fashion, 

pursuant to the Medical Staff Rules and/or policies, the Medical Staff member’s 

clinical privileges shall be automatically suspended and his or her voting and office 

holding prerogatives shall be automatically suspended and shall, after written warning 

of the delinquency, as outlined in the Medical Staff Rules or policies, remain 

suspended until all outstanding medical records are completed. If the Medical Staff 

member fails to complete medical records in a timely fashion, on a frequent basis, the 

Medical Executive Committee may recommend to the Board of Trustees that the 

individual’s Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges be suspended for a 

specified period or revoked, in whole or in part. 

 

E. Medicare, Medicaid or other Federal Programs.  Any Medical Staff member listed on 

the United States Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Inspector 

General’s List of Excluded Individuals/Entities will be considered to have 

automatically relinquished his or her Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges 

that had been granted. Whenever a Medical Staff member is sanctioned, but not 

excluded, by Medicare, Medicaid, TRICARE, or other federal programs, the Medical 

Executive Committee shall consider imposing a similar restriction on the individual’s 

Medical Staff status and clinical privileges as of the date such sanction becomes 

effective. 

 

F. Felony/Misdemeanor Conviction.  A Medical Staff member who has been convicted 

of or pled "guilty" or "no contest" to a felony or to a misdemeanor involving the 

practice of his or her profession or a charge of moral turpitude in any jurisdiction shall 

be automatically deemed to have relinquished his or her Medical Staff membership 

and clinical privileges. Such relinquishment shall become effective immediately upon 

such conviction or plea regardless of whether an appeal is filed. Such relinquishment 

shall remain in effect until the matter is resolved by subsequent action of the Board of 

Trustees or through corrective action, if necessary.  

 

G. Failure to maintain demonstrated physical ability to perform granted clinical 

privileges.  If the Chief of Staff, based on reliable information, has reasonable doubt 

about a Medical Staff member’s continued physical or mental ability to exercise any 

right or privilege or Medical Staff membership, or exercise any clinical privilege, such 

individual may be considered an “impaired practitioner”.  In that case, the Medical 

Staff Rule or policy relating to impaired practitioners shall be followed, which may 

68/196



51 

 

include (but not be limited to) immediate suspension, restriction or condition of such 

right or privilege of Medical Staff membership and clinical privilege, as outlined 

therein. 

 

 Corrective Action 

 

Section 1. Corrective Action. 

 

A. Criteria for Initiation.  Corrective action may be initiated whenever a Medical Staff 

member (to the extent otherwise described in these Bylaws) (the “affected 

Practitioner”) is suspected of any of the following: 

1. The use of any false, fraudulent or forged statements or documents, or any 

material misstatements or omissions from the appointment application, re-

appointment application, or any fraudulent or deceitful practice in connection 

with the process of obtaining an appointment or clinical privileges; 

2. Any physical or mental disability or deterioration, which renders the practice 

of medicine or surgery dangerous. 

3. The performance of any dishonest, unethical or unprofessional conduct likely 

to deceive, defraud or harm the Medical Staff, the Hospital or the public; 

4. The habitual use of drug or intoxicant to such a degree as to render one unsafe 

or unfit to practice medicine or surgery; 

5. The aiding or abetting in the practice of medicine without a license or the 

provision of services in the Hospital by a person not granted appropriate 

clinical privileges by the Board of Trustees. 

6. The manifest incapacity to practice medicine due to any cause; 

7. Lack of current competence to exercise one or more clinical privileges 

previously granted and currently held by the practitioner; 

8. Practicing below the applicable standard of care for his or her profession; 

9. Unprofessional or dishonorable conduct, which includes but not limited to:  

a. Any conduct or practice contrary to recognized standards of ethics of 

the medical profession, conduct or practice which does or might 

constitute a danger to the health or safety of a patient or the public, or 

any conduct, practice, or condition which does or might impair a 

physician's ability to safely and skillfully practice medicine;  

b. Willful and consistent utilization of medical services or treatment, 

which is inappropriate or unnecessary; 

c. Gross negligence, gross malpractice or repeated malpractice; 

d. Failure to abide by the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules or policies. 

10. Disruptive behavior is defined and explained in the Medical Staff Code of 

Conduct (attached in appendix).  

 

B. Human Resources. In determining whether to proceed further with corrective action, 

MEC may make an inquiry to the Human Resources Department for additional 

information the HR Department may have in relation to the potential corrective action. 

Such an inquiry is not an investigation as defined in Section 4 below. After making an 

69/196



52 

 

initial probable cause determination, MEC may either act on the request or direct, in 

writing, upon notice to the provider, a formal investigation. 

 

C. Requests and Notices.  After deliberation, the Medical Executive Committee may either 

act on the request or direct an investigation concerning the grounds for the corrective 

action requested.   

 

Section 2. Investigation. 

 

A. The Medical Executive Committee may conduct such investigation itself or may 

assign the task to an officer, an appropriate clinical committee, or an ad hoc committee 

of the Medical Staff.  Prior to the Medical Executive Committee's making of a 

recommendation to the Board of Trustees, the affected Practitioner shall be advised of 

the request for corrective action.  The affected Practitioner may, in the discretion of 

the Medical Executive Committee, or any person or committee delegated to conduct 

the investigation, be afforded an opportunity for an interview with the investigating 

body, at which that person may present such information as he or she deems 

appropriate.  The investigation process shall not be deemed a hearing, and shall not 

give rise to any procedural rights. Note: Investigations are not reported to the NPDB. 

However, withdrawal of a renewal application for licensure or certification, or failure 

to renew, while the state licensure or certification authority is investigating the 

applicant is reportable. 

 

B. If the investigation is accomplished by a person or committee other than the Medical 

Executive Committee, that person or committee shall forward a written report to the 

Medical Executive Committee.  The Medical Executive Committee shall provide a 

copy of the report to the affected practitioner, and may, in its discretion, invite him or 

her to comment prior to acting on the report.  The Medical Executive Committee may, 

at any time, terminate the investigation with action as provided below. 

 

Section 3. Medical Executive Committee Action. 

As soon as is practicable after the conclusion of the investigation process, if any, but in any event 

within twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the request for corrective action unless deferred as 

described below, the Medical Executive Committee shall take action upon such requests.  The CEO 

will be notified of any action in conjunction with corrective action. Such action may include, 

without limitation, a report to the Board of Trustees: 

 

A. Recommending rejection of the request for corrective action; 

 

B. Recommending a warning, a letter of admonition, or a letter of reprimand; 

 

C. Recommending terms of probation or individual requirements of consultation; or 

 

 

70/196



53 

 

D. Recommending reduction, suspension, or revocation of Medical Staff membership or 

clinical privileges, in whole or in part; or 

 

E.  Recommending an education or evaluation program, such as the Center for 

Personalized Education for Physicians (CPEP), or Acumen. 

 

Section 4. Procedural Rights. 

Any recommendation by the Medical Executive Committee pursuant to Section 5.C (if the 

probation or requirement of consultation constitutes a restriction or limitation on the affected 

Practitioner’s Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges) or D above shall be accompanied 

by all supporting documentation and entitle the Practitioner to the procedural rights as provided in 

the hearing and appeal process described in Article XVIII. 

 

Section 5. Board Actions. 

 

A. Board of Trustees’ action to adopt a Medical Executive Committee recommendation 

without substantive modification shall conclude the matter. The Chief Executive 

Officer shall give notice of final decision to the Physician by certified mail, return 

receipt requested.   

 

B. If the Board's proposed action will modify substantially the Medical Executive 

Committee's recommendation adverse to the affected Physician, or if the Board's 

proposed action is otherwise adverse to the affected Physician, the Chief Executive 

Officer shall promptly so notify the affected Physician by certified mail, return receipt 

requested, that he or she shall be entitled to the procedural rights as provided in the 

Fair Hearing Process (Article XVIII.) 

 

C. If the recommendation is favorable to the affected Physician, the Board may act upon 

it immediately without holding a fair hearing.  If the recommended action is adverse, 

and the Board determines that it is complete, and not contrary to the Bylaws or any 

provision of law, the Chief Executive Officer shall promptly so inform the affected 

Physician by certified mail, return receipt requested, and the affected Physician shall 

be entitled to the procedural rights provided in the Fair Hearing Process outlined in 

Article XVIII. 

 

  FAIR HEARING PROCESS 

 

Section 1. Initiation of Hearing. 

 

A. Any Physician eligible for Medical Staff appointment and eligible to be granted 

clinical privileges shall be entitled to request a hearing whenever an adverse 

recommendation based on the affected Practitioner’s clinical competence or 

professional conduct has been made by the Medical Executive Committee or the Board 

71/196



54 

 

of Trustees. Hearings will occur only when requested for the following actions related 

to the Practitioner’s clinical competence or professional conduct and when those 

actions last more than fourteen (14) days:  

1. Denial of Medical Staff appointment or reappointment;   

2. Revocation of Medical Staff appointment;  

3. Denial or restriction of requested clinical privileges;  

4. Involuntary reduction or revocation of clinical privileges;  

5. Application of a consultation requirement before the affected Practitioner can 

exercise clinical privileges, or an increase in the stringency of a similar pre-

existing consultation requirement when such requirement is imposed for more 

than fourteen (14) calendar days; or  

6. Summary suspension of Medical Staff appointment or clinical privileges, but 

only if such suspension is for more than fourteen (14) calendar days and is not 

caused by the Practitioner’s failure to complete medical records or any other 

reason unrelated to clinical competence or professional conduct.  

 

B. A recommendation or action listed in subsection A above shall be deemed adverse 

only when it has been: 

1. Recommended by the Medical Executive Committee;  

2. Taken by the Board contrary to a favorable recommendation by the Medical 

Executive Committee under circumstances where no right to hearing existed; 

or 

3. Taken by the Board on its initiative without the benefit of a prior 

recommendation by the Medical Executive Committee. 

 

C. The following actions are examples, but not an exhaustive list, of actions which all 

members of and applicants to the Medical Staff agree, will not give rise to a hearing 

under this Article:  

1. Issuance of a letter of guidance, warning, or reprimand;  

2. The imposition of a requirement for proctoring (i.e., observation of the 

individual’s performance by a peer in order to provide information to a Medical 

Staff committee) with no restriction on clinical privileges;  

3. Failure to process a request for a clinical privilege when the applicant does not 

meet the eligibility criteria to hold that privilege;  

4. Conducting an investigation into any matter or the appointment of an ad hoc 

investigation committee;  

5. The requirement to appear for a special meeting under the provisions of these 

Bylaws;  

6. Automatic relinquishment or voluntary resignation of appointment or clinical 

privileges;  

7. The imposition of an immediate suspension to protect a patient or automatic 

suspension, that does not exceed fourteen (14) calendar days or that has not 

been imposed by reason of the affected Practitioner’s professional conduct or 

competence;  

8. Denial of a request for leave of absence, or for an extension of leave;  

9. The determination that an application is incomplete or untimely;  

72/196



55 

 

10. Determination that an application will not be processed due to misstatement or 

omission;  

11. Termination or limitation of temporary privileges unless for reasons of 

competence or professional conduct;  

12. The determination that an applicant for Medical Staff membership does not 

meet the requisite qualifications/criteria for such membership;  

13. Ineligibility to request Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges or 

continue privileges because a relevant specialty is closed under a Medical Staff 

development plan or covered under an exclusive provider agreement;  

14. The imposition of supervision pending completion of an investigation to 

determine whether corrective action is warranted;  

15. Termination of any contract with or employment by the Hospital;  

16. Proctoring, monitoring, and any other performance monitoring requirements 

imposed in order to fulfill any accrediting body standards on focused 

professional practice evaluation;  

17. Any recommendation voluntarily accepted by the affected Practitioner;  

18. Expiration of Medical Staff membership because of failure to submit an 

application for reappointment within the allowable time period;  

19. Change in assigned Medical Staff category;   

20. Refusal of the Credentials Committee or Medical Executive Committee to 

consider a request for appointment, reappointment, or clinical privileges within 

five (5) years of a final adverse decision regarding such request;  

21. Removal, reduction or limitations of emergency Department call obligations;  

22. Any requirement to complete an educational assessment;  

23. Retrospective chart review;  

24. Any requirement to complete a health and/or psychiatric/psychological 

assessment required under these Bylaws or by Medical Staff Rules and 

Regulations or policies;  

25. Grant of conditional appointment or appointment, or grant of clinical 

privileges, for a limited duration; or  

26. Appointment or reappointment for the duration of less than twenty-four (24) 

months.  

 

 

Section 3. Hearings. 

 

A. Adverse Medical Executive Committee Recommendations. 

1. Whenever the Medical Executive Committee makes an adverse 

recommendation to the Board of Trustees, the Chief of Staff shall give 

immediate notice of said recommendation to the affected Physician, by 

certified mail, return receipt requested, and by personal delivery to the 

Physician in the Hospital, if possible.  The Chief of Staff shall also provide the 

affected Physician, upon request, with copies of all supporting documentation 

that is not privileged or confidential under applicable law.  The affected 

 

 

73/196



56 

 

 Physician shall be advised of his or her rights to a full administrative hearing 

before the Board of Trustees in accordance with the Hearing and Appeal 

Process. 

2. If the affected Physician fails to request a hearing within thirty (30) days of 

notification of the adverse recommendation, the right to a hearing shall be 

deemed waived and the Board may, in its discretion, adopt the 

recommendation as to its final action in the matter. 

3. If the affected Physician requests a hearing, he or she shall be afforded one 

within a reasonable time before the Board of Trustees in accordance with these 

Bylaws.  

4. In the event of immediate suspension pursuant to these Bylaws, the affected 

Physician shall be afforded a hearing within fourteen (14) days, unless an 

extension is requested or agreed to by the practitioner in writing. 

 

 

Section 4. Hearing and Appeal Process. 

 

A. Substantial Compliance; Exclusive Process.  This Section describes the exclusive 

process by which an affected Physician may exercise his or her right to a fair hearing 

on and appeal of the Medical Executive Committee’s adverse recommendation.  

Technical, non-prejudicial or insubstantial deviations from the procedures set forth in 

these Bylaws shall not be grounds for invalidating the action taken. The Medical Staff 

may add to and implement this process by Rule or policy, to the extent not inconsistent 

with these Bylaws.   

 

B. Waiver of Hearing.  An affected Physician’s failure to request a hearing to which he 

or she is entitled, within 30 days, shall be deemed a waiver of the right to such a hearing 

and to any appellate review. When a hearing right is waived, the Medical Executive 

Committee’s adverse recommendation to the Board will be considered final, and the 

Board will take final action on the recommendation. 

 

C. Notices.  Each notice given in connection with this process shall be in writing and shall 

be deemed received on the date personally delivered, or three (3) days after it is sent 

by U.S. mail. Each such notice (or a copy) shall be given to each of the parties. The 

Chief Executive Officer shall cooperate and assist in giving all notices on the Board’s 

behalf, and the Medical Staff Secretary/Treasurer or designee shall send notices on 

behalf of the hearing panel or the Medical Executive Committee. 

 

D. Notice of Recommendation.  When a summary suspension lasts more than fourteen 

(14) calendar days or when a recommendation is made which according to these 

Bylaws entitles an affected Physician to request a hearing prior to a final decision of 

the Board, the Chief Executive Officer shall give the affected Physician written notice, 

either in person or by e-mail stating:  

1. A statement of the recommendation made and the general reasons for it 

(Statement of Reasons);  

74/196



57 

 

2. Notice that the individual shall have thirty (30) days following receipt of the 

notice to request a hearing on the recommendation;  

3. Notice that the recommendation, if finally adopted by the Board, may result in 

a report to the state licensing authority (or other applicable state agencies) and 

the National Practitioner Data Bank; and  

4. A copy of the hearing procedures and rights set out in these Bylaws.  

 

E. Request for Hearing.  The affected Physician will have thirty (30) days after receipt of 

the notice to request a hearing. The request shall be made in writing to the Chief 

Executive Officer or designee. If the affected Physician does not request a hearing 

within the time and in the manner required by this Section, he or she shall be deemed 

to have waived the right to such hearing and to have accepted the recommendation 

made. 

 

F. Notice of Hearing and Statement of Reasons.  If requested, the Chief Executive Officer 

shall schedule the hearing and shall give written notice to the affected Physician, 

including the following: 

1. The time, date, and location of the hearing.  The hearing shall be held as soon 

as practicable, but no sooner than 30 days and no later than 45 days, after the 

notice of the hearing unless an alternate hearing date has been specifically 

agreed to in writing by the parties. 

2. A proposed list of witnesses (as known at that time, but which may be modified 

up to 7 days before the hearing) who will give testimony or evidence in support 

of the Medical Executive Committee’s recommendation (or the Board’s) at the 

hearing, along with a summary of the proposed witnesses’ expected testimony. 

The witness list of either party may, in the discretion of the hearing officer, be 

supplemented or amended at any time during the course of the hearing, if notice 

of the change is given to the other party.  

3. The hearing officer may limit the number of witnesses.  

4. The names of the hearing panel members and hearing officer, if known. 

5. A statement of the specific reasons for the recommendation, as well as the list 

of patient records and/or information supporting the recommendation. This 

statement, and the list of supporting patient record numbers and other 

information, may be amended or added to at any time, even during the hearing, 

provided that the additional material is relevant to the continued appointment 

or clinical privileges of the individual requesting the hearing, and that the 

individual and the individual’s counsel have sufficient time to study this 

additional information and rebut it.  

 

G. Hearing Panel. When a hearing is requested, a panel of three (3) individuals shall be 

appointed by the Chief of Staff, and approved by the Governing Board. The panel 

members shall not be in direct economic competition with the Applicant or Appointee 

involved.  

  

H. Hearing Officer 

1. The Chief Executive Officer, in consultation with the Chief of Staff, shall 

appoint an attorney at law (which shall not be regular legal counsel to the 

75/196



58 

 

Hospital) or other individuals with relevant experience as hearing officer. The 

hearing officer will not act as a prosecutor or an advocate for either side at the 

hearing. The hearing officer may participate in the hearing panel’s private 

deliberations as a legal advisor to it, but is not a member of the hearing panel 

and shall not vote on its recommendation. 

2. The hearing officer shall: 

a. Ensure that the affected Physician and Medical Executive Committee 

have a reasonable opportunity to be heard and to present oral and 

documentary evidence, subject to reasonable limits on the number of 

witnesses and duration of direct and cross-examination, applicable to 

both sides; 

b. Prohibit conduct or presentation of evidence that is cumulative, 

excessive, irrelevant, or abusive, or that causes undue delay; 

c. Maintain decorum throughout the hearing; 

d. Determine the order of procedure throughout the hearing; 

e. Have the authority and discretion, in accordance with this process, to 

make rulings on all procedural questions and the admissibility of 

evidence; and 

f. Ensure that all information reasonably relevant to the affected 

Physician’s appointment or clinical privileges is considered by the 

hearing panel in formulating its recommendations. 

 

I. Relevant Evidence at Hearing. 

1. The hearing officer shall allow the parties to present witnesses to testify to 

relevant evidence only. “Relevant evidence” means evidence having any 

tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be 

without the evidence. The hearing officer shall have complete discretion to  

determine what evidence is relevant. In general, the Medical Staff records of 

other Medical Staff members or Physicians will not be considered relevant or 

admissible. 

2. In accordance with the Wyoming Administrative Procedure Act, the parties 

shall have the right to conduct discovery into relevant evidence, to the extent 

described herein.  In general, the affected Physician requesting the hearing 

shall be entitled to the following at his or her expense, subject to a stipulation 

signed by both parties, the affected Physician’s counsel and any experts that 

such documents shall be maintained as confidential consistent with all 

applicable state and federal peer review and privacy statutes and shall not be 

disclosed or used for any purpose outside of the hearing:  

a. Copies of, or reasonable access to, all patient medical records referred 

to in the Statement of Reasons;  

b. Reports of experts relied upon by the Medical Executive Committee;  

c. Copies of redacted relevant committee minutes; and 

d. Copies of any other documents relied upon by the Medical Executive 

Committee or the Board, except documents covered by the attorney-

client privilege or other applicable privileges. 

76/196



59 

 

 

J. No initial disclosures.  The hearing officer shall order that the parties are not required 

to make further initial disclosures, as set out in Wyo. R. Civ. P. 26(a)(1).  The hearing 

officer shall hold a discovery conference with the parties as soon as practicable after 

the hearing date is set.  At the conference, the hearing officer shall enter an order 

limiting the parties’ use of the discovery methods described in Wyo. R. Civ. P. 26 and 

28 through 37 as follows: 

1. Each party shall be limited to three (3) depositions, of one (1) hour each if oral 

and ten (10) questions if written, whether by subpoena or notice of deposition; 

2. Each party shall be limited to ten (10) interrogatories, including all discrete 

subparts, which shall be answered within five business days of being served; 

3. Each party shall be limited to five (5) requests for production, including all 

discrete subparts, which shall be answered within ten (10) days of being 

served; 

4. Each party shall be limited to five (5) requests for admission, which shall be 

answered within five (5) business days of being served; 

5. The hearing officer’s order limiting discovery in this manner shall be based on 

the understanding that the burden or expense of discovery in excess of these 

limits outweighs its likely benefit, taking into account the needs of the nature 

of the hearing and appeals process, the rights at stake and the requirements of 

due process, the parties’ resources, and the importance of the issues at stake in 

the hearing and appeals process, and the importance of discovery in resolving 

the issues.  The hearing officer shall rule on any dispute regarding  

 discoverability and may impose any safeguards, including denial or limitation 

of discovery to protect the peer review process and ensure a reasonable and 

fair hearing.  

6. The hearing officer shall set a date before the hearing for each party to provide 

the other party with all proposed exhibits. All objections to documents or 

witnesses to the extent then reasonably known shall be submitted in writing 

before the hearing. The hearing officer shall not entertain subsequent 

objections except for good cause.  

Section 5. Conduct of Hearing.   

  

A. Order of presentation.  The Board or the Medical Executive Committee, depending on 

whose recommendation prompted the hearing initially, shall first present evidence in 

support of its recommendation. Thereafter, the affected Physician shall present 

evidence.  At the hearing, both sides shall have the following rights, subject to 

reasonable limits determined by the hearing officer:  

1. To call and examine witnesses to the extent available;  

2. To introduce exhibits;  

3. To cross-examine any witness on any relevant matter and to rebut any 

evidence;  

4. To be represented by legal counsel or another person of the Physician’s choice, 

who may be present at the hearing. The attorney’s role will be determined at 

the pre-hearing conference and will be either to advise the Physician and 

77/196



60 

 

participate in resolving procedural matters or to argue the case for the 

Physician.  Both sides shall notify the other of the name of his or her counsel 

at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the date of the hearing; and  

5. To submit a written statement at the close of the hearing.  

 

B. The Requirement to Testify if Called.  Affected Physicians who do not testify in his 

or her own behalf may be called and examined as if under cross-examination.  The 

hearing panel may question the witnesses, call additional witnesses, or request 

additional documentary evidence.  

 

C. The Burden of Proof.  The Medical Executive Committee or Board of Trustees shall 

present evidence to support the Statement of Reasons.  The hearing panel shall 

recommend in favor of the Medical Executive Committee (or the Board) unless it finds 

that the affected Physician has proved, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the 

Medical Executive Committee’s or Board’s recommendation was arbitrary, 

capricious, or unfounded or unsupported by substantial evidence. It is the affected 

Physician’s burden to demonstrate that he or she satisfies, on a continuing basis, all 

criteria for the initial appointment, reappointment, and clinical privileges; and that he 

or she fully complies with all Medical Staff and Hospital Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations and policies. 

 

D. Hearing Panel Recommendation.  Within twenty (20) calendar days after the final 

adjournment of the hearing, the hearing panel will deliberate in confidence (except for 

the hearing officer) and shall render a recommendation, accompanied by a report, 

signed by all the panel members, which shall contain a concise statement of the reasons 

for the recommendation. The hearing panel shall deliver its report and 

recommendation to the Chief Executive Officer who shall forward it, along with all 

supporting documentation, to the Board for further action. The Chief Executive 

Officer shall also send a copy of the report and recommendation to the affected 

Physician, and to the Medical Executive Committee for information and comment. 

 

Section 6. Appeals to the Board. 

 

A. Time for Appeal.  Either the affected Physician or the Medical Executive Committee 

may appeal the recommendation within 10 calendar days after notice of the hearing 

panel’s recommendation. The request for appellate review shall be delivered to the 

Chief Executive Officer, shall be in writing and include a brief statement of the reasons 

for the appeal and the specific facts or circumstances that justify a further review. If 

appellate review is not requested within 10 days, both parties shall be deemed to have 

accepted the recommendation, and the hearing panel’s report and recommendation 

shall be forwarded to the Board for final action. 

 

B. Grounds for Appeal.  The grounds for the appeal shall be limited to the following: 

1. There was substantial failure to comply with these Bylaws so as to deny a fair 

hearing; 

78/196



61 

 

2. The hearing panel recommendation was arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to 

law; or 

3. The hearing panel recommendation was not supported by substantial evidence 

based upon the hearing record. 

 

C. Time, Place, and Notice.  Whenever an appeal is requested as set forth above, the 

Board President shall schedule and arrange for an appellate review as soon as 

arrangements can be reasonably made, taking into account the schedules of all 

individuals involved. The affected Physician shall be given notice of the time, place, 

and date of the appellate review. The Board President may extend the time for 

appellate review for good cause. 

 

D. Nature of Appellate Review.  The Board President shall appoint a review panel 

composed of at least three (3) Board members to consider the information upon which 

the hearing panel’s recommendation was made. Review panel members may not be 

direct competitors of the Physician and should not have participated in any formal 

investigation leading to the recommendation under consideration.  The review panel 

may, but is not required to, accept additional oral or written evidence subject to the 

same cross-examination and admissibility provisions adopted at the hearing panel 

proceedings. Such additional evidence shall be accepted only if the party seeking to 

admit it can demonstrate that it is new, relevant evidence and that any opportunity to 

admit it at the hearing was denied.  Each party shall have the right to present a written 

statement in support of its position on appeal. At its sole discretion, the review panel 

may allow each party or its representative to appear personally and make a 30-minute 

oral argument. The review panel shall recommend final action to the Board.  The 

Board may affirm, modify, reverse the recommendation of the review panel, at its 

discretion, refer the matter for further review and recommendation, or make its own 

decision based upon the Board’s ultimate legal responsibility to grant appointment and 

clinical privileges. 

 

E. Final Board Decision.  Not more than sixty (60) days after receiving the review panel’s 

recommendation, the Board shall render a final decision in writing, including specific 

reasons for its action, and shall deliver copies to the Physician and to the Chair of the 

Credentials Committee and Medical Executive Committee. The Board’s final decision 

following the appeal shall be effective immediately.  If the Board ultimately decides 

to deny Medical Staff appointment or reappointment or clinical privileges to an 

applicant, or to revoke or terminate the Medical Staff appointment and clinical 

privileges of a current appointee, that individual may not apply within five (5) years 

for Medical Staff appointment and clinical privileges at the Hospital unless the Board 

of Trustees provides otherwise. 

 

F. Right to One Appeal Only.  No affected Physician shall be entitled to more than one 

hearing or appellate review on any single matter that may be the subject of an appeal.  

 

79/196



62 

 

Section 7. Non-Physician Provider Grievance Process. 

 

A. When a Non-Physician Provider’s clinical competence or professional conduct is 

called in to question and results in an adverse recommendation, the NPP may challenge 

the corrective action by filing a written grievance, within fifteen (15) days of the 

adverse recommendation or action, with MEC or the Chair of the Department to which 

the Non-Physician Provider has been assigned.  Within thirty (30) days of receipt of 

the grievance, MEC shall initiate an investigation and afford the Practitioner an 

opportunity for an interview.  MEC may, but need not, appoint a committee to conduct 

the interview. The interview shall not constitute a "hearing" as described in these 

Bylaws, and shall not be conducted according to the procedural rules applicable with 

respect to such hearings.  Before the interview, the Practitioner shall be informed of 

the general nature of the circumstances giving rise to the action.  The affected 

Practitioner may present relevant information at the interview.   If the recommendation 

of MEC is to terminate the individual’s practice prerogatives, the adverse 

recommendation shall be forwarded to the Governing Board for final action without 

the right to a hearing or appeal. 

 

B. Neither the issuance of a warning, a letter of admonition or a letter of reprimand nor 

the denial, termination or reduction of privileges nor any other action shall give rise to 

any right to a hearing or appellate review for Non-Physician Providers. 

 

 

 OFFICERS 

 

Section 1. Officers of the Medical Staff. 

The Officers of the Medical Staff shall be: 

 

A. Chief of Staff  

 

B. Vice Chief of Staff 

 

C. Secretary/Treasurer 

 

Section 2. Qualifications of Officers. 

Officers must be members of the Active Medical Staff at the time of election and must remain 

members in good standing of the Active Medical Staff during the term of office.  Failure to maintain 

such status shall immediately create a vacancy in the office involved. 

 

 

Section 3. Election of Officers. 

 

A. At the November Medical Staff Meeting, nominations shall be made for the office of 

Chief of Staff by all Active Medical Staff members present at the meeting. 

80/196



63 

 

 

B. The three nominees receiving the highest number of ballots shall be considered 

candidates for the position of Chief of Staff. 

 

C. The Chief of Staff shall be elected by secret ballot from the aforementioned candidates 

by a majority vote of the Active Medical Staff members present.  If no majority is 

reached on the first ballot, members present shall vote on the two (2) nominees who 

received the highest number of votes.  The nominee receiving the majority of votes 

cast shall be the Chief of Staff for the next year. 

 

D. Following the election of Chief of Staff, nominations from the floor for the office of 

Vice Chief of Staff and Secretary will be taken and elected by a majority of votes cast 

by secret ballot of the Active Medical Staff members present.  Medical Staff Services 

will send out an email asking if the member is willing to serve as Chief of Staff, if the 

individual elected is not present. 

 

 

Section 4. Term of Office. 

All officers shall serve a one (1) year term or until a successor is elected.  Each term of office shall 

begin on January 1st following the election and expire on December 31 of that year. 

 

 

Section 5. Recall and Removal. 

 

A. Officers must remain members of the Active Medical Staff in good standing at all 

times during their term of office.  Resignation from the Medical Staff, failure to 

maintain Active status, loss of license, or loss of privileges shall immediately create a 

vacancy in the office involved. 

 

B. Removal of an officer during his/her term of office may be initiated by a two-thirds 

(2/3) majority vote of the Medical Staff present at any regular or special general 

medical staff meeting at which a quorum is present, but no such removal shall be 

effective unless and until it has been ratified by the Governing Board.  Cause for such 

removal may be for reasons unrelated to professional capabilities or the exercise of 

clinical privileges and may include failing to perform the duties of the position or 

exhibiting conduct detrimental to the interests of the Hospital.  Without further action 

pursuant to these Bylaws, removal from office does not affect the Medical Staff 

appointment or clinical privileges of the Physician or Licensed Independent 

Practitioner so removed. 

 

 

Section 6. Vacancies of Office. 

If there is a vacancy in the office of the Chief of Staff, the Vice Chief of Staff shall serve throughout 

the remaining term.  If there is a vacancy in the office of the Vice Chief of Staff, the 

Secretary/Treasurer shall serve throughout the remaining term.  If there is a vacancy in the office of 

the Secretary/Treasurer, at the discretion of the Chief of Staff, a special election will be held at a 

81/196



64 

 

special meeting of the Medical Staff called and held in accordance with these Bylaws.  At such special 

meeting, nominations for Secretary/Treasurer shall be taken from the floor, and the officer shall be 

elected by a majority of votes cast by secret ballot of the active members present. 

 

 

Section 7. Duties of Officers. 

 

A. Chief of Staff:  The Chief of Staff shall serve as the Chief Administrative Officer of 

the Medical Staff to: 

1. Act in coordination and cooperation with the Chief Executive Officer on all 

matters of mutual concern within the Hospital; 

2. Call, preside at and be responsible for the agenda of all general meetings of the 

Medical Staff; 

3. Serve as Chair of the Medical Executive Committee; 

4. Serve as an ex-officio member of all other Medical Staff committees without 

vote; 

5. Be responsible for the enforcement of Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules, and 

Regulations and policies, or implementation of sanctions where these are 

indicated, and for the Medical Staff's compliance with the procedural 

safeguards in all instances where corrective action has been requested against 

a practitioner; 

6. Appoint committee members to all standing, special and multi-disciplinary 

Medical Staff committees; 

7. Present the views, policies, needs, and grievances of the Medical Staff to the 

Board of Trustees and to the Chief Executive Officer; 

8. Receive and interpret the policies of the Board of Trustees to the Medical Staff 

and report to the Board of Trustees on the performance and maintenance of 

quality with respect to the Medical Staff's delegated responsibility to provide 

quality medical care; 

9. Be responsible for the educational activities of the Medical Staff; 

10. Be spokesman for the Medical Staff in its external professional and public 

relations. 

 

B. Vice Chief of Staff:  In the absence of the Chief of Staff, he or she shall assume all the 

duties and have the authority of Chief of Staff.  He or she shall be a member of the 

Medical Executive Committee.  He or she shall automatically succeed the Chief of 

Staff when the latter fails to serve for any reason.  

 

C. Secretary/Treasurer: The Secretary/Treasurer or designee shall keep accurate and 

complete minutes in the Medical Staff Office of all Medical Staff meetings, call 

Medical Staff meetings on the order of the Chief of Staff, attend to all correspondence, 

be a signatory on the Medical Staff bank account, and perform such other duties as 

ordinarily pertain to his or her office.  A copy of the minutes of each general Medical 

Staff meeting shall be furnished to the Chief Executive Officer for his or her 

information and files. 

 

82/196



65 

 

 CLINICAL DEPARTMENTS 

 

Section 1. Organization of Clinical Departments. 

Each Department shall be organized as a separate part of the Medical Staff and shall have a Chair 

who shall be responsible for the overall supervision of the clinical work within the Department.  The 

Medical Staff shall be organized into the following Departments: 

 

A. Surgery Department.  The Surgery Department shall include practitioners of 

anesthesia, cardiovascular surgery, emergency medicine, general surgery, gynecology, 

maternal/fetal medicine, obstetrics, neurosurgery, ophthalmology, oral surgery, 

orthopedics, otolaryngology, pathology, plastic surgery, podiatry, thoracic surgery, 

vascular surgery, urology, and other surgical subspecialties. 

 

B. Medicine Department.  The Medicine Department shall include behavioral health, 

cardiology, dermatology, family medicine, genetics, gastroenterology, 

hematology/oncology, hospitalists, internal medicine, nephrology, neurology, 

occupational medicine, pediatrics, psychiatry, radiation oncology, radiology, and other 

medical subspecialties.  

 

 

Section 2. Qualifications, Selection and Tenure of Department Chair. 

 

A. Each Chair shall be a member of the Active Medical Staff and shall be qualified by 

training, experience, and the demonstrated ability for the position. The Chair of each 

department shall be board certified. 

 

B. Each Chair shall be elected by a majority vote of the Active Medical Staff members 

of the Department, prior to the commencement of the calendar year and shall serve a 

twelve (12) month term. 

 

C. Removal of Chair during his or her term of office may be initiated by the duly elected 

Chief of Staff, but no such removal shall be effective unless and until it has been 

approved by a majority of the members of the Medical Executive Committee. 

 

 

Section 3. Functions. 

Each Chair in coordination with the Hospital Administration shall: 

 

A. Be accountable for all professional, administrative and clinically related activities 

within the service; 

 

B. Give guidance on the overall medical policies of the Hospital and make specific 

recommendations and suggestions regarding his or her own Department, in order to 

assure the quality of patient care; 

 

83/196



66 

 

C. Maintain continuing surveillance of the professional performance of all Practitioners 

with clinical privileges in the Department and conduct peer review activities and report 

regularly thereon to the Medical Executive Committee; 

 

D. Be responsible within the Department for the implementation of actions taken by the 

Medical Executive committee; 

 

E. Formulate and transmit to the Medical Executive Committee the Department's 

recommendations concerning the Medical Staff classification, reappointment, and 

delineation of clinical privileges for all Practitioners in the Department, including 

Non-Physician Providers; 

 

F. Participate in every phase of administration of the Department through cooperation 

with Nursing Service and Hospital Administration in matters affecting patient care, 

including personnel, supplies, special regulations, standing orders, and techniques; 

 

G. Assess and recommend to the relevant Hospital authority off-site sources for needed 

patient care, treatment, and services not provided by the Department or the Hospital; 

 

H. Oversee the coordination and integration of interdepartmental and intradepartmental 

services, and integration of the Department into the primary functions of the Hospital; 

 

I. Oversee the continuous assessment and improvement of the quality of care, treatment, 

and services and the maintenance of quality control programs, as appropriate; 

 

J. Oversee the orientation and continuing education of all persons in the Department, and 

determination of the qualifications and competence of Department personnel who are 

not licensed independent practitioners but who provide patient care, treatment, and 

services; 

 

K. Assist in preparing recommendations for space and other resources needed and 

budgetary planning pertaining to the Department as may be required by the Medical 

Executive Committee, the Chief Executive Officer, or the Board of Trustees; 

 

L. Assist with the preparation and maintenance of a continuous roster of "on-call" 

members of the Department as necessary to maintain coverage of the inpatient, 

outpatient, and emergency room areas for educational and service needs of the 

Hospital; 

M. Oversee the development and implementation of policies and procedures that guide 

and support the provision of care, treatment, and services; 

N. Make recommendations for a sufficient number of qualified and competent persons to 

provide care, treatment, and services.  

 

 

84/196



67 

 

Section 4. Responsibilities of Clinical Departments. 

 

A. Criteria for Clinical Privileges.  Each Department shall assist in establishing its own 

criteria, consistent with the policies of the Medical Staff and the Board of Trustees and 

Credentials Committee for granting clinical privileges relevant to the Department. 

 

B. Medical Care Evaluation.  Each Department shall establish a mechanism for 

conducting a retrospective review of completed records of discharged patients and 

other pertinent Departmental sources of medical information relating to patient care 

for the purpose of selecting cases for presentation at a monthly or quarterly meeting 

that will contribute to the continuing education of each Department member and to the 

process of developing criteria to assure optimal patient care.  Such review and 

evaluation shall include but not be limited to surgical case review, including tissue and 

non-tissue cases. 

1. The Medical Staff is responsible for monitoring and evaluating the quality and 

appropriateness of the care and treatment of patients served.  A quality 

indicator report will be reviewed at each Department meeting. Clinical case 

review may also be presented at Departmental meetings to contribute to the 

continuing education of each Department member and to assure optimal patient 

care.  

2. Medical Staff quality review will be ongoing to provide an evaluation of 

performance to ensure the effective and efficient assessments of the work of 

the Department member.  Peer review is an important component of quality 

improvement.  All quality improvement activities are protected under 

Wyoming law and the federal Health Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986.  

Refer to the Medical Staff Peer Review Policy for further definition of this 

process. 

3. Meetings.  Each Department shall use its best efforts to meet quarterly, but no 

less than three (3) times per year.  Topics discussed at Department meetings 

may include reviewing and analyzing, on a peer-group basis, the clinical work 

of the Department.   

4. Reports to the Medical Executive Committee.  Reports shall be submitted 

monthly at the meetings of the Medical Executive Committee. 

 

 

Section 5. Assignment to Departments. 

The Chief of Staff shall make Departmental assignments for all Medical Staff members with clinical 

privileges. 

 

 COMMITTEES 

Section 1. Composition.   

Medical Staff committees established to perform one or more of the staff functions required by these 

Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and Policies shall consist of Appointees to the Active and Associate 

Physician Staff categories and may include, where appropriate, Non-Physician Providers and 

85/196



68 

 

representatives from Hospital management, nursing, medical records, pharmacy, or social services, 

and such other departments as are appropriate to the function(s) to be discharged. Service of Medical 

Staff Members on committees is encouraged and expected. 

 

Section 2. Appointment and Term. 

Except as otherwise provided, the Chief of Staff, in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer, 

shall appoint members of each committee yearly.  The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief of Staff 

or their respective designee(s) shall be members, ex-officio, without a vote, of all committees.  There 

is no limit to the number of one-year terms committee members may serve.   

 

Section 3. Chairs. 

All committee Chairs, unless otherwise provided for in these Bylaws, will be appointed by the Chief 

of Staff.  Initial appointments of the committee Chair, unless otherwise provided for in these Bylaws, 

shall be for a period of one (1) year, after which a Chair may be reappointed for unlimited one (1) 

year terms. 

 

Section 4. Removals and Vacancies.   

All appointed members and Chair may be removed and vacancies filled at the discretion of the Chief 

of Staff unless otherwise provided for in these Bylaws. 

 

Section 5. Medical Executive Committee.   

 

A. Composition. 

  1. The Medical Executive Committee shall be composed of the officers of the 

Medical Staff, the Chair of each clinical department and the Immediate Past 

Chief of Staff, provided that he or she continues to be a member of the Active 

Medical Staff. 

  2. The Chief of Staff shall be Chair of the MEC. 

  3. The Chief Medical Officer shall be an ex officio member of the Medical 

Executive Committee, but without a vote. 

  4. The Chief Executive Officer shall be an ex officio member of the Medical 

Executive Committee, but without a vote, and may be present at all meetings 

of the Medical Executive Committee.   

  5. General legal counsel will be present at MEC meetings as an advisor. 

 

 

 B. Duties.  The duties of the Medical Executive Committee shall be: 

1. To represent and to act on behalf of the Medical Staff in all matters, without 

the requirement of subsequent approval by the staff, subject only to any limita-

tions imposed by these Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, and Policies.  This duty 

shall include the power to create Rules, Regulations, and Policies, in the 

manner described in these Bylaws, reasonably necessary for the Medical Staff 

86/196



69 

 

to perform those duties and obligations required by state and federal law.  The 

areas in which such duties may arise include, but may not be limited to 

autopsies, drugs, biologicals, and blood transfusions, medical records, 

pharmaceutical services, laboratory services, food and dietetic services, 

infection control, anesthesia, emergency services, rehabilitation services, and 

respiratory care services. 

2. To coordinate the activities and general policies of the various departments; 

3. To receive and to act upon the committee and departmental reports as specified 

in these Bylaws, and to make recommendations concerning them to the 

Medical Staff, Chief Executive Officer, and the Governing Board; 

4. To implement policies of the Hospital that affect the Medical Staff, and those 

policies of the Medical Staff not otherwise the responsibility of the 

departments; 

5. To provide liaison among the Medical Staff, the Chief Executive Officer, and 

the Governing Board; 

6. To keep the Medical Staff abreast of applicable accreditation and regulatory 

requirements affecting the Hospital; 

7. To enforce Hospital and Medical Staff rules in the best interest of patient care 

and of the Hospital with regard to all persons who hold an appointment to the 

Medical Staff; 

8. To resolve situations involving questions of the clinical competency, patient 

care and treatment, case management, or inappropriate behavior of any 

Medical Staff Appointee; 

9. To be responsible to the Governing Board for the implementation of the 

Hospital's quality assessment plan as it affects the Medical Staff; 

10. To review the Bylaws, Policies, Rules and Regulations and associated 

documents of the Medical Staff at least once a year and to recommend such 

changes as may be necessary or desirable; 

11. To act for the organized Medical Staff between meetings of the organized 

Medical Staff;  

12. To review clinical pertinence, accuracy and timely completion of medical 

records;  

13. To review the appropriateness of admissions and stays at the Hospital; 

14. To review processes related to medication use;  

15. To make recommendations to the Chief of Staff and Chief Executive Officer 

on matters of medico-administrative nature; 

16. To make recommendations on Hospital management matters to the Medical 

Staff, the Governing Board, the Chief of Staff, and the Chief Executive Officer; 

17. To fulfill the Medical Staff’s accountability to the Governing Board for the 

medical care rendered to patients in the Hospital; 

18. To make recommendations directly to the Governing Board on the organized 

medical staff’s structure. 

19. To review the recommendations of the Credentials Committee concerning all 

applications and to make written report to the Governing Board on the 

recommendations from the Credentials Committee regarding an appointment, 

assignments to services, and delineation of clinical privileges; 

87/196



70 

 

20. To review periodically all information of Medical Staff Appointees and other 

Practitioners with clinical privileges, including, but not limited to Peer Review 

Information and Credentialing Data, and, as a result of such reviews, make 

recommendations for reappointments and renewal or changes to clinical 

privileges; 

21. Requests evaluations of practitioners privileged through the medical staff 

process in instances where there is doubt about an applicant’s ability to perform 

the privileges requested.  

22. Recommends to the Governing Board, the process used to review credentials 

and delineate privileges. 

23. With input from the Radiation Safety Committee (excluding any member with 

a conflict of interest), to specify and approve the nuclear medicine director’s 

specifications for the qualifications, training, functions, and responsibilities of 

nuclear medicine staff;   

24. To take all reasonable steps to ensure professional ethical conduct and 

competent clinical performance on the part of all Appointees of the Medical 

Staff, including the initiation of and/or participation in staff corrective or 

review measures when warranted; and 

25. To report at each general Medical Staff meeting. 

 

C. Meetings.  The Medical Executive Committee shall meet at least ten (10) times per 

year, ideally monthly.  The Secretary/Treasurer, or designee, will be responsible for 

maintaining reports of all meetings, which shall include the minutes of the various 

committees and departments of the staff.  Copies of all Medical Executive Committee 

minutes and reports shall be transmitted to the Chief Executive Officer and the 

Departmental Chair routinely as prepared.  

 

D. Reports and Recommendations.  Recommendations of the Medical Executive 

Committee shall be transmitted to the Governing Board with a copy to the Chief 

Executive Officer.  The Chair of the Medical Executive Committee shall be available 

to meet with the Board or its applicable committee on all recommendations of the 

Medical Executive Committee.  Each Departmental Chair at his /her departmental 

meetings will review the minutes of all Medical Executive Committee meetings. 

 

Section 6. Credentials Committee 

 

A. Composition.  The Credentials Committee shall consist of the three (3) most recent 

Past Chiefs of Staff of the Medical Staff who are still Appointees to the Active Staff 

category.  The Chair shall be the member who has the most recent consecutive years 

of service on the committee.  If the functions of the committee are threatened by the 

inability or unwillingness of any of the Past Chiefs of Staff to serve, as determined by 

the Medical Executive Committee, the Chief of Staff shall appoint members from the 

pool of prior Medical Staff officers or prior Department chairs to the committee to 

fulfill those terms. 

 

88/196



71 

 

B. Duties.  The duties of the Credentials Committee shall be to: 

1. Review the credentials of all Applicants for Medical Staff appointments, 

reappointments, and clinical privileges; to make investigations of, and 

interview, such Applicants as may be necessary; and to submit a written report 

of its findings and recommendations; 

2. Review the credentials of all Applicants who request to practice at the Hospital 

as Non-Physician Providers; to make investigations of, and interview, such 

Applicants as may be necessary; and to submit a report of its findings and 

recommendations; 

3. Annually review and recommend amendments to the policies on appointments, 

reappointments and clinical privileges as outlined in these Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations; and 

4. Generate threshold requirements and other criteria for granting of clinical 

privileges in consultation with the appropriate Departmental Chair  

 

 

C. Meetings.  The Credentials Committee shall meet at least ten (10) times per year, 

ideally monthly, unless there is no business to be transacted, and shall maintain a 

permanent record of its proceedings and actions. 

 

D. Reports and Recommendations.  The Credentials Committee shall report its 

recommendations to the Medical Executive Committee and the Chief Executive 

Officer. The Chief of Staff will report recommendations to the Governing Board.  The 

Chair of the Credentials Committee shall be available to meet with the Governing 

Board or its applicable committee on all recommendations that the Credentials 

Committee may make.  

 

E. Recusal.  Whenever an Applicant’s or Medical Staff Appointee’s practice is in direct 

economic competition with the practice of a member of the Credentials Committee, 

such member of the Credentials Committee who is in direct economic competition 

with the Applicant or Medical Staff Appointee shall abstain from voting during 

proceedings involving the Applicant or Medical Staff Appointee.  Such abstention 

shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 

Section 7. Ethics Committee. 

 

A. Composition.  The committee shall consist of two (2) members of the Medical Staff, 

CEO, nursing representative, chaplaincy representative, In-House Legal Counsel, 

and a community representative as designated by the Chief of Staff. 

 

B. Responsibilities.  The purpose of the Ethics Committee is to provide advice, 

consultation, guidance, and education about ethical issues of care within the Hospital 

environment, not related to business or corporate compliance issues.  See policy 

concerning Ethics Committee.  

 

89/196



72 

 

Section 8. Joint Conference Committee.  

 

A. Composition.   The committee shall consist of two (2) members of the Board, one (1) 

of whom shall be the Board President; two (2) members of the medical staff, one (1) 

of whom shall be the Chair of the Medical Executive Committee, and the CEO. All 

members will have voting privileges. The chair of this committee will alternate 

annually between the Board Chair and the Medical Executive Committee Chair.  

 

B. Responsibilities.   The purpose of the Joint Conference Committee is to serve as an 

official means of liaison among the Board of Trustees (Board), the Medical Staff, 

and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), with the intent of promoting open 

communications and strengthening relationships. Its primary function shall be to  

serve as a forum for discussion of matters effecting the medical staff and medical 

care; the community’s health care needs; and plans for growth and/or changes in 

service(s).  

1. Serves as a forum for education and discussion of issues of mutual concern  

related to patient care, medical policies, staffing and resources, and the 

relationship between the Board, the CEO, and members of the medical staff.  

2. Serves as a forum for education and discussion on all matters related to the 

quality of care, patient safety, customer service, organizational culture, 

hospital economics, health care policy, and other items of mutual interest.  

3. Addresses troublesome issues before they burgeon into conflicts.  

4. Makes recommendations to the Board and the Medical Executive  

Committee, respectively.  

5. Keeps a record of its meetings and reports to the Board and the Medical 

Executive Committee, respectively.  

 

 C. Meetings.  The Joint Conference Committee shall meet as needed. 

 

Section 9. Professional Practice Evaluation Committee. 

The Medical Staff shall have a Professional Practice Evaluation Committee (PPEC), which shall 

develop and administer the Medical Staff’s professional practice evaluation (PPE) program.  The PPE 

program shall include focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE), ongoing professional practice 

evaluation (OPPE) programs, and other peer review activities.  Further details associated with the 

PPEC, and the PPE Program, shall be described in Medical Staff Rule and/or Policy, approved in 

accordance with the Bylaws. 

 

Section 10. Radiation Safety Committee. 

The Medical Staff shall have a Radiation Safety Committee, to which the Medical Staff delegates 

those duties and obligations required by Medicare’s Acute Care Hospital Conditions of 

Participation and accrediting body standards to be performed by the Medical Staff.  Such duties 

shall include but are not limited to determining the necessary qualifications of practitioners that may 

be authorized to order radiologic services, use equipment, and order procedures, which tests require 

a radiologist’s specialized knowledge to perform, and provide input to the MEC on specifying and 

90/196



73 

 

approving the nuclear medicine director’s specifications for the qualifications, training, functions 

and responsibilities of nuclear medicine staff (so long as such input excludes any member of the 

Radiation Safety Committee with a conflict of interest).  The Radiation Safety Committee’s 

composition and other duties and responsibilities shall be described in the Medical Staff Rule or 

Policy. 

 

Section 11. Utilization Management Committee. 

The Medical Staff shall have a Utilization Management Committee to assist the Hospital in meeting 

its obligations under Medicare’s Condition of Participation for Hospitals, 42 U.S.C. §482.30, as 

amended, and the Wyoming Department of Health, Acute Care Hospital licensing regulations.  The 

Committee shall be part of the Hospital’s quality management function, and function as a professional 

standards review organization of our Medical Staff.  The Committee’s work, reports, findings, 

proceedings, and data shall thus be confidential and privileged to the full extent of federal and state 

law.  The Medical Staff Rule or policy shall further describe the Committee and its composition. 

 

Section 12. Special Committees. 

Special committees may be appointed by the Chief of Staff as the need arises to carry out a 

specified task.  At such time when such special committee has concluded its assigned duty that is 

upon acceptance of its final report to the Medical Executive Committee, such committee shall be 

terminated. 

 

Section 13. Removal. 

 

A. Committee members who are Appointees must remain members of the Medical Staff 

in good standing at all times.  Resignation from the Medical Staff, failure to maintain 

such Medical Staff status, loss of license, or privileges shall immediately create a 

vacancy in the committee. 

 

B. Officers and Chair shall be subject to automatic removal from a committee upon their 

resignation or removal from office in accordance with Article XIX, Section 5, and 

Article XX, Section 2C.  All other committee members who are Appointees of the 

Medical Staff may be removed upon the determination of the Medical Executive 

Committee, with or without cause.  Cause for such removal may be for reasons 

unrelated to professional capabilities or the exercise of clinical privileges and may 

include failing to perform the duties of the position or exhibiting conduct detrimental 

to the interests of the Hospital.  Without further action pursuant to these Bylaws, 

removal from office does not affect the Medical Staff appointment or clinical 

privileges of an Appointee, so removed. 

 

 

 

91/196



74 

 

  MEDICAL STAFF MEETINGS 

 

Section 1. Regular Medical Staff Meetings. 

Regular Medical Staff meetings shall be held at least quarterly.  The agenda of each meeting shall 

include reports of the review and evaluation of the work done in the various clinical Departments and 

the performance of the required Medical Staff functions.  All regular meetings shall be held at such 

time as the Chief of Staff shall designate in the call and notice of the meeting. 

 

 

Section 2. Special Meetings of the Medical Staff. 

 

A. The Medical Executive Committee or not less than one-third (1/3rd) of the members of 

the Active Medical Staff may, at any time, file a written request with the Chief of Staff 

for such special meeting and its purpose.  Within seven days of the filing of such 

requests, a special meeting of the Medical Staff shall be scheduled. 

 

B. The Medical Executive Committee shall designate the time and place of any such 

special meetings. 

 

C. Written or printed notice stating the place, day, and hour of any special meeting of the 

Medical Staff, as well as its purpose, shall be delivered via e-mail to each member of 

the Active Medical Staff not less than five (5) days or more than twenty-one (21) days 

before the date of such meeting.  The attendance of a member of the Active Medical 

Staff at said special meeting shall constitute a waiver of a notice of such meeting.  No 

business shall be transacted at any special meeting except that stated in the motion 

calling for the meeting. 

 

 

Section 3. Quorum. 

The Active Medical Staff present at any regular or special meeting shall constitute a quorum for the 

purpose of amendment of this Bylaws, Rules and Regulations and for all other actions.  “Present” for 

these purposes may mean participating by means of a conference call or video conference.  Once 

established, a quorum shall be considered present for the remainder of a meeting, notwithstanding 

that members may subsequently leave the meeting. 

 

Section 4. Means of Participation. 

Any member of the medical staff or any committee, subcommittee, or department may participate in 

a meeting held pursuant to these Medical Staff Bylaws (including the Rules and Regulations, 

Policies, and those of all departments and committees) by any reasonable means enabling all 

persons participating to communicate with each other simultaneously.  The Medical Staff, 

committee or department shall accommodate all reasonably available means of participation, 

including but not limited to a conference call or videoconference.  Likewise, the Chief of Staff or 

chair of any committee (other than a committee participating in any part of any hearing or 

corrective action process) may permit members to vote by email or similar means, provided that the 

92/196



75 

 

issue on which the vote is requested is specifically framed and adequate time for information to be 

presented and discussed is provided, whether in person or by email.    A “meeting” for these  

purposes shall include all medical staff meetings, committee and sub-committee meetings, and 

department meetings, other than ones held pursuant to a hearing process or corrective action 

process. 

 

 
Section 5. Minutes. 

Minutes of each regular meeting and special meeting of the Medical Staff shall be prepared and shall 

include a record of the attendance of members and the results of the votes taken on each matter.  The 

minutes shall be promptly submitted to those who attended for approval or read for approval at the 

next meeting.  The Secretary/Treasurer of the Medical Executive Committee, or his or her designee 

(which may be the Medical Staff Office or similar staff person), shall be responsible for preparing 

such minutes and maintaining a permanent file of the minutes of each meeting in the Medical Staff 

Office. 

 

 

 COMMITTEE AND DEPARTMENT MEETINGS 

 

Section 1. Regular Meeting. 

Committees may by resolution provide the time for holding regular meetings without notice other 

than such resolution.  Departments shall hold regular meetings; departments shall use their best efforts 

to meet quarterly but shall meet no less than three (3) times per year, to review and evaluate the 

clinical work of practitioners with privileges in the Department.  At the regular Department meetings, 

emphasis must be placed on morbidity and mortality analysis with the detailed consideration of 

selected deaths, unimproved Hospital patients, infections, complications, errors in diagnosis, results 

of treatment, and analytical reports relative to patient care within the Hospital. The primary 

responsibility of the regular Department meeting is to improve the quality of patient care.  The 

secondary responsibility of the regular Department meeting is to address administrative matters.   

 

 

Section 2. Special Meetings. 

A special meeting of any committee or Department may be called by or at the request of the 

Committee Chair or by one-third (1/3rd) of the group’s then number but not less than two (2) members. 

 

 

Section 3. Quorum. 

The Active Medical Staff present at any committee or Department meeting shall constitute a quorum.  

“Present” for these purposes may mean participating by means of a conference call or video 

conference.  Once established, a quorum shall be considered present for the remainder of a meeting, 

notwithstanding that members may subsequently leave the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

93/196



76 

 

Section 4. Manner of Action. 

The Medical Staff, or a subdivision (such as a Department or Committee), may act only in one of the 

following ways to bind the Medical Staff or Subdivision. 

 

A. By a majority vote of those members, eligible to vote, present at a duly called meeting. 

 

B. Any action may be taken without a meeting if by unanimous consent.  

 

 

Section 5. Minutes. 

Minutes of each regular meeting and special meeting of a committee or Department shall be prepared 

and shall include a record of the attendance of members and the results of the votes taken on each 

matter.  The minutes shall be promptly submitted to those who attended for approval or read for 

approval at the next meeting.  Each committee and Department shall maintain a permanent file of the 

minutes of each meeting in the Medical Staff Office. 

 

 

Section 6. Attendance Requirements. 

 

A. Notification of Meeting.  Each member of the Medical Staff will receive email 

notification of all meetings of each department and/or committee of which he or she 

may be a member.  There are no specific attendance requirements for Department or 

committee or quarterly Medical Staff meetings. 

 

B. A Practitioner whose patient's clinical course is scheduled for discussion at a regular 

peer review meeting shall be so notified and shall be expected to attend such meeting.  

If such practitioner is not otherwise required to attend the regular Departmental 

meeting, the Chief of Staff shall, through the Chief Executive Officer or designee, give 

the practitioner advance written notice of the time and place of the meeting at which 

his or her attendance is expected.   

 

C. Failure by a Practitioner to attend any mandatory meeting to which he or she has been 

given notice, unless excused by the Medical Executive Committee upon showing of 

good cause, will result in the automatic suspension of all or such portion of the 

Practitioner's clinical privileges as the Medical Executive Committee may direct. Such 

suspension shall remain in effect until this matter is resolved through the appropriate 

mechanisms as contained in these Bylaws.  However, if the affected Practitioner makes 

a timely request for postponement because his or her absence will be unavoidable, the 

presentation may be postponed by the Department Chair or Medical Executive 

Committee.  Otherwise, the pertinent clinical information shall be presented and 

discussed as scheduled. 

 

Section 7. Parliamentary Procedure. 

Except where it may conflict with procedures stated within these Bylaws, all meetings of the Medical 

Staff its Departments, sections, and committees shall be governed in its procedures by Robert's Rules 

of Order as reviewed. 

94/196



77 

 

 

  IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY 

 

Section 1. For Action Taken. 

No person shall be liable in any manner to any Medical Staff member or other person granted clinical 

privileges pursuant to these Bylaws for action taken or requested under these Bylaws if: 

 

A. Such action is taken in a reasonable belief that the action was in furtherance of quality 

health care, after a reasonable effort to obtain the facts of the matter; and  

 

B. If the Physician involved is given adequate notice and afforded fair hearing procedures 

with respect to corrective action taken under these Bylaws; and  

 

C. In the reasonable belief that the action was warranted by such facts after undertaking 

such reasonable efforts and following such procedures.  

 

Section 2. For Providing Information. 

No representative of the Hospital or Medical Staff and no third party shall be liable to a Practitioner 

for damages or other relief by reason of providing information including otherwise privileged or 

confidential information to a representative of this Hospital or Medical Staff or to any other health 

care facility or organization of health professionals concerning the Practitioner who is or has been an 

applicant to or member of the Medical Staff, or who did or does exercise his or her clinical privileges 

at this Hospital provided that such representative or third party acts in good faith and without malice 

and, provided further, that such information was related to the performance of the duties and functions 

of the subject Practitioner and is reported in a factual manner. 

 

Section 3. Waiver of Claims. 

Application for, or the exercise of the rights, privileges and duties of Medical Staff membership, or 

the application for and/or exercise of clinical privileges at the Hospital shall constitute a waiver of 

any claims any Practitioner may have against any representative of the Hospital or Medical Staff in 

accordance with this Article.  

 

 

Section 4. Scope of Release and Waiver. 

 

A. The immunity, waiver, and release described in this Article shall apply to all acts, 

communications, reports, recommendations or disclosures performed or made in 

connection with this or any other health care institution's activities related to: 

1. Applications for appointment, reappointment of Medical Staff membership, 

and clinical privileges; 

2. Periodic reappraisals for reappointment of Medical Staff membership and 

clinical privileges; 

3. Corrective action, including summary suspension; 

4. Hearings and appellate reviews; 

95/196



78 

 

5. Quality of care evaluations; 

6. Utilization reviews; and 

7. Other Hospital service committee activities related to the quality of patient care 

and inter-professional conduct. 

 

B. The acts, communications, reports, recommendations, and disclosures referred to in 

this Article may relate to a Practitioner’s professional qualifications, clinical 

competency, character, mental or emotional stability, physical condition, ethics, or 

other matter that might directly or indirectly have an effect on patient care. 

 

C. The consents, authorizations, releases, rights, privileges, and immunities provided by 

this Article, for the protection of this Hospital's Medical Staff, other appropriate 

Hospital officials, personnel, and third parties in connection with applications for 

initial appointment shall be fully applicable to the activities and procedures covered 

by this Article. 

 

 

 

Section 5. Confidentiality of Information. 

 

A. General.   

1. Per WY Statute 35-17-101 through 35-17-105, all reports, findings, 

proceedings, and data relating to the evaluation or improvement of the quality 

of care rendered in the Hospital are confidential and privileged and are not 

subject to discovery or introduction into evidence in any civil action. 

2. No person in attendance at any committee meeting or other proceeding 

pursuant to the activities described in this Article shall be permitted or required 

to testify in any civil action as to any evidence or other matters produced or 

presented during the meeting or proceeding or as to any findings, 

recommendations, evaluations, opinions, or other actions taken at such a 

meeting or proceeding. 

 

B. Breach of Confidentiality.  In as much as effective peer review and consideration of 

the qualifications of Medical Staff members and applicants to perform specific 

procedures must be based on free and candid discussions, any breach of confidentiality 

of the discussions or deliberations of committees, except in conjunction with other 

Hospital, professional society, or licensing authority, is outside appropriate standards 

of conduct for the Medical Staff and will be deemed disruptive to the operations of the 

Hospital.  If it is determined that such a breach has occurred, the Medical Executive 

Committee may undertake such corrective action as it deems appropriate and as 

authorized by these Bylaws. 

 

 

 

96/196



79 

 

  CONFLICT MANAGEMENT 

 

Section 1. Management of Conflict Between the Medical Staff and the Medical Executive 

Committee. 

The Medical Staff has the following internal process, which is implemented to manage conflict 

between the Medical Staff and the Medical Executive Committee on issues including, but not limited 

to, proposals to adopt a Rule, Regulation, or policy or an amendment thereto.  Nothing in the 

foregoing is intended to prevent Medical Staff members from communicating with the Board of 

Trustees on a Rule, Regulation, or policy adopted by the Medical Staff or the Medical Executive 

Committee.  The Board of Trustees determines the method of communication.   

 

Section 2. Conflict Management Process. 

 

A. In the event that a majority of the voting members of the Medical Staff each sign a 

petition or otherwise evidence disagreement with any action taken by the Medical 

Executive Committee including, but not limited to, any proposed Bylaw or Rule or 

Regulation, or Medical Staff policy these members can require that the conflict 

management process under this Article be followed: 

  1. Initial Meeting to Resolve Conflict. 

a. The petition should clearly state the basis of the disagreement and may 

include any other information by way of additional explanation to 

Medical Staff members.  The petitioner must acknowledge that they 

have read the petition and all attachments, if any, in order for their 

signature to be considered valid. 

b. Within thirty (30) days of the Medical Executive Committee's receipt 

of the petition, a meeting between representatives of both the Medical 

Executive Committee and the petitioners shall be scheduled, at a time 

to be determined by the Chief of Staff.   

c. The parties shall act in good faith and shall take reasonable steps to 

resolve the conflict in question.   

d. If the Medical Executive Committee and the petitioners are able to 

resolve the conflict, the resolution shall be submitted to the voting 

members of Medical Staff.  If the voting members approve the 

proposed resolution, the proposal will be forwarded to the Board for its 

review and consideration. 

2. Unresolved Conflicts. 

a. Should the parties fail to reach a resolution, or if the voting members 

do not approve any proposed solution agreed by the petitioners and 

Medical Executive Committee, the petition, and all accompanying 

materials will be forwarded to the Joint Conference Committee for its 

review and consideration. 

b. The Joint Conference Committee may decide to approve or to forward 

to the full Board for further action. The decision of the Board shall be 

final and shall not serve as a basis for conflict management under the 

Board’s guidelines. 

97/196



80 

 

 

 

 HISTORY and PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS 

 

Section 1 General.   

For all patients admitted to the Hospital, patients placed in observation, or in an outpatient status for 

surgical procedures, the medical history, and physical examination shall be completed and 

documented by a Physician, in accordance with state law and Hospital policy.  

 . 

A. An admission history and physical examination (“H&P”) shall be written or dictated within 

24 hours of admission.  The report shall include all findings resulting from an assessment of 

the pertinent systems of the body essential to the admitting diagnosis.  At the conclusion of 

the H&P, the author shall state an impression or admitting diagnosis and plan for treatment 

and/or justification for the procedures.  The admitting physician or his or her designee will 

be responsible for completing the H&P.  If the physician delegates completion of the H&P 

to a nurse practitioner or physician assistant, the physician must review, date, and co-sign 

the H&P to verify its content. 

 

B. An H&P completed within 30 days prior to patient admission may be used in the Hospital’s 

medical record provided these reports were written or dictated by a member of the Medical 

Staff, and updated within 24 hours after admission but before surgery or any procedure 

requiring anesthesia services is performed.  Updates to the patient’s condition since this 

assessment, are to be written or dictated at the time of admission, provided any changes in 

the patient’s condition are documented in the patient’s medical record within 24 hours after 

admission.  This update must be attached to the patient’s medical record.  If the patient is 

admitted for surgery, the H&P, and the update, if applicable, must be done prior to surgery. 

 

C. A procedure shall be postponed when the history and physical examination, or update, are 

not written or dictated before surgery or any procedure requiring anesthesia services unless 

the situation is an emergency or the attending physician states in writing on the patient’s 

medical record that such delay would be detrimental to the patient.  Each situation in which 

a “detrimental delay” is claimed shall be considered a triggering event for focused 

professional practice evaluation (FPPE) purposes, and shall be reviewed as such by the 

Professional Practice Evaluation Committee at its next regular meeting.  

 

 BYLAWS 

 

Section 1. Adoption of Bylaws. 

 

A. These Bylaws, together with all associated Rules and Regulations, shall be adopted at 

any regular or special meeting of the Active Medical Staff, shall replace any previous 

Bylaws, Rules and Regulations and shall become effective when approved by the 

Board of Trustees of the Hospital. 

 

98/196



81 

 

B. The organized Medical Staff of the Hospital adopts and amends Medical Staff Bylaws.  

Adoption or amendment of Medical Staff Bylaws cannot be delegated.  After adoption 

or amendment by the organized Medical Staff, the proposed Bylaws are submitted to 

the Board of Trustees for action.  Bylaws become effective only upon the Board of 

Trustees approval.   

 

Section 2. Amendments to Bylaws. 

 

A. The Bylaws may not be unilaterally amended by the Medical Staff, Medical Staff 

officers, Medical Executive Committee, or the Hospital Board of Trustees, or in a 

manner that is inconsistent with the Board’s Bylaws, or other governing documents.  

 

B. Proposed amendments to these Bylaws may be submitted, in writing, by the Board of 

Trustees or by a member of the Medical Staff at any regular or special meeting of the 

Medical Staff or at a regular meeting of the Medical Executive Committee.  Regardless 

of the type of meeting in which the amendment was proposed, no approval action may 

be taken.  Such proposal shall be referred to the Bylaws Committee who shall report 

on it at the next regular meeting of the Medical Executive Committee and the Medical 

Executive Committee shall report on it at the next regular meeting of the Medical Staff 

or at a special meeting called for that purpose.  The proposed amendments shall be 

submitted to the Medical Staff within at least twenty (20) calendar days prior to the 

Medical Staff Meeting at which it is to be voted upon.  To be adopted, an amendment 

shall require a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the active and associate Physician staff 

physically present.  

 

C. The recommendations, if approved, will be forwarded to the Board of Trustees for 

review and consideration at its next regularly scheduled meeting unless a special 

meeting is called.  Amendments so made shall be effective when approved by the 

Board of Trustees. In the event that the Board does not approve any of the amendments 

recommended by the Medical Staff, the Medical Staff has the option of requesting that 

the conflict management process set forth by the Board be pursued.  

Section 3. Overriding Rule of Construction. 

The Board of Trustees and members of the Medical Staff agree that collaboration and communication 

among them are vital to the success of the Hospital and its mission.  Consequently, these Bylaws shall 

be construed in all instances consistent with the ability of a member of the Medical Staff to provide 

input and advice to the Board of Trustees in any aspect of the operation of the Hospital (subject to the 

confidentiality obligations contained herein), with the Medical Staff’s accountability to the Board for 

the quality of medical care provided to patients in this Hospital, and with the ultimate responsibility 

of the Board of Trustees for the quality of medical care provided to patients, including ultimate 

decision-making  authority (after receiving the Medical Staff’s recommendations) on Medical  Staff 

membership and clinical privileges within the Hospital. 

 

 

99/196



82 

 

  RULES, REGULATIONS, AND POLICIES 

 

Section 1. Adoption and Amendment to Rules, Regulations. 

Such Rules and Regulations shall be part of these Bylaws except that they may be amended or 

repealed by majority vote at any regular Medical Staff meeting and without previous notice or at any 

special Medical Staff meeting as outlined in these Bylaws.  Such changes shall become effective when 

approved by the Board of Trustees.  If the voting members of the Medical Staff propose to adopt a 

rule or regulation, or an amendment thereto, they first communicate the proposal to the Medical 

Executive Committee.  If the Medical Executive Committee proposes to adopt a Rule or Regulation, 

or an amendment thereto, it first communicates the proposal to the Medical Staff.  

 

Section 2. Adoption and Amendment to Policies. 

 

A. The Medical Executive Committee, representing the Medical Staff with delegated 

authority, shall adopt such policies as may be necessary to implement more 

specifically the general principles found within these Bylaws, Rules and Regulations.  

These shall relate to the proper conduct of Medical Staff organizational activities as 

well as embody the level of practice that is to be required of each Practitioner in the 

Hospital. Any policy affecting Medical Staff responsibilities may be adopted, 

amended, changed, or deleted by the action of the Medical Executive Committee, 

acting for the Medical Staff. The Medical Executive Committee, through the Chief of 

Staff, shall be included in the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County policy review 

process for all Medical Staff Policies.   

  

B. If the voting members of the Active Medical Staff propose to adopt a policy or an 

amendment thereto, they first communicate the proposal to the Medical Executive 

Committee; when the Medical Executive Committee adopts a policy or an amendment 

thereto, it communicates this to the Medical Staff. 

 

  AMENDMENTS 

 

Section 1. Direct Adoption and/or Amendments by the Medical Executive Committee. 

The Medical Executive Committee shall have the power to adopt such amendments to the Bylaws, 

Rules and Regulations, and/or Policies as are, in the Medical Executive Committee’s judgment, 

technical or legal modifications or clarifications, reorganization or renumbering, or amendments 

made necessary because of punctuation, spelling or other errors of grammar or expression.  Such 

amendments shall be effective immediately and shall be permanent if not disapproved by the Medical 

Staff or the Board within 60 days of their receipt of notice of adoption by the Medical Executive 

Committee.   

 

Section 2. Urgent Amendment of Rules and Regulations and Policies (Excludes Bylaws).  

 

A. In the event that the Hospital receives a written notice, demand or other similar 

communication from a governmental agency, accreditation body or similar entity or if 

the Hospital is put on notice that it needs to amend a Rule or Regulation in order to 

100/196



83 

 

comply with any law or regulation, the Medical Executive Committee shall be 

delegated with the authority to provisionally adopt and the Board of Trustees may 

provisionally approve an amendment to a Rule or Regulation, as may be required to 

comply with the law, regulation or accreditation standard without any prior approval 

of the Medical Staff.  In such cases, the Medical Executive Committee will 

immediately notify the entire Medical Staff.  Copies of any notice or materials 

requiring the urgent amendment, if not otherwise confidential, will be submitted along 

with the written notice.  The Medical Staff has the opportunity for retrospective review 

of and comments on the provisional amendment.  If there is no conflict between the 

Medical Staff and the Medical Executive Committee concerning an amendment that 

has been provisionally adopted by the Board of Trustees, the provisional amendment 

will remain in effect.  If there is conflict over the provisional amendment, the process 

for resolving the conflict between the Medical Staff and the Medical Executive 

Committee is implemented.  If necessary, a revised amendment will be submitted to 

the Board for its review and consideration. 

 

B. In the event that the Hospital receives a written notice, demand or other similar 

communication from a governmental agency or accreditation body, or similar entity 

or if the Hospital is put on notice that it needs to amend a policy of the Medical Staff  

in order to comply with any law, regulation or standard the Medical Executive 

Committee will meet to amend the policy in accordance with the procedures outlined 

herein.  

 

Section 3. Conflict Management Process Initiated. 

In the event that the Board does not approve any of the amendments recommended by the organized 

Medical Staff and/or Medical Executive Committee, the Medical Staff has the option of referring the 

matter to the Joint Conference Committee for resolution. 

 

 

 

 Appendix - MEDICAL STAFF CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

Section 1.  Purpose. 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County’s (MHSC) vision is to improve the health of its patients 

and the wellbeing of the community by building relationships, exceeding expectations, and 

enhancing human lives.  This vision may be achieved by setting high standards for safety and 

quality of patient care.  The MHSC Medical Staff recognizes that safety and quality of patient care 

depend on teamwork, communication, and collaboration.  The Medical Staff further recognizes that 

certain behaviors tend to undermine the culture of patient safety and quality that MHSC is 

committed to, specifically intimidating and disruptive behaviors by members of the health care team 

that could potentially contribute to medical errors, poor patient satisfaction, preventable adverse 

outcomes, and increased costs. 

 

101/196



84 

 

 

This Code of Conduct is intended to: 

 

A. Define personal and professional standards of conduct and acceptable behavior for 

all staff while engaged in business or service with MHSC; 

 

B. Prohibit intimidating and disruptive behaviors that can foster medical errors, 

contribute to poor patient care, preventable adverse outcomes, and increase costs; 

and 

 

C. Encourage and promote teamwork, communication and a collaborative work 

environment. 

 

In furtherance of this purpose, acts of retribution or consequence to any Medical Staff member or 

employee who carries out the standards of, or reports violations of, this Code of Conduct will not be 

tolerated. Making knowingly frivolous, false or malicious allegations of violations of the Code of 

Conduct, however, has the potential to undermine trust and morale in the workplace. Disciplinary 

action under the relevant MHSC policy, Bylaws, or Code of Conduct may be taken against anyone 

found to have made allegations of violations that are knowingly frivolous, false or malicious. 

 

 

Section 2.  Standards of Conduct and Professionalism. 

 

A. Appropriate Behavior. All Medical Staff are expected and required to engage in 

Appropriate Behaviors that foster collegial and collaborative relationships, support a 

health care and workplace environment that improves patient quality care, fosters a 

safety culture, and be professional, courteous and respectful to all individuals. 

Appropriate Behavior is a condition of membership, credentialing and privileging of 

the Medical Staff. Below is a list of Appropriate Behaviors, however, this list is not 

intended to be all-inclusive: 

1. Treat all persons, including patients, families, visitors, employees, trainees, 

students, volunteers, trustees, and healthcare professionals with respect, 

courtesy, caring, dignity and a sense of fairness.  

2. Communicate openly, respectfully and directly with team members, referring 

providers, patients and families in order to promote mutual trust and 

understanding and optimize health services.  

3. Encourage, support and respect the right and responsibility of all individuals 

to assert themselves to enhance patient safety and the quality of care.  

4. Resolve conflicts in a respectful, non-threatening, constructive and private 

manner. (Wait until emotions have cooled).  

5. Demonstrate sensitivity and acceptance of diverse backgrounds (e.g., gender, 

race, age, disability, nationality, sexual orientation, religion, etc.). 

6. Adhere to high ethical standards in patient care, teaching, and conducting 

research. 

7. Respect the privacy and confidentiality of all individuals.   

102/196



85 

 

8. Promptly report adverse events and potential safety hazards and encourage 

colleagues to do the same.  

9. Willingly participate in, cooperate with and contribute to briefings, 

debriefings and investigations of adverse events.  

10. Uphold the policies of MHSC and the Medical Staff.  

11. Utilize all MHSC facilities, equipment, and property responsibly and 

appropriately.  

12. Be fit for duty during work time, including on-call responsibilities.  

 

B. Disruptive Behavior. Medical Staff are expected not to engage in Disruptive 

Behavior. Disruptive Behavior is unacceptable and will not be tolerated. Disruptive 

behavior is a style of interaction with Physicians, Hospital personnel, patients, family 

members, or others that interferes with patient care, causes distress among other 

staff, and affects the overall morale and the work environment. Disruptive Behavior 

can be either verbal or physical (e.g., personally directed verbal outbursts, profanity, 

condescending attitude, refusal to participate in assigned patient care activities, 

physical threats, blaming / name calling, or throwing objects, etc.), and is 

accompanied by strong emotion. It includes actions that are detrimental to the 

quality of patient care, disruptive to departmental or facility operations, or in 

violation of established standards, policies, Bylaws, federal or state law, or local 

ordinances. Examples of Disruptive Behavior include, but are not limited to: 

1. Threatening or abusive language directed at patients, visitors, nurses, 

Physicians, Hospital personnel, leadership, or trustees (e.g., belittling, 

berating, and/or non-constructive criticism that intimidates, undermines 

confidence, or implies incompetence without justification). 

2. Verbal tirades, with or without obscene/abusive language. 

3. Use of profanity or other offensive language directed at an individual. 

4. Degrading or demeaning comments regarding patients, families, nurses, 

Physicians, Hospital personnel, the quality of care provided by the Hospital, 

or MHSC leadership or trustees. 

5. Inappropriate use of cell phones, computers, music players, or other 

electronic devices in a manner that could be detrimental to patient care. 

6. Inappropriate physical contact or actions that are threatening or intimidating 

to another individual, with or without injury (e.g., throwing equipment or 

supplies at or near others). 

7. Making or posting derogatory or abusive signs, posters, cartoons, or 

drawings. 

8. Disorderly conduct disrupting the performance of assigned functions or 

department operations.  

9. Discrimination based on any status protected by law or MHSC policy (e.g., 

race, color, national origin, sex, age, religion, disability, status as a protected 

veteran, sexual orientation, gender identity/gender expression, etc.).  

10. Harassment of any type including sexual harassment, which is defined as 

verbal and/or physical conduct of a sexual nature that is unwelcome and 

offensive to those individuals who are subjected to it or who witness it. 

103/196



86 

 

11. Mental/Physical Impairment (e.g., alcohol / drug use, mental impairment that 

prevents successful completion of job duties, etc.).  

12. Disruption of Hospital performance review functions (e.g., peer review, 

committee meetings, event reporting, privileging determinations). 

13. Intentional and overt Disruption of Hospital meetings. 

 

 

Section 3.  Violations of the Code of Conduct. 

All members of the Medical Staff are expected to adhere to this Code of Conduct, to hold others to 

the same standards, and appropriately address concerns. Disruptive, intimidating, inappropriate, or 

unacceptable behaviors shall be reported to the appropriate departmental, administrative, or human 

resources representative, pursuant to MHSC policies and Medical Staff Bylaws.  All reports of 

Disruptive Behavior will be addressed.   

 

In evaluating Disruptive Behavior, consideration will be given to whether the behavior was a 

“Disruptive Episode” or the behavior of a truly “Disruptive Practitioner”. Disruptive Episodes are 

evidenced by infrequent occurrences and behavior out of character for the Practitioner. Typically, 

the Practitioner recognizes and takes responsibility for his or her unacceptable behavior. A 

Practitioner who is found to engage in a Disruptive Episode and has not displayed Disruptive 

Behavior previously should not be treated in the same manner as a Physician who is known to have 

frequent or multiple Disruptive Episodes. Disruptive Episodes will be addressed by the President of 

the Medical Staff, who will discuss the incident with the staff member in a non-threatening manner.  

The discussion will be followed up and documented with a letter summarizing the conversation.  

MEC will be responsible for determining if formal corrective action will be pursued for a disruptive 

episode. 

 

A Disruptive Practitioner is a more serious matter and is evidenced after the inception of this 

document by frequent occurrences and behavior that is typical for the Practitioner based on repeat 

documentation of summary letters and as determined by MEC. There will be “zero tolerance” for 

Disruptive Practitioners who direct disruptive, intimidating, inappropriate, or unacceptable behavior 

at any specific individual associated with MHSC (i.e. patients, family members, Physicians, nurses, 

staff, volunteers, managers, executives, trustees or anyone else).  

 

Any report of Disruptive Behavior will be sufficient grounds for immediate action by the President 

of the Medical Staff, the Medical Executive Committee or the Chief Executive Officer, as specified 

in the Medical Staff Bylaws or other applicable policies. A progressive process of 

rehabilitation/discipline is recommended for most situations.  However, it is not required if it is 

believed that more immediate action is needed based upon the severity of a particular incident. In 

addressing concerns or reports of violation, the corrective actions outlined in MHSC policies and 

Medical Staff Bylaws will be followed. Generally, the following process is suggested but not 

required: 

 

A. The Chief of Staff will discuss the incident with the staff member in a non-

threatening manner.  The discussion will be followed up and documented with a 

letter summarizing the conversation. MEC will be responsible for determining if 

formal corrective action will be pursued for a disruptive episode. 

104/196



87 

 

 

B. Should the staff member continue to engage in Disruptive Behavior, the staff 

member would be required to meet with the Medical Executive Committee and to 

sign an agreement specifically defining the Disruptive Behavior and outlining the 

ramifications of future disruptive behavior. The discussion will be followed up and 

documented with a letter summarizing the conversation and agreement. 

 

C. Should Disruptive Behavior continue, any member of the Medical Staff, the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Hospital, or any member of the Governing Board may make 

a request for corrective action to the Medical Executive Committee to intervene with 

possible action, which may include, without limitation, further investigation, 

limitation, suspension, or termination of privileges according to the provisions of 

Article XVII of the Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Medical Staff Bylaws. 

 

 

Section 4.  Agreement. 

Every member of the MHSC Medical Staff must sign and abide by this Code of Conduct. Refusal or 

failure to comply with the Code of Conduct may result in the immediate and indefinite suspension 

of privileges at MHSC as per the Medical Staff Bylaws. 

 

 

105/196



106/196



107/196



108/196



109/196



110/196



111/196



112/196



DRAFT

Current Status: Draft PolicyStat ID: 8641492 

Approved: N/A 
Review Due: N/A 
Document Area: Administration 
Reg. Standards: 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-POLITICAL ACTIVITY 

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE 

Policy 

To provide guidelines for Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) employees as to political activity 

either for others or self. 

Every MHSC employee has the right to and is encouraged to register and vote. However, as MHSC receives 

federal and state funds there are certain limits on employees political rights.  Those limits include but are not 

limited to: 

A Hospital employee may not engage in, nor may Supervisors or Directors allow employees to engage in 

campaign activities of any sort, including solicitation of political contributions while on any of the Hospital's 

campuses. 

Employees are not permitted to use Hospital property, such as copiers, printers, fax machines, computers or 

telephones for political activities. 

An employee may not campaign or participate in political activities while wearing Hospital apparel. This 

includes wearing of political buttons or signs when at work and/or on duty, and placing signs on any of the 

Hospital campuses. However, this does not exclude an employee's right to display a bumper sticker on an 

employee's personal vehicle.  In short, all political activity is to be kept separate and apart from the job and 

away from the workplace. 

Running for public office 

MHSC employees are encouraged to engage in the political process i.e. running for local (community college 

board, county commissioners etc) state or federal office.  However, MHSC cannot appear to support/promote 

its employee over another candidate. To avoid any appearance of impropriety or unfair advantage, MHSC will 

require any employee who runs for office at any level of government or board position ( that requires an 

election process) to take PTO to campaign and/or serve in the position. Once all available PTO is used up any 

time taken from the employees job at MHSC to run a campaign or hold office will be unpaid. 

Employees may not campaign in the Hospital and may not use Hospital equipment, communications systems, 

supplies or any other materials from MHSC for campaign/election purposes.  This prohibition includes social 

media and email campaigns. These campaigns may not be conducted from MHSC computers or 

communication devices.  Any employee who runs for office must disclose that they are not endorsed by MHSC 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-POLITICAL ACTIVITY. Retrieved 01/22/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8641492/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 2

113/196

www.princexml.com
Prince - Non-commercial License
This document was created with Prince, a great way of getting web content onto paper.



DRAFT

REFERENCES 

Attachments 

No Attachments 

and that no MHSC equipment or supplies was used for their campaign. 

 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-POLITICAL ACTIVITY. Retrieved 01/22/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8641492/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 2

114/196



DRAFT

Current Status: Draft PolicyStat ID: 8994131 

Approved: N/A 
Review Due: N/A 
Document Area: Administration 
Reg. Standards: 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES- COMMUNICATION 
SYSTEMS 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS 

PURPOSE 

Personal Use of the Internet 

To inform MHSC employees of MHSC communication systems and of the expectations and responsibility of 

using Hospital communication systems. Employee violations of this policy may result in corrective action up to 

termination depending on the severity of the violation. 

POLICY 

MHSC employees should have no expectation of a right to privacy on Hospital computers, Hospital 

issued phones, Hospital voice mail systems or any other Hospital communication system. 

Computers 

The Hospital's computer network, access to Internet, e-mail and voice mail systems are business tools 

intended for employees to use in performing their job duties. Therefore, all documents and files are the 

property of MHSC. All information regarding access to Hospital's computer resources, such as user 

identifications, modem phone numbers, access codes, VPN log-in credentials and accounts, IP addresses and 

passwords are confidential Hospital information and may not be disclosed to non-Hospital personnel. 

All computer files, documents, and software created or stored on the Hospital's computer systems are subject 

to review and inspection at any time. This includes web-based email employees may access through Hospital 

systems, whether password protected or not. Employees should not assume that information accessed, 

shared, copied, emailed through a Hospital computer is confidential, including e-mail either sent or received. 

As computers in the Hospital allows access to ePHI all computers will be controlled with a unique username 

and password. Computer equipment should not be removed from the Hospital premises without written 

approval from the employee's department head. 

Hospital employees will need to access information through the internet/intranet in order to do their job. 

However, the use of the internet/intranet is only for business purposes during the time employees are 

working. Personal use of the Hospital's internet system should be done before or after work or during breaks 

or lunch period. Regardless, MHSC prohibits the display, transmittal, or downloading of material that is in 

violation of Hospital guidelines or otherwise is offensive, pornographic, obscene, profane, discriminatory, 

harassing, insulting, derogatory, or otherwise unlawful at any time. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES- COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS. Retrieved 01/21/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8994131/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 3

115/196

www.princexml.com
Prince - Non-commercial License
This document was created with Prince, a great way of getting web content onto paper.



DRAFT

Software and Copyright 

Unauthorized Use 

E-mail 

Voice Mail 

Telephones/Cell Phones/Mobile Devices 

MHSC fully supports copyright laws. Employees may not copy or use any software, images, music, or other 

intellectual property (such as books or videos) unless the employee has the legal right to do so. Employees 

must comply with all licenses regulating the use of any software and may not disseminate or copy any such 

software without authorization. Employees may not use unauthorized copies of software on personal 

computers housed in hospital facilities. 

Employees may not attempt to gain access to another employee's personal file of e-mail messages or send a 

message under someone else's name without the latter's express permission. Employees are strictly 

prohibited from using the Hospital's communication systems in ways that management deems to be 

inappropriate. If you have any question whether your behavior would constitute unauthorized use, contact your 

immediate supervisor before engaging in such conduct. 

E-mail is only to be used for business purposes during the time employee is working. While personal e-

mail is permitted, it is to be kept to a minimum. Personal e-mail should be brief and sent or received as seldom 

as possible. MHSC prohibits the display, transmittal, or downloading of material that is offensive, pornographic, 

obscene, profane, discriminatory, harassing, insulting, derogatory, or otherwise unlawful at any time. No one 

may solicit, promote, or advertise any outside organization, product, or service through the use of e-mail or 

anywhere else on hospital premises during working times. Working time does not include breaks or meal 

periods. Management may monitor e-mail from time to time. 

Employees must be aware at all times of phishing and cyber-security breaches.  Do no reply to emails or click 

links requesting user names and passwords.  Only click on links or open emails from people you know and 

that have a valid email address. 

Employees are prohibited from unauthorized use of encryption keys or the passwords of other employees to 

gain access to another employee's e-mail messages. 

The Hospital voice mail system is intended for transmitting business-related information. Although the Hospital 

does not monitor voice messages as a routine matter, the Hospital reserves the right to access and disclose all 

messages sent over the voice mail system for any purpose. Employees must use judgment and discretion in 

their personal use of voice mail and must keep such use to a minimum. 

Employee work hours are valuable and should be used for business/patient care. Excessive personal cell use 

can significantly disrupt business operations. Employees should use their break or lunch period for cell phone 

use for personal calls, texting and social media. 

Confidential information should not be discussed on a cell phone or via any mobile device. Phones and mobile 

devices with cameras should not be used in a way that violates other Hospital policies such as Confidentiality 

policies; HIPAA polices; EEO/Sexual Harassment policies and other relevant policies. Employees' use of a cell 

phone or mobile device to access Hospital communication systems is restricted/prohibited without prior 

authorization. Such access, once authorized, may subject the employee's personal device to discovery 

requests or Hospital corrective action. Employees authorized to access Hospital systems and information 

using a personal device must immediately inform the Hospital if the device is lost or stolen. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES- COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS. Retrieved 01/21/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8994131/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 3

116/196



DRAFT

Attachments 

No Attachments 

For safety reasons, employees will not use cell phones and mobile devices to make calls or text while driving 

personal vehicles or Hospital vehicles/equipment.  Employees should park whenever they need to use a cell 

phone. Generally, stopping on the shoulder of the road is not acceptable. Texting while driving is illegal and 

could subject the employee to tickets and fines from law enforcement. 

Separation from MHSC 

Upon separation of employment, all Hospital issued communication tools (cell phones, laptops, etc) must be 

returned to Hospital's IT or HR Department. Failure to return Hospital owned/issued equipment will result in 

withholding of employees final paycheck until the equipment is returned. 

This policy will replace current Computer Usage Employee Policy and Limited Use of Hospital Info Systems, 
Sanctions and HIPAA security, Computer Usage IT policies will be archived as relevant sections from those 
policies have been incorporated into this policy.  Draft policy was reviewed and approved by IT Director 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES- COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS. Retrieved 01/21/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/8994131/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 3 of 3

117/196



DRAFT

Current Status: Draft PolicyStat ID: 9116960 

Approved: N/A 
Review Due: N/A 
Document Area: Administration 
Reg. Standards: 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY (EEO) 

• Recruitment (including job postings/advertisements and employment application). 

• Employment. 

• Promotion. 

• Transfer. 

• Training. 

• Working conditions. 

• Wages and salary administration. 

• Employee benefits and application of policies. 

Purpose 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) is an equal opportunity employer. In accordance with state 

and federal anti-discrimination laws, it is the purpose of this policy to honor and effectuate these principles and 

mandates. MHSC prohibits discrimination and harassment of any type and affords equal employment 

opportunities to employees and applicants without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity or expression, pregnancy, age, national origin, disability status, genetic information, protected 

veteran status, or any other characteristic protected by law. MHSC conforms to the spirit as well as to the letter 

of all applicable laws and regulations. 

Policy 

The policy of equal employment opportunity (EEO) and anti-discrimination applies to all aspects of the 

relationship between Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County and its employees, including: 

The policies and principles of EEO also apply to the selection and treatment of independent contractors, 

personnel working on our premises who are employed by temporary agencies and any other persons or firms 

doing business for or with MHSC. 

Directors, managers and supervisors are responsible for implementing equal employment practices within 

each department. The HR department is responsible for overall compliance and will maintain personnel 

records in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. 

Reporting 

If an employee of MHSC believes that he/she or another employee is being discriminated against due to the 

employee being a member of a protected class employees have an obligation to report such concerns to the 

HR Department. 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO). Retrieved 01/21/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/9116960/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 1 of 2

118/196

www.princexml.com
Prince - Non-commercial License
This document was created with Prince, a great way of getting web content onto paper.



DRAFT

• MHSC expects employees to make timely complaints to enable the Hospital to investigate and correct 

any behavior that may be in violation of this policy. 

• Employees also have the right to file their complaint with either the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission or the Wyoming Fair Practices office. The procedure to file a claim with these agencies is 

found on the EEOC website and the Wyoming Fair Employment office website. 

• Posting all required notices regarding employee rights under EEO laws in areas highly visible to 

employees. 

• Advertising for job openings with the statement "We are an equal opportunity employer and all qualified 
applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender identity or expression, pregnancy, age, national origin, disability status, genetic 
information, protected veteran status, or any other characteristic protected by law." 

• Posting all job openings. 

• Forbidding retaliation against any individual who files a charge of discrimination, opposes a practice 

believed to be unlawful discrimination, reports harassment, or assists, testifies or participates in an EEO 

agency proceeding. 

• Requires employees to report to a member of Administration, an HR representative or legal counsel any 

apparent discrimination or harassment. The report should be made within 48 hours of the incident. 

• Promptly notifies In House counsel of all incidents or reports of discrimination or harassment and takes 

other appropriate measures to resolve the situation. 

Attachments 

No Attachments 

Procedures 

MHSC administers our EEO policy fairly and consistently by: 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO). Retrieved 01/21/2021. Official copy at

http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/9116960/. Copyright © 2021 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Page 2 of 2

119/196



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Subject: Quality Committee…Chair’s Report…January, 2021 
Date:  January 26, 2021 
 
The Dialysis Director, Ms. Halstead, reported the Dialysis Department received a very high 
rating…the Department has a 5 Star rating. She went over the various metrics that comprise the 
scoring. With current hours and staffing, the Department could accommodate 4 more patients.  
 
Kara Jackson, Quality Director, reviewed with the Committee various aspects of PIPS. A goal is 
to have all Hospital departments involved in the reporting process…in a few months this goal 
should be realized. 
 
The Committee discussed the need for more direct reporting to the Board from the medical 
staff regarding Quality matters. Currently, MHSC is not meeting the requirement. A discussion 
took place as to how best to have this occur. I believe that this reporting should be done 
directly to the entire Board…not just to the Quality Committee. Dr. Quickenden and Dr. Karn 
agreed that the suggested process should be discussed first with the MEC and then with the 
Joint Conference Committee. Staff believes a recommendation could come to the Quality 
Committee in February. 
 
Dr. Karn presented an update from the Medical Staff. Of course, COVID-19 was the focus. Dr. 
Karn reported that the county is doing a good job of distributing the vaccine. One concern is a 
shortage of syringes. Overall, things are going quite well at MHSC and at the County level with 
addressing COVID-19 issues. 
 
A discussion took place regarding medication errors…the Hospital’s highest reportable event. 
Dr. Quickenden stated that staff is working diligently to address this issue. 
 
A discussion took place regarding The Joint Commission survey. Thousands are past due 
because of COVID-19. MHSC may be eligible for a virtual survey. Continuing discussion is taking 
place regarding this matter. 
 
More details on these subjects can be found in the draft Quality Committee minutes. 
 
 

120/196



 

  Page 1 of 3 

Confidential   1/30/2021 

Quality Committee Meeting 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

January 20, 2021 

 
 

Present:  Voting Members: Kara Jackson (Quality Director), Marty Kelsey (Quality Board 

Chair), Dr. Banu Symington, Tami Love (CFO), Irene Richardson (CEO), Dr. Melinda 

Poyer (CMO), Dr. Cielette Karn, Ann Marie Clevenger (CNO), 

 

 

Non-voting Members:  Cindy Nelson, Korey Worden, Dr. Barbara Sowada (Board 

Member), Richard Mathey (Board Member,) Karali Plonsky, Taylor Jones (Board 

Member) 

 

Guests: Nicole Halstead, Valerie Boggs 

 

Absent/Excused:  Voting Members:  Leslie Taylor (Clinic Director),  

  

Non-voting Members: Kalpana Pokhrel, Noreen Hove 

 

Chair:   Mr. Marty Kelsey  

 

 

Approval of Agenda & Minutes 

Mr. Kelsey presented the Agenda for approval, Dr. Poyer motioned to approve, Mr. Mathey 

seconded. Motion was approved. Mr. Kelsey than presented the December 16, 2020 Minutes for 

approval. Mr. Mathey motioned to approve, Dr. Quickenden seconded the motion. Motion was 

approved.   

 

Mission Moment 

Dr. Quickenden shared an email with leadership regarding a call she received after the 1st 

round of COVID vaccinations for the 70+ at risk population. A community member called Dr. 

Quickenden after receiving her vaccination stating how flawlessly the process went, from 

signage and direction in the parking lot, through the hospital, receiving the vaccination and 

monitoring. She stated she tried to let everyone know how appreciative she was throughout the 

process. 

 

Old Business 

No old business was brought forth for discussion. 

 

New Business 

Ms. Halstead, Dialysis Director gave an overview of the Dialysis ESRD QIP score, giving 

explanations for the different measures they record and evaluate. See attached ESRD QIP 

Scores. Ms. Halstead stated she was very proud of her staff and the excellent work they do. Ms. 

Jackson reiterated that sentiment, noting that the CMS measures Dialysis follow are equivalent 

to the Measures the Hospital also follows. Ms. Jackson also noted our Dialysis Department has a 

5-Star rating. Mr. Kelsey questioned the capacity to serve, and whether we could 

accommodate more and what toll that would take. Ms. Halstead noted with current hours and 

staff they could expand to accommodate 4 more patrons before staff and hours would need to 

 

121/196



 

  Page 2 of 3 

Confidential   1/30/2021 

be increased. Ms. Halstead further noted the concern with COVID and its possible effects on the 

kidneys could change the future of Dialysis. 

 

Ms. Jackson reviewed the PIPS Reporting, noting that they are continuing to expand 

committees to report and phasing departments in in stages. We are a few months from having 

all departments phased in. Ms. Jackson also noted several facility wide reports have been 

added, which are reported monthly to PIPS and quarterly to Quality. Dr. Quickenden stated 

conversations with Mr. Kelsey, Mr. Mathey and Dr. Sowada have discussed creating another 

calendar that is separate for the Board of all items that need to report into the Board and the 

time frames. Dr. Sowada complimented the team on the completeness and organization of the 

team. 

 

Dr. Quickenden reported on the Medical Staff Leader Direct Consultation with the Board project 

and how it tied into Mella’s (consultant) report. Mella also provided a sample template for a 

policy. Mr. Kelsey stated he would like to see a provider that would report “regularly” to the 

Quality Board from the point of view of Quality measures and how they affect the providers.  Mr. 

Mathey noted it is a fairly straight forward requirement, that it does not appear we are meeting 

at this time. The benefit of compliance is direct quality reporting. Dr. Poyer noted Chief of Staff 

position can be an “inside facility” surgeon, or an “outside facility” clinic provider so point of 

view could be different. Dr. Poyer suggested bringing in a different provider each time for 

reports, Dr. Karn seconded that notion. Mr. Kelsey stated he would leave the particulars of 

reporting to the provider leadership. Dr. Sowada suggested accessing the Joint Conference 

committee which is a mix of Board members, Senior Leadership, Providers and supporting staff  

to determine what would be effective for a facility this size. Dr. Quickenden and Dr. Karn agreed 

this decision should be first taken to MEC, then to Joint Conference Committee. Mr. Kelsey 

requested adding this to next month’s agenda for possible feedback. Lastly, Mr. Kelsey asked if 

the PIPS Committee knew what their next direction was in regards to Mella’s recommendation 

report. Dr. Quickenden noted that all of Tier 1 is actively being worked on, with Tier 2 being the 

next steps. Dr. Quickenden listed out the prioritized next steps – emails to leaders as a heads up 

for upcoming discussions; an annual HR report and elements to include;  list of medical directors, 

their qualifications and responsibilities and lining that up with their contracts. Ms. Jackson further 

noted they are working on a presentation to better explain and define PIPS and their goals in 

data collection and analysis, with a plan to standardize the report. 

 

 

Medical Staff Update 

Dr. Karn gave the Medical Staff Update. Dr. Karn complimented the robust and varied 

specialties we have in our medical staff and have that are very involved they are in our 

processes. Currently Sweetwater County is excelling in distribution of COVID vaccination, in 

coordination with the hospital and Public Health and in conjunction with Castle Rock Medical 

Center, Dr. Stachon, Kim Lionberger, the Incident Command under Kim White, the Police and of 

course our staff – Noreen Hove, Des Padilla, and Kristy Nielson. The next step for distribution will 

be through the County Events Complex coordinated by Public Health on Tuesdays and 

Wednesdays weekly, so no vaccine is left sitting. They believe they can deliver up to 2500 doses 

per week. Currently the hospital staff vaccination is at 35%, but we continue to have staff come 

forward requesting to be vaccinated, so in response we will coordinate a campaign specifically 

for our staff. We have had one snag in vaccinating, and that is in procuring supplies of needles. 

Pharmacy is working to keep those supplies adequate. 

 

122/196



 

  Page 3 of 3 

Confidential   1/30/2021 

We have learned that the Curative test is not as sensitive of test as the state test so we will be 

going back to offering the state test in the swabbing line. This cannot be signed up on line or 

scheduled like the curative, which will again cause bottlenecking in the swabbing line and 

require more staff. We will continue to provide the best test available to us, because that is what 

our community deserves. Ms. Plonsky questioned if this would affect the test we use for staff. Dr. 

Karn noted the staff testing is using the Vault sputum test, which she suspects has a similar 

sensitivity as the Curative. We will continue to use the Vault, curative or state testing for staff. Dr. 

Symington noted in talking to other colleagues around the country are having issues with 

vaccination role out and complimented Memorial Hospital in their role out. 

 

Information Items for Review/Discussion 

Mr. Kelsey presented Informational Items for pull out and discussion. Mr. Kelsey questioned 

Risk/Safety reporting and the statement that “medication errors continue to be the highest 

reportable event”. Dr. Quickenden noted that this is a process they are looking at closely and 

are developing measures to evaluate, as well as looking at opportunities to improve. Dr. 

Quickenden noted the Safe Medication Practice Committee has been reassembled and is 

actively looking at processes to improve medication administration. Ms. Clevenger noted in 

past not all medication errors were being documented on our occurrence system, but that she 

has been working with departments to more accurately capture that information and build trust 

in reporting. 

 

Dr. Quickenden updated the committee on The Joint Commission (TJC) Survey. Dr. Quickenden 

stated we are still waiting to hear from TJC and if we are eligible for a virtual survey. CMS has 

expanded eligibility criteria, and we have been notified that we could get a chance for a 

survey about our willingness to have a virtual survey. Currently TJC has 4,000 surveys that are 

pass due for 2020 and are working on another 4,000 due in 2021. We continue to work actively 

on Joint Commission readiness and things related to that. 

 
Meeting Adjourned   The meeting adjourned at 9:22 am. 

 

Next Meeting    February 17, 2021 at 08:15 am via ZOOM. 

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

_____________________________________________      

Robin Fife, Recording Secretary 

123/196



Quality, Risk, Safety, & Accreditation Summary  
 

Quality Committee of the Board – January 2021  
 

Three Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Priorities FY 2021 

1. HCAHPS/Patient Experience 
2. High Level Disinfection  
3. Culture of Safety Survey Results and Action Plans 

 

1) Star Rating 
a. There are seven categories within the Star Rating and they are as follows: mortality, 

readmission, safety of care, efficient use of medical imaging, timeliness of care, patient 
experience and effectiveness of care. Each of these seven categories contain several data 
metrics. CMS recently approved the combination of a few of the categories. Moving 
forward we will see five total categories for the Star Rating. Data within the following 
categories continues to trend in right direction: readmissions and safety of care.  

b. Mortality rate has increased in November. All cases are currently under review and will 
continue to monitor this data.  

c. Efficient Use of Medical Imaging: OP-10 Abdomen CT with and without Contrast – 
Project Team is working on improvements, will continue to monitor.  

d. Within the Timeliness of Care category, Ed-2b: ED Median Admit Decision Time to ED 
Departure Time has seen a decrease over recent months but is starting to increase. Will 
continue to monitor.  

e. Within the Effectiveness of Care category, we continue to see fluctuations with the data 
for Core Sep1 – Early Management Bundle, Severe Sepsis/Septic Shock. Scorecards 
identifying opportunities for improvement continue to be sent to physicians and nurses 
involved in each case. Leadership of Sepsis Work Group is to be determined, and we will 
provide an update when this has been clarified. Improvement work continues for Core 
OP-23 – Head CT/MRI Results for Stroke Pts within 45 minutes of Arrival and Core OP-
2 Fibrinolytic Therapy Received within 30 minutes.  

f. Patient Experience-HCAHPS: The “Inpatient HCAHPS” is the survey data that affects 
our Star Rating and Value Based Purchasing reimbursement program. This survey 
includes OB, ICU, and Med-Surg. Please see the “Introduction to Press Ganey- 
Condensed Version” document for further information.  

2) Risk/Safety 
a. Risk - Falls for December include one that happened on 01/04/2021. Midas included this 

because the patient was in hospital since December. No other trending was noted. 
Medication errors continue to be the highest reportable events. The goal for 2021 should 
be that the Unit directors engage the investigation and implement risk mediation as 
needed for med errors. 

b. Safety – The Patient Safety Committee will be launched at the end of January. 
Development of charter, agenda, dashboard/data and scheduling recurring meetings is 
underway. The Patient Safety Plan has been approved by PIPS Committee, MEC, Quality 
Committee of the Board, and the Board of Trustees. This plan will provide guidance to 

124/196



the committee. The Culture of Safety Survey was administered in June, and results have 
been analyzed. Results were presented to Leadership, Town Halls, Quality Committee of 
the Board, MEC, and Board of Trustees. We continue to schedule meetings to share 
individual department data. Improvement work, goals, etc. will be addressed by the 
Patient Safety Committee. 

c. High Level Disinfection – Three indicators were developed to monitor high level 
disinfection. These include high level disinfection log book reviews, visual observation 
of high level disinfection process, and ensuring annual staff competencies for high level 
disinfection are complete and found within their HR file.  

3)  PI Standards 
a. Our PI Standards within the dashboard include data metrics defined by Centers for 

Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) and The Joint Commission (TJC), as well as 
priorities identified by MHSC on the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety 
(PIPS) plan.  

4) Accreditation 
a. We remain in our Joint Commission triennial survey window and a survey will occur 

soon, however this is also dependent upon the COVID 19 situation in Sweetwater 
County. We may receive either an onsite or offsite survey. CSR Committee continues to 
meet weekly in order to prepare. There are some standards that need work to come into 
compliance and this work is underway. “Joint Points” continue to be shared with the 
hospital and clinics.  

 

 

 

 

125/196



HR CHAIR REPORT TO THE BOARD FOR JANUARY 2021 

 Ed Tardoni 

The Human Resources Committee met in a Zoom format this month.   

HR DATA FOR THE MONTH 

The usual HR reports are included in the Board packet.  The turnover and rehire rates continue to be 

much better than national averages. The data for December also reflects the entire 2020 calendar year.  

As such the data serves as a quality measure of the MHSC employee relations program 

POLICY ACTIVITY 

POLITICAL ACTIVITY POLICY (resubmitted to the Board with a do pass recommendation) 

This policy was submitted previously and the Board voted to refer it back to the HR Committee for 

consideration of employees becoming candidates for office.  Provision for employees wishing to become 

,,candidates for office have been included in this resubmission. 

COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS POLICY (sent to the Board with a do pass recommendation) 

This policy is new only in the sense it combines several older policies.  Hospital Staff drafted the policy 

and the policy had been reviewed and approved by the IT Director.  It recognizes the multifaceted 

nature of today’s communication systems.  The policies it replaces will be archived.  A list of the 

replaced policies may be found at the end of the document. 

EEO POLICY (for information only no Board action required) 

Suzan Campbell maintains the list of policies coming up for review.  This is one of those.  Only minor 

grammatical changes were made to the policy.  A copy is provided for information only and no Board 

action is required. 

WORK PLACE VIOLENCE POLICY (progress update) 

This policy states that a Work Place Violence Plan will be in place.  The Policy was put on hold until such 

a plan was developed.  An internal hospital staff Ad Hoc committee was appointed to develop the plan.  

The Ad Hoc committee met on 01/07/2021.  Their comments regarding draft and outlines are due 

01/15/2021 

NEXT MEETING 

The HR Committee meets the third Monday of the month.  That would be February 15th, 2021 at 3:00 

P.M most likely by Zoom 

 

 

126/196



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Human Resources Committee Meeting – Minutes Draft 
Monday – January 18, 2021 
Zoom 
 
Trustee Members Attending by Zoom: Barbara Sowada & Ed Tardoni 
Members Present by Zoom: Amber Fisk, Irene Richardson, Suzan Campbell 
Guests by Zoom: Amy Lucy, Ruthann Wolfe, Cindy Nelson, Kari Quickenden, Tami Love, Ann Clevenger  
 
Ed called the meeting to order. The motion to approve the agenda as modified to discuss HR issues that were 
part of the quality consultant report was made by Barbara, second by Irene. Motion carried. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
I. MINUTES APPROVED: 
 

The motion to approve the December 14, 2020, meeting minutes as presented was made by Barbara, 
second by Irene. Motion carried. Ed noted Shawn did an excellent job on the minutes. 

 
II. TURNOVER REPORT: 
 

Amber reviewed the report. She said our turnover is at 13% which is incredible. The national average is 
about 23% with Covid and normally about 26%. The top positions for turnover are registered nurses and 
environmental services technicians. Amber clarified the corrective action information and said 6% of 67 were 
on a written warning. 50% of the 67 were discharged. 12% of staff who left had a final written warning. 88% in 
that category were discharged. The report reflects the rehire rate because we have a lot of that. Amber said 
she separates the clinic numbers. Clinic corrective actions show 36% of 11 had a final written warning and 
100% were discharged. Ed noted some employees leave and some correct themselves.  

 
III. OPEN POSITIONS: 
 

Amy reviewed the updated job postings. She said some of the positions have been filled after the 
report was placed in the meeting packet. We are removing the collections clerk opening until the Cerner EMR 
project is complete. A student position is new. She said most of the others are all replacements. Amber 
confirmed the PCT (Position Control Team) is still active and reviews all job openings. Barbara noted the 
Ultrasound Tech positions have been on the list for a long time. She asked if the Hospital has a program to help 
people advance. Kari said we have something in place with a staff member pursuing the education now.  

 
IV. QUALITY CONSULTANT REPORT & HR: 

 
Barbara referenced the quality consultant report. She said some recommendations jumped out at her. 

One is to consider an annual HR report to the Board and the suggested information that was listed to include. 
Barbara said she is wondering if there has been any talk of including that other information in an annual report 
to the Board. Kari said Amber and Kari discussed the information briefly after the consultant’s visit. The Quality 
Department prioritized the items in the report and Kari said she thinks the HR report is in Tier 2. It was 
discussed in the PIPS meeting the prior week and plans were made to reach out to department directors to 
handle items on the list. Barbara said that sounds good. She said it showcases the HR Department. Ed 
suggested just rolling it into the monthly report and then the information would always be available. There 

127/196



 

Minutes of the January 18, 2021 Human Resources Committee 

Page 2 

was discussion of what works best for staff. Kari said she will send the information from PIPS to Amber to 
review and discuss for the best timing and they will report back to the Committee. Ed said this is under review 
by hospital staff.  

 
V. EMPLOYEE POLICIES: 
 

a. Workplace Violence Prevention Plan/Policy – Suzan reported the group has been meeting and 
continue working on a draft. 

 
b. Communication Systems Policy – Suzan said she is always looking at employee policies to see 

if changes are needed. She gave a list last year and some were placed on the back burner. She thinks we can 
address some now. One is the communication systems policy. Ed said the content is very good. Suzan said she 
is going to draft a separate statement that goes out through Human Resources for vendors, students, and 
guests regarding confidentiality if utilizing our Internet. She said the IT Director liked the policy. Suzan said she 
feels it is ready for approval. The motion to approve forwarding the policy with a do-pass recommendation to 
the Board as discussed was made by Barbara; second by Irene. Motion carried. Ed said he wants the policy only 
in the “new business” section of the meeting packet and not in the HR Committee section of the packet. 

  
c. Political Activity Policy – Suzan reported a subcommittee met to discuss if an employee runs 

for public office.  There was discussion of reporting if running and if there is a conflict of interest. Suzan said 
we do not want to dissuade people from running for office. Irene said the group spent quite a bit of time 
working on it and we have to make sure we prioritize the Hospital. She said she thinks we have captured 
everything in this version. The motion to approve sending the policy back to the Board and include in the 
narrative the policy has been amended to meet the recommendations of the Board with a do-pass 
recommendation was made by Barbara; second by Irene. Motion carried. Ed said he wants the policy only in 
the “new business” section of the meeting packet and not in the HR Committee section of the packet.  
 

d. EEO Policy – Suzan said there are two versions in the committee meeting packet. The first is 
the current policy in place. She said there is nothing wrong with it, however she updated the information after 
review of Supreme Court updates and in looking at what other companies are doing. She doesn’t think the 
policy we have in place makes it clear. Suzan is suggesting an alternative of what we can have in place if we 
want to update the policy. Suzan asked if we can replace the policy since it is an internal policy or does it need 
to go to the Board. She asked if can move forward as an “FYI.” The information would be in the committee 
minutes and the chair report to the Board in the committee section.  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
VI. “HOW TO BUILD A BETTER HANDBOOK” ARTICLE FROM SHRM: 
 

Suzan and Amber are aware of what we should have in place. They included the article as an “FYI.” 

Suzan said all of our policies are on line and we do not have a hard copy handbook any longer. 

 

VII. GLOBAL HR UPDATE: 
 

The committee discussed the benefits of hiring a consultant to review training, policies, etc. Ed and 
Barbara said they support staff. Ed said the consultant would need to offer something significant to a very 

128/196



 

Minutes of the January 18, 2021 Human Resources Committee 

Page 3 

successful current program. Irene said she feels we have HR where it should be and just want to make sure our 
bases are covered. Barbara cautioned to look for deliverables.  
 
VIII. COMMITTEE MEMBER REPORTS: 

 
Irene said we always talked about becoming an employer of choice and that was something related to the 
Strategic Plan. Amber has been researching to see how we can apply for that designation. Amber said Modern 
Healthcare has a program and referenced the criteria. She said our application submission is due mid to late 
February and they issue the awards in late summer or early fall. She said it would be a good recruitment tool 
and help with positive PR. Amber said the criteria is on the Modern Healthcare website. Amber and Irene will 
keep the committee updated.  
 
 
IX. COMMITTEE MEMBER REPORTS: 

 
The next meeting is scheduled on Presidents’ Day – Monday, February 15th at 3:00 PM 
 
Ed complimented the group on their work with the policies and said he appreciates the hard work. 
The meeting adjourned at 4:12 PM. 

129/196



130/196



131/196



132/196



133/196



134/196



135/196



136/196



137/196



138/196



139/196



140/196



141/196



142/196



143/196



144/196



145/196



146/196



147/196



148/196



149/196



150/196



151/196



152/196



153/196



154/196



155/196



156/196



157/196



158/196



159/196



160/196



161/196



162/196



163/196



164/196



165/196



166/196



167/196



168/196



169/196



170/196



171/196



172/196



173/196



174/196



175/196



176/196



177/196



178/196



179/196



180/196



181/196



182/196



183/196



184/196



185/196



186/196



187/196



188/196



189/196



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Subject: Chair’s Report…Buildings and Grounds…January, 2021 
Date:  January 26, 2021 
 
Regarding the Central Plant expansion project, Jake said he will send out a Certificate of Substantial 
Completion and will start the 41 day advertisement period. Still work to be done; Jake indicated that the 
project should be completed in the next couple of months. 
 
Regarding the SLIB/CARES Act projects…progress is occurring as can reasonably be expected. Jake 
believes Groathouse is doing a good job. The Hospital is considering doing the S1 Unit with CARES 
funding. The plan is to break it out from the Laboratory project. 
 
Regarding the Medical Imaging project…Grouthouse is preparing pricing. 
 
Regarding the Laboratory project…as mentioned above, the S1 Unit is to be split out. The Laboratory 
project will be a CMAR project. 
 
Regarding the Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room project…staff and consultants are working in the planning 
stage. 
 
Regarding the Pharmacy Compounding Room, work is progressing nicely. It was reported that this 
project should be completed by the end of January. 
 
Regarding Dr. Sulentich’s Office work…MHSC needs to get the rental contract signed by Dr. Sulentich 
before this work can begin. 
 
Regarding the Bulk Oxygen issue, staff is working with Air Gas to address the issues that are on the table. 
There are significant issues with the concrete next to the tanks that need to be resolved.  
 
Other projects on hold waiting for spring include replacement roofing for the Power House and the 
Waldner House wall issue. 
 
The conversion of OB Bathtubs to Showers is still on hold. State approval will be needed prior to work 
being done. 
 
 

190/196



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

January 19, 2021 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on January 19, 2021, at 

3:30 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

Dr. Barbara Sowada, Trustee 

Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. Jim Horan, Facilities Director 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Facilities Supervisor 

   Mr. Jake Blevins, ST&B Engineering 

   Mr. Will Wheatley, PlanOne Architects 

 
    

Mr. Kelsey called the meeting to order. 

 

Dr. Sowada made a motion to approve the agenda.  Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the December 19, 2020 meeting. Dr. 

Sowada said she hadn’t seen the minutes.  Ms. Love said the minutes were in the Board portal.  It 

was agreed we would put off the approval until everyone had a chance to review. 

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Horan said the numbers hold consistent from the beginning.   
 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Central Plant Expansion 

 

Mr. Blevins said we have had some closure of the open items and feels comfortable to issue a 

certificate of substantial completion and will move forward with the 41-day advertisement posting 

in the Rock Miner. Functional testing of the plant is scheduled for next week. Currently, there is 

one item on the schedule of values which will need to be postponed until the summer for 

scheduling.  We should see final completion in the next month or so.  Mr. Kelsey asked what 

percentage of the total contract we are withholding at this time.  Mr. Blevins said it is about 13%, 

about $309,000.  There may be some additional task items to complete as they complete the 

functional testing. 

 

 SLIB/CARES Act Projects 

 

HVAC & UVC – Mr. Blevins and Mr. Wheatley recently met with the Hospital team to discuss 

some additional options with the 1975 S1 unit.  We will need to discuss temporary air handlers as 

the project progresses.  Everything proceeding as expected with the steel structure on the roof and 

the air handling equipment has been placed. He is really pleased with Groathouse and how the 

project is being managed and working under the conditions and infection control requirements.  

191/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 19, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

Mr. Kelsey asked about the financial end.  Ms. Love said we did get everything sent in by the 

December 15 SLIB deadline.  The final completion letters were sent yesterday so we are waiting 

to see if they need anything else at this time.  We are considering completing the S1 unit under our 

own CARES Act funds as it would be similar to the HVAC project approved through SLIB.  We 

can break it out from the Lab project and it will comply with the CARES Act requirements.  Mr. 

Blevins and Mr. Wheatley are working with the contractor to break that portion out of the total 

project. 

 

Medical Imaging  

 

Mr. Wheatley reported the drawings have been submitted to Groathouse and they are in the pricing 

process right now. It has also been submitted to the State and he has talked to Pat Davis about 

keeping it in the queue as it is attached to a current CARES Act project.  

   

Laboratory  

 

Mr. Wheatley said they will be splitting out the S1 unit form the original scope.  He has received 

the revised pricing so it will be ready to put out for a CMAR contract.  He will share with the 

Hospital team as soon as he has reviewed.  This project is still in the State queue as expected as it 

is not a COVID project so has been delayed for review.  The next step is to get a CMAR package 

and solicit responses for that project as previously approved by the Board. 

 

Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room  

 

Mr. Horan reported Mr. Blevins and Mr. Wheatley toured the physical area with Jonathan Beattie, 

the new Director of Pharmacy and Tasha Harris, the Director of the Cancer Center.  They looked 

at the issues and to see how they can take the current room out of service without adversely 

affecting workflow in the area.  They are assessing the best area to establish a new room so they 

can continue to mix chemo throughout the project.  This is in the planning stages and he is hopeful 

it will be resolved soon.  

 

Pharmacy Compounding Room  

 

Mr. Johnston said they are full steam ahead on this project as old walls and duct work have been 

taken down and new barrier walls are constructed.  They are working with Mr. Blevins on the size 

of HEPA filters needed for the new space.  This project should be complete in 3 – 4 weeks.  

 

Dr. Sulentich Office  

 

Mr. Wheatley is waiting on the written approval to proceed from the Hospital.  Ms. Richardson 

said the Board did approve the contract and she has sent it to Dr. Sulentich to sign.  She will follow 

up with him on getting the contract signed. 

 

Tabled Projects   

 

Mr. Kelsey asked if there were any items that needed to be discussed.  Mr. Horan shared 

information on the Bulk Oxygen project as there are now issues with the concrete for the offloading 

of the equipment to fill the tank.  We are in discussion with Air Gas on how to proceed.  He said 

192/196



 

 

Minutes of the January 19, 2020 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

all of the other projects are still on hold.  Mr. Kelsey said he remembered we had past discussion 

on the Air Gas contract.  Mr. Horan said the contract for replacing the tank is being put into a 

monthly lease contract with Air Gas.  We will need to move ahead and we will keep the committee 

updated. 

 

Replacement Roofing for Power House – Mr. Horan said this is still on for the spring. 

Foundation Waldner House Wall – Mr. Horan said this project will be revisited in the spring also. 

OB Bathtubs to Showers – Mr. Horan said this is still on hold. The project is to replace the birthing 

tubs to showers for infection control issues.  The State will need to be involved in this project. 

 

 

New Business 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked if there were any other topics they want to discuss. There were no new items 

brought up for discussion. 

 

The next meeting will be held February 16 at 3:30 p.m.   

 

Dr. Sowada asked if the December minutes could be shared on the screen so we can approve today.  

While Ms. Love brought up the minutes to review, Mr. Horan asked Mr. Blevins and Mr. Wheatley 

to stay on the call to discuss other matters. Mr. Kelsey asked if there was any other business they 

would like to discuss after reading the minutes.  He asked for a motion to approve the minutes.  

Dr. Sowada made the motion to approve the December 19 meeting minutes, Mr. Horan seconded; 

motion passed. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 4:05 p.m.  
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

193/196



 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Governance Committee Meeting 

January 19, 2021 

Zoom Meeting 

 

Voting Members Present: Richard Mathey and Barbara Sowada 

Non-voting Members Present: None 

Call Meeting to Order 

Richard Mathey called meeting to order at 2:00 pm. 

 

Discussion 

Agenda Board Bylaws Revision. 

Minutes Are the first draft of revisions made to Chapter 1 through Chapter 3 

New Business 

1. First draft revisions made to Chapters 1 through 3. There continue to be questions regarding a few of 

the elements. Rather than dealing with these elements, it was decided to wait until all of the first 

draft is complete before bringing in other members of the Governance Committee and other content 

experts to answer such elements.  

2. The goal is to have the revised Bylaws ready for first Board reading by April. 

3. Reviewing the Bylaws, it was noted that due to covid-19 

a. The annual CEO evaluation has not been recorded, which is a TJC requirement 

b. The annual Board self-assessment survey has not yet been completed, which is a TJC 

requirement 

i. Recommend that the Board complete this survey no later than April, 2021, and that 

The Governance Institute survey process be used. 

4. Reviewing the Bylaws, it was noted that Ms. Grainger in her review of the Hospital’s quality program 

recommended Board policies regarding a) clinical service contracts and b) medical staff leadership in 

consultation with the Board regarding the quality of medical care provided to patients. Policies will be 

drafted at a later meeting. 

 

With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 3:30 pm. 

Submitted by Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

 

194/196



195/196



196/196


	Agenda - February 3 2021 Mtg
	Our Mission and Vision
	Minutes
	Medical Staff Rules and Regulations
	E. Medical Staff Bylaws 
	Proposed Changes to Existing Bylaws
	B. Proposed Changes to New Bylaws 
	1. Political Activity 
	Communication Systems 
	Equal Employment Opportunity 
	Quality Committee...Chair&apos;s Report...January 2021 Marty Kelsey
	1.20.21 Quality Minutes
	Quality Committee of the Board Summary January
	HR chair report january 2021
	Human Resources Minutes January 18 2021 Draft
	HR Committee January Packet for February Board Packet
	Finance &amp; Audit Committee
	January Committee Meeting Information
	Buildings and Grounds Committee...Chair&apos;s Report...January 2021 Marty Kelsey
	Building and Grounds Comm Minutes January 19 2021 Draft
	Governance Committee
	1. iProtean 

